

Interdisciplinary approaches in veterinary sciences after COVID-19

Edited by Ariel L. Rivas and Stephen Smith

Published in Frontiers in Veterinary Science





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-4376-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-4376-4

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Interdisciplinary approaches in veterinary sciences after COVID-19

Topic editors

Ariel L. Rivas — University of New Mexico, United States Stephen Smith — Geospatial Research Services, United States

Citation

Rivas, A. L., Smith, S., eds. (2024). *Interdisciplinary approaches in veterinary sciences after COVID-19*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-4376-4

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

05 Editorial: Interdisciplinary approaches in veterinary sciences after COVID-19

Ariel L. Rivas and Stephen D. Smith

07 A novel multiplex qPCR assay for clinical diagnosis of non-human malaria parasites-*Plasmodium knowlesi* and *Plasmodium cynomolgi*

Ram Das, Kapil Vashisht and Kailash C. Pandey

13 Veterinarians' perspective on telemedicine in Germany Björn Becker, Andrea Tipold, Jan Ehlers and Christin Kleinsorgen

25 Evaluation of acoustic pulse technology as a non-antibiotic therapy for bovine intramammary infections: Assessing bacterial cure vs. recovery from inflammation

Shlomo Eduardo Blum, Oleg Krifuks, Limor Weisblith, Marcelo Fleker, Yaniv Lavon, Alon Zuckerman, Yochai Hefer, Omri Goldhor, Dani Gilad, Tal Schcolnic and Gabriel Leitner

33 "Sniffing" out SARS-CoV-2 in Arizona working dogs: an exploratory serosurvey

Gavriella Hecht, Nathan Sarbo, Wayne Svoboda, Heather L. Mead, Irene Ruberto, John A. Altin, David M. Engelthaler, Heather Venkat and Hayley D. Yaglom

38 Assessing complexity and dynamics in epidemics: geographical barriers and facilitators of foot-and-mouth disease dissemination

A. L. Hoogesteyn, A. L. Rivas, S. D. Smith, F. O. Fasina, J. M. Fair and M. Kosoy

48 Disentangling transport movement patterns of trucks either transporting pigs or while empty within a swine production system before and during the COVID-19 epidemic

> Catalina Picasso-Risso, Carles Vilalta, Juan Manuel Sanhueza, Mariana Kikuti, Mark Schwartz and Cesar A. Corzo

59 Contribution of cats and dogs to SARS-CoV-2 transmission in households

Egil A. J. Fischer, Els M. Broens, Hans S. Kooistra, Myrna M. T. De Rooij, Jan Arend Stegeman and Mart C. M. De Jong

69 Building subnational capacities in animal health to deliver frontline cross-sectoral health services in Kenya Rinah Sitawa, Evans Tenge, Khadija Chepkorir, Mark Nanyingi, Sam Okuthe, Caryl Lockhart, Harry Oyas, Obadiah Njagi, Mary Teresa Agutu, Jack Omolo, Tequiero Okumu, Charles Bebay and Folorunso O. Fasina 79 A study on the impact of double external shocks on Chinese wholesale pork prices

Rui Yu, Xiaoli Yang and Endong Mu

91 Geo-temporal patterns to design cost-effective interventions for zoonotic diseases -the case of brucellosis in the country of Georgia

Ariel L. Rivas, Stephen D. Smith, V. Basiladze, Tengiz Chaligava, Lile Malania, Irma Burjanadze, Tamar Chichinadze, Nikoloz Suknidze, Nana Bolashvili, Almira L. Hoogesteijn, Kendra Gilbertson, Jonathan H. Bertram, Jeanne Marie Fair, Colleen T. Webb, Paata Imnadze and Michael Kosoy Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Michael Ward, The University of Sydney, Australia

*CORRESPONDENCE Ariel L. Rivas ⊠ alrivas@unm.edu

RECEIVED 26 December 2023 ACCEPTED 08 January 2024 PUBLISHED 16 January 2024

CITATION

Rivas AL and Smith SD (2024) Editorial: Interdisciplinary approaches in veterinary sciences after COVID-19. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 11:1361813. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2024.1361813

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Rivas and Smith. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Interdisciplinary approaches in veterinary sciences after COVID-19

Ariel L. Rivas^{1*} and Stephen D. Smith²

¹Center for Global Health, Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, ²Geospatial Research Services, Ithaca, NY, United States

KEYWORDS

infectious diseases, new therapies, zoonosis, medical geography, decision-making

Editorial on the Research Topic Interdisciplinary approaches in veterinary sciences after COVID-19

At the end of December, 2023, the *Knowledge of Science*TM reported at least 657,000 publications that refer to COVID 19. It has been claimed that never in the history of science was so much published so fast on a single topic (1). Such an unprecedented development has generated numerous new challenges that can be synthesized with one question: how to summarize a vast and diverse body of published science into a publication that gives a synoptic view?

To answer that question, two different research styles should be reconciled, which involve specialized (uni-disciplinary) and inter-/transdisciplinary knowledge, respectively (2). Other problems affecting knowledge integration include: (a) reporting specialized research that is not necessarily accessible to readers unfamiliar with the specific field; (b) the fact that any selection of specialized studies is bound to be long and, therefore, difficult to be read; and (c) the local relevance of topics, which may apply to one place but not necessarily everywhere. While hundreds of systematic reviews on the COVID-19 related literature have been published (3) and many of them have been conducted within the context of veterinary medicine (4), the prompt applicability of such research, within Veterinary Medicine, remains unexplored. Given such challenges, this Research Topic Issue was designed to (i) generate a concise list of studies, (ii) follow a logic and structure that integrated two or more topics, disciplines, professions and/or technologies; and (iii) provide global perspectives.

Accordingly, ten studies are reported here, which involve authors and reviewers from more than twenty countries. These studies attempt to provide information potentially complementary and applicable. This Research Topic covers four focus areas, which refer to: zoonoses, new tests and therapies, geography and epidemiology, and socialbiological sciences.

Zoonoses

Focusing on potential reservoirs of infectious (zoonotic or epizootic) diseases, three studies conducted in the United States, the Netherlands and Georgia investigate domestic carnivores (Hecht et al.; Fischer et al.)

and ruminants (Rivas et al.) with or without human data. The overall purpose of these studies is to expand the target of veterinary practices to address not only diseased individuals and populations but interactions that may include other species.

New tests and therapies

To better detect and/or treat infectious diseases, new molecular tests or therapies (including acoustic pulse technology) are described by Indian and Israeli researchers (Das et al.; Blum et al.). The focus of these studies is to illustrate expanded or alternative approaches that may detect infectious diseases earlier or treat such diseases more effectively.

Medical geography

Geography and epidemiology are integrated in two studies that include authors from Mexico, Chile, Spain, United States and Uruguay (Hoogesteyn et al.; Picasso-Risso et al.). These studies shed light on how the properties of geographical data may influence disease dissemination.

The educational/policy-making continuum

The abundance and complexity of novel research may require new educational programs that explicitly include economic (cost/benefit-oriented) decision-making. That is conveyed from the perspective of German, Chinese, and Kenyan viewpoints (Becker et al.), economics (Yu et al.), and policy-making (Sitawa et al.).

The previous description of these studies is only partial because these works refer to many fields, theories or applications. For example, Picasso-Risso et al. use geographical data within the context of Network Theory. Addressing a topic of global relevance in policy-making (antimicrobial resistance), the possible use of therapies that do not utilize antibiotics is explored by Blum et al.. An example of an anticipatory study of wildlife species that may host potential vectors of emergent diseases (such as malaria induced by parasites previously found in non-human species) is offered by Das et al.. Integrating economics with control of zoonoses,

References

1. Apuzzo M, Kirkpatrick DD. COVID-19 Changed How the World Does Science, Together. New York: The New York Times. (2020). Available online at: https://www. nytimes.com/2020/04/01/world/europe/coronavirus-science-research-cooperation. html

2. Hittner JB, Hoogesteijn AL, Fair JM, van Regenmortel MH, Rivas AL. The third cognitive revolution: the consequences and possibilities for biomedical research. *EMBO Rep.* (2019) 20:e47647. doi: 10.15252/embr.201847647

Rivas et al. compare the cost-effectiveness of two approaches that utilize geo-referenced data. The fact that the prompt dissemination of these topics and technologies may require new educational configurations-including non-presential formats-is explored and evaluated by Becker et al..

Together, it is expected that this material may provide a guide to consider when developing new educational and research programs. The editors thank the participation of all authors and reviewers.

Author contributions

AR: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. SS: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

We appreciate the contribution of all participating authors and reviewers.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

3. McDonald S, Turner SL, Nguyen PY, Page MJ, Turner T. Are COVID-19 systematic reviews up to date and can we tell? A cross-sectional study. *Syst Rev.* (2023) 18:85. doi: 10.1186/s13643-023-02253-x

4. Guo R, Wolff C, Prada JM, Mughini-Gras L. When COVID-19 sits on people's laps: A systematic review of SARS-CoV-2 infection prevalence in household dogs and cats. *One Health.* (2023) 16:100497. doi: 10.1016/j.onehlt.2023. 100497 Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ariel L. Rivas, University of New Mexico, United States

REVIEWED BY Byoung-Kuk NA, Gyeongsang National University, Republic of Korea Dhaneswar Prusty, Central University of Rajasthan, India Yash Gupta, Mayo Clinic Florida, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Ram Das 🖾 ramdas9@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

RECEIVED 19 December 2022 ACCEPTED 06 January 2023 PUBLISHED 26 January 2023

CITATION

Das R, Vashisht K and Pandey KC (2023) A novel multiplex qPCR assay for clinical diagnosis of non-human malaria parasites-*Plasmodium knowlesi* and *Plasmodium cynomolgi*. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10:1127273. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1127273

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Das, Vashisht and Pandey. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. A novel multiplex qPCR assay for clinical diagnosis of non-human malaria parasites-*Plasmodium knowlesi* and *Plasmodium cynomolgi*

Ram Das*, Kapil Vashisht and Kailash C. Pandey

Parasite-Host Biology Group, ICMR-National Institute of Malaria Research, New Delhi, India

Introduction: The imminent risk of zoonoses of non-human malaria parasites is not far from reality in India, as has been observed in the case of Plasmodium knowlesi (Pk), and so is possible with *P. cynomolgi* (Pc), already reported from South East Asian countries. Therefore, a novel multiplex qPCR assay was developed and evaluated for detection of non-human malaria parasites- Pk and Pc in populations at risk.

Methods: The qPCR primers were designed in-house with fluorescence labeled probes (HEX for Pk and FAM for Pc). DNA samples of Pk and Pc were used as templates and further the qPCR assay was evaluated in 250 symptomatic and asymptomatic suspected human blood samples from malaria endemic areas of North Eastern states of India.

Results: The qPCR assay successfully amplified the target 18S rRNA gene segment from Pk and Pc and was highly specific for Pk and Pc parasites only, as no cross reactivity was observed with *P. falciparum* (Pf), *P. vivax* (Pv), *P. malariae* (Pm), and *P. ovale* (Po). Standard curves were generated to estimate the limit of detection (LOD) of Pk and Pc parasites DNA (0.00275 & 0.075 ng/ μ l, respectively). Due to COVID-19 pandemic situation during 2020–21, the sample accessibility was difficult, however, we managed to collect 250 samples. The samples were tested for Pf and Pv using conventional PCR- 14 Pf and 11 Pv infections were observed, but no Pk and Pc infections were detected. For Pk infections, previously reported conventional PCR was also performed, but no Pk infection was detected.

Discussion: The multiplex qPCR assay was observed to be robust, quick, costeffective and highly sensitive as compared to the currently available conventional PCR methods. Further validation of the multiplex qPCR assay in field setting is desirable, especially from the high-risk populations. We anticipate that the multiplex qPCR assay would prove to be a useful tool in mass screening and surveillance programs for detection of non-human malaria parasites toward the control and elimination of malaria from India by 2030.

KEYWORDS

Plasmodium knowlesi, Plasmodium cynomolgi, diagnostics, multiplex qPCR, non-human malaria

Introduction

In Indian context, major human malaria parasites are *P. falciparum* (Pf), *P. vivax* (Pv), *P. malariae* (Pm), *P. ovale* (Po) and *P. knowlesi* (Pk) (1–7). Moreover, non-human malaria causing *Plasmodium* species- *P. cynomolgi* (Pc) with established zoonosis in humans has become a cause for concern, at least in the South East Asian countries (8). The risk of expansion of non-human

malaria in humans is increasing gradually, majorly due to deforestation, substantial changes in the ecology, host & vector availability and adaptive changes in the parasites (9). It would not be surprising that non-human primate Plasmodium parasites- Pk and Pc might be in circulation in the Indian populations, but they are rendered elusive owing to the probable misdiagnosis by routine microscopy and lack of robust diagnostic tools to detect sparsely distributed Pk and Pc infections (10, 11). There are reports of more than 30 species of non-human primate Plasmodium spp. and seven of them including Pk, Pc and others- P. brasilianum, P. eylesi (Pe), P. inui (Pi), P. schwetzi (Ps), and P. simium had been observed as transmissible to humans (10, 12-18). The major hosts of Pk, Pc, Pi, P. fieldi and P. coatneyi are the non-human primates Macaca fascicularis (long-tailed macaques), Macaca nemestrina (the pig-tailed macaque), Trachypithecus obscuras (dusky leaf monkey or spectacled langur) and Presbytis melalophus (banded leaf monkey) (19, 20). These nonhuman primate species are prevalent in South East Asia and India as well (21).

The mosquito vectors of human and non-human primate malaria are *Anopheles minimus*, *An. dirus*, *An. sundaicus*, *An. sinensis* and *An. maculates* are commonly found in geographically specific regions of India (1, 5, 22–25). Natural infections of Pk and Pc have been previously reported in macaque monkeys and humans from Malaysia (26, 27). North-Eastern states of India are in proximity to such regions where non-human malaria parasites might be in circulation and humans frequently travel on both sides. India has all the suitable vectors and hosts for non-human *Plasmodium* species; the geographical and climatic conditions are also conducive for the proliferation of Pk and Pc (28).

Pc is phenotypically and phylogenetically similar to Pv; thereby making the identification of Pv and Pc quite difficult in blood slides during routine microscopy. Often, routine microscopy of Pk, Pc and Pm can lead to misdiagnosis by the microscopists in primary health centers of the remote areas. In these circumstances, it becomes imperative to accurately estimate and understand the burden and transmission dynamics of non-human *Plasmodium* spp.- especially Pk and Pc in India human populations.

The current study presents in-house development of a rapid, sensitive and species-specific multiplex qPCR assay targeting the 18S rRNA, for detection of Pk and Pc. Multiplexing for multiple *Plasmodium* parasites (Pk and Pc) in single tube would be efficient to save resources during any kind of mass screening programmes and would also save on precious biological samples. The qPCR assay for Pk was also compared to well-known established PCR assays to detect Pk infections in humans (29).

Materials and methods

Design of in-house multiplex qPCR assay

The gene sequences of Pk and Pc 18S rRNA gene were extracted from Reference GenBank accession numbers (Pk-LC483580.1 and Pc-KU708868.1) for design of in-house multiplex qPCR forward and reverse primers and the fluorescence labeled probes (HEX for Pk and FAM for Pc) using online tool (https://biosearchtech.com) (Table 1). The probes were BLAST searched (http://blast.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/Blast.cgi) and observed to be species-specific for Pk and Pc. The oligonucleotides and probes were commercially synthesized from GCC Biotech (I) Pvt. Ltd., India. The final reaction volume (20

Primers	Sequences $(5'-3')$
18S PkF	TGCCGACTAGGCTTTGGATG
18S PkR	GGCACTGAAGGAAGCAATCTAAG
Pk Probe	HEX-CTTTTCTCCCGGAGA-HEX-BHQ1
18S PcF	GCGGTCGCAAATAATGAAGATC
18S PcR	GGGAACAGAAGGAGCGAGAATA
Pc Probe	FAM-TGCTTTTCACGTCAGTGTTTCCAAGA- FAM-BHQ1

 μ l) constituted of 4 μ l of genomic DNA, 500 nM of each speciesspecific primers and 400 nM of each probe, 10 μ l of 2X Platinum multiplex PCR master mix (Applied Biosystems; Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). The qPCR conditions were- initial denaturation 95°C for 5 min. followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at-95°C for 15 s. and primer annealing-extension at 53°C for 1 min. The amplifications were performed in BioRad CFX96 Connect Real-Time PCR System, USA.

Sensitivity and specificity of qPCR assay

The DNA samples of Pk and Pc parasites were obtained from CSIR-Central Drug Research Institute, Lucknow, India and the yields were observed to be 27 and 7.5 ng/ μ l, respectively (30). Further, the Pk and Pc genomic DNAs were 10-fold serially diluted four times to estimate the limit of detection (LOD), and each dilution was tested in triplicate. To rule out the cross-reactivity with other species of *Plasmodium* (Pf, Pv, Pm, Po) the assay was validated in 250 blood samples collected from suspected endemic areas of North Eastern States of India. The specificity of Pk was also cross checked using a conventional reported PCR method (29).

Human blood sample collection and DNA isolation

During 2020-21, the COVID-19 pandemic severely hampered the sample collection. However, a total of 250 samples were collected from north eastern state of India from mass surveys to identify symptomatic and asymptomatic-suspected malaria patients with ethical approval from the Institutional ethics committee (IEC No. ECR/NIMR/EC/ 2019/332). Blood smears were made and blood samples were also collected on Whatman 3MM filter paper for detection of non-human Pk and Pc parasites by microscopy and molecular methods. DNA was isolated from the punched spots using QIAGEN kit as per manufacturer's instructions. All the 250 blood samples were tested for detection of Pf and Pv using nested PCR methods (31).

Results

The qPCR assay was designed for detection of 18S rRNA gene segment of the Pk and Pc parasites. The in-house designed primers and probes were used for the amplification of the 18S rRNA gene



FIGURE 1

(A) Standard curve generated from 10-fold serial dilutions from known concentrations of parasites DNA (Pk) in the qPCR assay. (B) qPCR amplification cycles for Pk serial dilutions with fluoroscent probe HEX (green). (C) Standard curve generated from 10-fold serial dilutions from known concentrations of parasites DNA (Pc) in the qPCR assay. (D) qPCR amplification cycles for Pc serial dilutions with fluoroscent probe FAM (blue).



FIGURE 2

Specificity of the qPCR assay. (A) Multiplex qPCR assay for detection of Pk and Pc parasites DNA as positive controls, while templates from Pf, Pv, Pm and Po parasites DNA did not amplify. (B) Selected fluorophore probe FAM (blue) for *P.cynomolgi* showed good amplification but no amplification for Pf, Pv, Pm, and Po. (C) Selected fluorophore probe HEX (green) for *P. knowlesi* showed good amplification but no amplification for Pf, Pv, Pm, and Po.

Age groups (years)	No. of samples	Males	Females	Febrile (Symptomatic)	Febrile cases		Afebrile cases		
					Pf	Pv	Pf	Pv	
01-09	82	41	41	17	4	5	0	0	
10-19	51	29	22	3	1	2	0	2	
20-29	48	23	25	0	0	0	5	0	
30-39	24	13	11	2	0	0	0	1	
40-49	23	11	12	0	0	0	3	1	
50-59	11	4	7	5	1	0	0	0	
>60	11	6	5	0	0	0	0	0	
Total	250	127	123	27	6	7	8	4	

TABLE 2 Age-group wise infections of Pf and Pv in symptomatic/asymptomatic patients.

segments of the Pk and Pc, respectively. Standard curves from the serial dilutions were generated for each parasite (Pk and Pc) with estimated R² values of 0.98 and 0.99, respectively (Figures 1A, C). To assess the limit of detection (LOD) of parasites DNA, the Pk and Pc DNA were serially diluted and subjected to qPCR assay. The LOD of parasites DNA in multiplex qPCR assays were observed to be 0.00275 and 0.075 ng/ μ l of Pk and Pc genomic DNA, respectively (Figures 1B, D). The associated C_q values corresponding to the minimal detection limits were 28.50 and 31.5 for Pk and Pc, respectively (Figures 1B, D). The in-house designed qPCR primers and probes were observed to species-specific for Pk and Pc in the multiplex format, as the 18S rRNA primers and probes specific for Pk and Pc did not amplify any of the human malaria parasites DNA (Pf, Pv, Pm and Po) (Figure 2); thus, validating the multiplex qPCR assay to be species-specific for Pk and Pc.

Microscopy was used for detection of malaria parasites and further, the multiplex qPCR primers and probes were evaluated with 250 human blood samples collected from suspected areas from North Eastern states of India. We did not observe any Pk and Pc positive infection from these samples. However, we did observe Pf and Pv infections using microscopy and previously reported primers for detection of Pf and Pv parasites (31) in these samples as listed in Table 2. 27/250 samples were febrile (symptomatic) at the time of sample collection; males and females were in approximately equal proportion of the total number of samples. 14/250 samples were found to be positive for Pf infections; while 11/250 were found positive for Pv infections. However, none of the samples were observed positive for Pk and Pc parasites, either by the in-house developed qPCR assay as well as with established conventional PCR primers described previously for detection of Pk (29). In the absence of any positive sample for Pk at the least even by the conventional PCR primers reported previously, the qPCR primers for Pk would be considered highly sensitive, however further validation of the primers shall be assessed with Pk positive samples from other sites in future.

Discussion

The non-human *Plasmodium* parasites Pk, Pc, *P. fieldi* and *Pi* have been reported from Malaysia; while Pk and Pc were also reported from India as well (4–8). The non-human malaria parasite Pk in the human host and vector have been reported from different states

of India such as Bihar, Delhi, Andaman & Nicobar Islands and Uttar Pradesh (1, 2, 5, 7). In this study, we developed in-house multiplex qPCR assay for detection of non-human malaria parasite species Pk and Pc. This diagnostic tool shall prove to be critical in detection, identification, surveillance and monitoring of the non-human malaria parasite Pk and Pc, ultimately contributing toward the control and elimination of malaria by 2030 from India.

The lowest limit of detection from genomic DNA of Pk and Pc parasites DNA was found to be 0.00275 and 0.075 ng/ μ l, respectively (Figures 1B, D). The probes were also BLAST searched and found to species-specific for Pk and Pc only. Further, no cross-reactivity was observed with any of the human malaria parasites- Pf, Pv, Po and Pm, proving them to be species-specific (Figure 2). Therefore, the in-house developed species-specific multiplex qPCR assay is highly specific and sensitive for detection of Pk and Pc. The assay was further evaluated for detection of Pk and Pc in 250 human blood samples collected from highly malaria endemic areas of North Eastern states of India and yielded no positive infection for Pk and Pc.

We anticipate that the qPCR assay would prove to be a useful tool for detection of Pk and Pc infections in the vector mosquitoes also (*An. dirus, An. minimus, An. sundaicus, An. sinensis* and *An. maculates*) as well as in their natural hosts- non-human primates (1, 5, 21, 23–25, 28). The multiplex qPCR assay for detection of Pk and Pc parasites is robust, quick, cost-effective, sensitive and species-specific to undertake investigations particularly focused on the transmission dynamics of these non-human malaria parasites in India. However, further studies with larger number of samples are needed to validate the usefulness of the qPCR assay for Pk and Pc.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Ethics Committee ICMR-National Institute of Malaria Research, Delhi, India (IEC No. ECR/NIMR/EC/ 2019/332). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

RD conceived the study, designed and performed the experiments, analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript. KV analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. KP analyzed the data and reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The work was funded by Department of Science and Technology-Science and Engineering Research Board (DST-SERB), New Delhi, India (EEQ/2019/000416).

Acknowledgments

The Pk and Pc parasite DNA were kindly received from CSIR-CDRI, Lucknow, India. The study is approved by the Research Integrity Committee (RIC) committee, ICMR-NIMR (RIC-71/2022). We are thankful to the ICMR-National Institute of Malaria Research,

References

1. Singh S, Prakash A, Yadav RN, Mohapatra PK, Sarma NP, Sarma DK, et al. Anopheles (Cellia) maculatus group: its spatial distribution and molecular characterization of member species in north-east India. *Acta Trop.* (2012) 124:62–70. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2012.06.011

2. Tyagi RK, Das MK, Singh SS, Sharma YD. Discordance in drug resistance-associated mutation patterns in marker genes of Plasmodium falciparum and Plasmodium knowlesi during coinfections. *Chemother J Antimicrob.* (2013) 183:1081–8. doi: 10.1093/jac/dks508

3. Alias H, Surin J, Mahmud R, Shafie A, Mohd Zin J, Mohamad Nor M, et al. Spatial distribution of malaria in Peninsular Malaysia from 2000 to 2009. *Parasites Vectors*. (2014) 7:186. doi: 10.1186/1756-3305-7-186

4. Dixit J, Zachariah A, PK S, Chandramohan B, Shanmuganatham V, Karanth KP, et al. Reinvestigating the status of malaria parasite (*Plasmodium* sp.) in Indian non-human primates. *PLOS Neglect Trop Dis.* (2018) 12:e0006801. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0006801

5. Vidhya PT, Sunish IP, Maile A, Zahid AK. Anopheles sundaicus Mosquitoes as Vector for *Plasmodium knowlesi*, Andaman and Nicobar Islands, India. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2019) 25:817. doi: 10.3201/eid2504.181668

6. Kaur C, Pramanik A, Kumari K, Mandage R, Dinda AK, Sankar J, et al. Renal detection of *Plasmodium falciparum*, *Plasmodium vivax* and *Plasmodium knowlesi* in malaria associated acute kidney injury: a retrospective case–control study. *BMC Res Notes*. (2020) 13:37. doi: 10.1186/s13104-020-4900-1

7. Chaturvedi R, Deora N, Bhandari D, Parvez S, Sinha A, Sharma A, et al. Trends of neglected Plasmodium species infection in humans over the past century in India. *One Health.* (2021) 186:100190. doi: 10.1016/j.onehlt.2020.100190

8. Yap NJ, Hossain H, Nada-Raja T, Ngui R, Muslim A, Hoh BP, et al. Natural Human Infections with *Plasmodium cynomolgi*, P. inui, and 4 other *Simian Malaria Parasites*, Malaysia. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2021) 216:2187. doi: 10.3201/eid2708.204502

9. Lee KS, Divis PC, Zakaria SK, Matusop A, Julin RA, Conway DJ, et al. (2011). *Plasmodium knowlesi:* Reservoir Hosts and Tracking the Emergence in Humans and Macaques. *PLOS Pathogens.* 7:e1002015. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002015

10. Ramasamy R. Zoonotic malaria-global overview and research and policy needs. *Front Public Health.* (2014) 190:123. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2014.00123

11. Mewara A, Sehgal R. Guest commentary: *Plasmodium knowlesi*-need to diagnose in India. *Trop Parasitol.* (2017) 189:2.

12. Coatney GR, Elder HA, Contacos PG, Getz ME, Greenland R, Rossan RN, et al. (1961). Transmission of the M strain of Plasmodium cynomolgi to man. *Am J. Trop Med Hyg* 199:673–8. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.1961.10.673

13. Schmidt LH, Greenland R, Genther CS. The transmission of *Plasmodium cynomolgi* to man. *Am J. Trop Med Hyg.* (1961) 195:679–88. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.1961.10.679

14. Contacos PG, Lunn JS, Coatney GR, Kilpatrick JW, Jones FE. Quartantype malaria parasite of new world monkeys transmissible to man. *Science*. (1963) 142:676. doi: 10.1126/science.142.3593.676-a New Delhi, India for providing laboratory facilities. The designed primers and probes of the qPCR assay have been submitted for a patent in ICMR, New Delhi, India.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

15. Coatney GR, Chin W, Contacos PG, King HK. Plasmodium inui, a quartantype malaria parasite of Old World monkeys transmissible to man. *Parasitol J.* (1966) 198:660-3. doi: 10.2307/3276423

16. Deane Lm Fau-Deane MP, Deane Mp Fau-Ferreira Neto J, Ferreira Neto J. Studies on transmission of simian malaria and on a natural infection of man with Plasmodium simium in Brazil. *Bull World Health Organ.* (1966) 194:805.

17. Contacos Pg Fau-Coatney GR, Coatney Gr Fau-Orihel TC, Orihel Tc Fau-Collins WE, Collins We Fau-Chin W, Chin W, Fau-Jeter MH, et al. Transmission of Plasmodium schwetzi from the chimpanzee to man by mosquito bite. *Am J. Trop Med Hyg.* (1970) 196:190–95. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.1970.19.190

18. Jongwutiwes S, Putaporntip C, Iwasaki T, Sata T, Kanbara H.. Naturally acquired *Plasmodium knowlesi* malaria in human, Thailand. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2004) 192:2211. doi: 10.3201/eid1012.040293

19. Moyes CL, Henry AJ, Golding N, Huang Z, Singh B, Baird JK, et al. Defining the geographical range of the *Plasmodium knowlesi* reservoir. *PLOS Neglect Trop Dis.* (2014) 8:e2780. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0002780

20. Nakaviroj S, Kobasa T, Teeranaipong P, Putaporntip C, Jongwutiwes S. An autochthonous case of severe *Plasmodium knowlesi* malaria in Thailand. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2015) 201:569. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.14-0610

21. Subbarao SK. Centenary celebrations article: *Plasmodium knowlesi*: from macaque monkeys to humans in South-east Asia and the risk of its spread in India. *Dis J Parasit.* (2011) 35:87–93. doi: 10.1007/s12639-011-0085-9

22. SA K, Dutta P, Borah J, Mahanta J. Survey of new mosquito species of Meghalaya, India. *Biol J. Environ.* (2013) 34:191–95.

23. Zomuanpuii R, Fau-Guruswami G, Guruswami G, Fau-Nachimuthu SK, Nachimuthu SK. A three year study on distribution and ecology of Anophelines in Thenzawl, Mizoram, India. *Biol J Environ*. (2014) 204:369.

24. Dev V, Manguin S. Biology, distribution and control of Anopheles (Cellia) minimus in the context of malaria transmission in northeastern India. *Parasites Vectors.* (2016) 9:585. doi: 10.1186/s13071-016-1878-6

25. Sindhania A, Das MK, Sharma G, Surendran SN, Kaushal BR, Lohani HP, et al. Molecular forms of *Anopheles subpictus* and Anopheles sundaicus in the Indian subcontinent. *Malar J.* (2020) 19:1–17. doi: 10.1186/s12936-020-03492-2

26. Ta TH, Hisam S, Lanza M, Jiram AI, Ismail N, Rubio JM. First case of a naturally acquired human infection with *Plasmodium cynomolgi. Malar. J.* (2014) 13:1–7. doi: 10.1186/1475-2875-13-68

27. Sutton PL, Luo Z, Divis PC, Friedrich VK, Conway DJ, Singh B, et al. Characterizing the genetic diversity of the monkey malaria parasite *Plasmodium cynomolgi*. *Infect Genet Evol*. (2016) 40:243–52. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2016.03.009

28. Prakash A, Walton C, Bhattacharyya DR, O'Loughlin S, Mohapatra PK, Mahanta J, et al. Molecular characterization and species identification of the Anopheles dirus and An. minimus complexes in north-east India using r-DNA ITS-2. *Acta Trop.* (2006) 100:156–61. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2006.09.009

29. Imwong M, Tanomsing N, Pukrittayakamee S, Day NP, White NJ, Snounou G. Spurious amplification of a *Plasmodium vivax* small-subunit RNA gene by use of primers currently used to detect *P. knowlesi. Microbiol J. Clin.* (2009) 47:4173-5. doi: 10.1128/JCM.00811-09

30. Kamau E, Alemayehu S, Feghali KC, Saunders D, Ockenhouse CF, et al. Multiplex qPCR for detection and absolute quantification of malaria. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e71539. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0071539

31. Snounou G, Viriyakosol S, Zhu XP, Jarra W, Pinheiro L, do Rosario VE, et al. High sensitivity of detection of human malaria parasites by the use of nested polymerase chain reaction. *Mol Biochem Parasitol.* (1993) 61:315–20. doi: 10.1016/0166-6851(93) 90077-B Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ariel L. Rivas, University of New Mexico, United States

REVIEWED BY

Folorunso Oludayo Fasina, University of Pretoria, South Africa Clement Adebajo Meseko, National Veterinary Research Institute (NVRI), Nigeria

*CORRESPONDENCE Christin Kleinsorgen ⊠ christin.kleinsorgen@tiho-hannover.de

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

RECEIVED 05 October 2022 ACCEPTED 23 January 2023 PUBLISHED 15 February 2023

CITATION

Becker B, Tipold A, Ehlers J and Kleinsorgen C (2023) Veterinarians' perspective on telemedicine in Germany. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10:1062046. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1062046

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Becker, Tipold, Ehlers and Kleinsorgen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Veterinarians' perspective on telemedicine in Germany

Björn Becker^{1,2}, Andrea Tipold³, Jan Ehlers⁴ and Christin Kleinsorgen^{1*}

¹Centre for E-Learning, Didactics and Educational Research, University of Veterinary Medicine, Hannover, Germany, ²Veterinary Practice B. Becker, Heek, Germany, ³Clinic for Small Animals, University of Veterinary Medicine, Hannover, Germany, ⁴Department of Medical, Faculty of Health, Didactics and Educational Research in Health Care, Witten/Herdecke University, Witten, Germany

Introduction: Information on the use of telemedical approaches in the context of veterinary medicine is evolving. As in human medicine, veterinary medicine is subject to an increasing digitalization effort. The aim of the current study was to investigate the perspective of German veterinarians regarding their awareness and usage of telemedical approaches. Furthermore, the degree of implementation of different digital approaches in the context of German veterinary medicine was elaborated.

Methods: A literature review, that also aimed to address the necessary framework or standardization of these digitalization efforts and potential barriers such as legal or infrastructural aspects, provided information for the empirical research. Using a quantitative research approach, the perspective of German veterinarians was surveyed.

Results: In total, responses from 169 veterinarians were analyzed. The results show that digital approaches were used by veterinarians and the usage was enhanced by the COVID-19 crisis.

Discussion: However, the lack of a clear legal framework may be a significant barrier for further implementation. This survey provides a basis for a critical discussion on the use of veterinary telemedicine in Germany. The results may contribute to future strategies for the implementation and development of necessary policies, training, and service applications within Germany, which may be transferable for the profession in other countries.

KEYWORDS

telemedicine, veterinary telemedicine, teleconsultation, teleradiology, digitalization

1. Introduction

The German Medical Association presents a basic definition of telemedicine: "*Telemedicine is a collective term for various medical care concepts that have in common the principle approach of providing medical services for the health care of the population in the areas of diagnostics, therapy and rehabilitation as well as medical decision-making advice over spatial distances. Information and communication technologies are used for this purpose*." (1). This means, for example, that a follow-up call after surgery also falls under this definition of telemedicine.

Telemedicine may be important in the future for everyday work in veterinary medicine (2). It offers various advantages for veterinarians, the patients and their owners, as patient information can be passed from one specialist to another much more easily, allowing faster or possibly more accurate diagnosis and more efficient treatment. Ideally, telemedicine can fill in gaps and provide better care and treatment for patients without owners or veterinarians having to make a time-consuming and often arduous journey to the city or far into the countryside. Therefore, telemedicine and the underlying concept of bringing information digitally to where it is needed are among the most groundbreaking developments in the field of medicine (3). Veterinary telemedicine can be a success factor by helping to reduce error rates, perform more procedures and improve the overall client-veterinarian relationship when applied appropriately (3). As an example, the authors Papageorges and Tilley cite the sharing of "radiograph, sonogram, and

10.3389/fvets.2023.1062046

cytology to radiologists, cardiologists, and pathologists," while other activities are carried out. Discussion with or reports by boardcertified specialists allow for more comprehensive advice, diagnosis and a treatment plan even in remote areas (3, 25). However, examples listed are mainly individual and subjective opinions without statistical evidence or empirical research have been described. Video visits, remote patient monitoring and telecare are methods that have already found their way into human medicine and will increasingly influence veterinary medicine in years to come (2). Some veterinarians already offer their clients the possibility of tele-consultation, and presumably clients' demands will enhance the importance of telemedicine in the field of veterinary medicine in the medium term (2), while teleradiology is already established in daily work and companies offering teleradiology services exist (3-5). Teleradiological services include primary interpretation of images, systems to directly or indirectly send data to specialists, on-call coverage or second opinion consultations, as well as image storage and archival or database banking (5). Increasing pressure for innovations in the field of digital technologies and telemedicine are obvious (6-8). Smartphones, apps and camera systems are constantly improving and systems are being adapted and implemented also within veterinary medicine. IHS Technology suggested in their report that the number of patients using veterinary telemedicine services globally would grow from 350,000 in 2013 to 7 million in 2018 (7, 8). In the field of animal health, the innovation debate primarily revolves around veterinarians themselves who are considered to be innovation-friendly and open (6). Telemedicine has been described as one key development in 2018 by the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons (RVCS) survey, which included more than one thousand participating British veterinarians. In that survey, a large proportion of participants rated telemedicine as a topic worth discussing, but concerns were also expressed (9). Those concerns about risks included "risk of error due to incomplete information, a lack of a physical examination, limitations to technology and issues relating to owner trust" (9). The survey also revealed uncertainty about the extent to which telemedicine services can and should be included in the Code to Professional Conduct for vets. However, some veterinary medicines (such as antiparasiticides) that could be prescribed remotely were endorsed.

Thus, the development of veterinary medicine seems to be in line with developments in human medicine where the widespread use of telemedicine approaches has been discussed with greater detail (10). Telemedicine and telehealth as a means of caring for hard-toreach patients are attractive in many ways (10). These approaches can save time and money and reduce the inconvenience of travel for healthcare professionals as well as patients and clients. They can also make rare expertise more widely available by enabling better networking among colleagues and greater international availability of expert knowledge (10). In addition, telemedicine approaches can also help patients who would otherwise go untreated (10). At the same time, however, these developments are met with a high degree of mistrust, which seems to be based on several uncertainties, for example, regarding the issue of responsibility or cost factors (10). Due to lack of healthcare infrastructures and an increased risk of zoonotic diseases, telecommunication technologies, such as smartphones and digital cameras, are particularly useful in developing countries (11). Telehealth equipment can support early diagnosis, surveillance, warning or reporting and the prevention of zoonotic diseases, thereby playing an important role in One Health approaches (11).

The only exception here is teleradiology, which is an established branch in the field of telemedicine. The possibilities for increased productivity and expansion of diagnostic options due to digitalization, particularly in diagnostic imaging, were described as a pioneering future trend as early as 2001 (12). Numerous successful business models have been developed in the field of teleradiology, also in veterinary medicine. Corresponding teleradiology solutions also play an important role with regard to the increasing desire for teleworking and telecommuting in the context of the COVID-19 crisis (13, 14).

Veterinary medicine and animal husbandry are described as highly specialized fields encompassing the management and health care of various animal species: "disease diagnosis, treatment, and prevention; quality assessment of meat and food, including milk and dairy products; quarantine procedures; animal welfare; feed formulation and testing; technology dissemination; and teaching, training, innovation, generation, and transfer of knowledge or technologies for end users as well as administrators" (15). Accordingly, the critical role of veterinarians in meeting these growing responsibilities is complex. Despite this complexity, however, telemedicine, with the exception of teleradiology, still seems to be comparatively underutilized and, above all, insufficiently researched in the field of veterinary medicine (15).

Telemedicine seems to be rapidly gaining relevance, especially in the context of the COVID-19 crisis (16). As in other areas of social and economic life, the pandemic and the measures taken by governments led to increased demand and support for digitalization efforts (17). While home office or telework/telecommuting models increased in other sectors, there was also a trend in medicine to minimize avoidable physical interactions (18, 19). More fundamentally, many governments did not adequately explain the critical role of veterinary medicine. While medical staff in the human health care sector were clearly defined as key personnel who were accordingly exempt from lockdown measures, this was only partially clarified in veterinary medicine and related fields (20). Overall, telemedicine appears to be an emerging subfield in veterinary medicine as well, despite or even as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic (21).

While telemedicine in human medicine is already considered comparatively well researched, there seems to be a research gap in the field of veterinary medicine (15, 22). This lack of research in the field of veterinary telemedicine has already been criticized (23). Mars and Auer (2006) pointed out that telemedicine approaches have been used in veterinary medicine for a long time but are rarely discussed and researched. Modern telemedicine should be evaluated in detail and the billing of animal owners should be better clarified (23). In addition to the fundamental research gap on the question of the extent to which telemedicine has also found its way into the field of veterinary medicine and which approaches are used in practice in this context, the topic of the effects of the COVID-19 crisis also emerges: society as a whole seems to have experienced a digitalization surge in the last 2 years, which has also led to an increased use of remote communication, for example in the fields of medicine, education or business (24, 25).

In the context of this study, the extent to which veterinary medicine itself has been exposed to this digitalization push is elaborated, as the study was carried out during the pandemic as were the corresponding countermeasures. Therefore, the aim of this study was to investigate German veterinarians' perception of digital technologies and potential change in usage with regard to infrastructural, technical and legal frameworks using an online survey. Furthermore, it was investigated whether the attitude to telemedicine has an influence on the use of telemedicine and whether the COVID-19 pandemic has served as a catalyst for a change in awareness. Results shall inform about the developing of or improvement to guidelines and regulations to introduce and implement telemedical approaches in a more standardized manner in veterinary medical practices.

2. Method

An online survey (LimeSurvey[®]) was created on the basis of existing instruments such as the "Telehealth Practice Survey" (26), "a survey of knowledge and use of telehealth among veterinarians" (27) or the survey "Digitalisierungsreport" ["digitalization report," (28)] to evaluate the attitude toward and the implementation of telemedical services among individuals in veterinary practice. Before publishing the current survey, it was pre-validated and piloted by expert staff from the University of Veterinary Medicine in Hannover as well as veterinary colleagues as potential respondents (29).

The survey consisted of four question groups:

- Sociodemographic questions and general questions about the participating veterinary practice. Questions about age, gender, type and localization of the practice (rural or urban environment) and role in the clinic/practice are supplemented by questions about mainly treated species.
- 2. The perception and basic attitudes of the participating practitioners regarding digitalization in relation to the veterinary professional ethos were assessed using rating questions with a rating scale from "1 = strongly agree" to "4 = strongly disagree."

Fifteen questions evaluated communication-related aspects. The participants rated communications tools using a scale that ranged from "1-mostly used" to "5-not specified." The questions were separated into two main parts. The focus of the first parts was the communication management of a veterinarian in daily work life. The options for "communication" were "telephone," "physically (which means "in the practice")," "video chat," "E-mail," "messenger" (like WhatsApp, Facebook, SMS), "fax" and "letter." In the second part it was asked how communication took place with new and existing customers.

- 3. General questions about the status of information and wishes for a legal framework regarding telemedicine in veterinary practices. With the aim to draw conclusions as to whether knowledge of the legal framework is a limiting or motivating factor for the use of telemedical solutions. To verify a possible uncertainty more precisely, the question was asked whether the participant believes that telemedicine is already sufficiently regulated in the professional code of conduct. The last question in this section dealt with suggestions from veterinarians regarding education and information from professional organizations.
- 4. COVID-19-related questions including questions about the influence of COVID-19 as a catalyst regarding the awareness and the use of telemedicine.

The survey was sent to veterinarian practitioners via social media in veterinarian expert groups (e.g., closed veterinary Facebook groups) and via newsletters by the local Veterinary Chamber of Lower Saxony between May 2020 and August 2020. Participants were asked to respond as honestly and applicably as possible based on their own experiences. It was pointed out that personal data would be collected, stored and analyzed respecting the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and anonymity of all respondents. Results were evaluated anonymously and participants were free to discontinue participation in the survey at any time, which would result in the deletion of the data collected up to that point. All questions were asked only optionally, which meant that questions could be skipped and no answer was forced in order to continue processing the questionnaire. In addition, the answer option "no answer" was offered for each question to allow for abstention.

Raw data from the survey were first transferred to Microsoft Excel[®] (2010 Microsoft Corporation). Sorting algorithms were used and questionnaires that were not completed to the end were filtered out. These were deleted and, based on the convenience sample, a descriptive analysis of the results was carried out and presented in tabular and graphical forms using Microsoft Excel[®] (2010 Microsoft Corporation).

This study was conducted in accordance with the ethical standards of the University of Veterinary Medicine Hannover, Foundation. The Doctoral Thesis Committee of the university validated the project in accordance with the ethical guidelines regarding research with human participants and approved the study. The university's Data Protection Officer approved the project. The voluntarily participating persons consented to the processing of their data in accordance with the EU General Data Protection Regulation of 2018 (General Data Protection Regulation Art. 6 I 1 lit. e i.V.m. 89 and Lower Saxony Data Protection Act § 3 I 1 No. 1 NHG, § 13). Data processing was performed anonymously in accordance with the Data Protection Regulation of the university.

3. Results

3.1. Socio-demographic data

A total of 300 veterinarians started to answer the survey. However, only 169 respondents completed the entire survey and were included in further analyses. The gender ratio within the sample was unbalanced, with 114 females (67.5 %) and 55 males (32.5 %). Participating veterinarians were on average 45.19 years old (SD = 11.96 years). Figure 1 shows the distribution of respondents in different areas of population density.

A large proportion of respondents reported working in a large city, while the rest were distributed among medium-sized cities, small towns and rural areas (Figure 1).

Figure 2 shows that the majority of participating veterinary practices treated small animals (76 %), but participants also came from the livestock (45 %), equine (22 %) and small pet sectors (34 %). Specialty practices (fish and birds) were also among the participants (15 %).

The majority of participants worked in individual practices (n = 87, 51.5 %), followed by university (n = 29, 17.2 %), group practices





(n = 22, 13 %) and clinics (n = 22, 13 %) and a small number did not work in any practice (n = 4, 2.4 %) (Figure 3).

The majority of respondents were practice owners (n = 75, 44.4 %), followed by employed physicians (n = 38, 22.5 %) and those on parental leave (n = 15, 8.9 %) (Figure 4).

3.2. Questions about communication with the animal owners

As shown in Figure 5, face-to-face communication was used in most cases, followed by telephone consultations. E-mails and various forms of messengers were used less frequently. Video telephony was rarely used, fax and letter were not common anymore.

Figure 6 shows again that face-to-face communication was used in most cases, followed by telephone consultations, E-mails and various forms of messengers being used less frequently.

3.3. Questions about legal aspects and information by the authorities

Figure 7 displays the respondents' thoughts about the legally applicable extent of telemedicine. In the analysis, attention was also paid to whether the telemedicine consultation referred to an already existing or to a new doctor-patient relationship.

The majority of study respondents were of the opinion that telemedical care may be used primarily for existing patients. Interestingly, some of the participants thought that both telemedical diagnosis and telemedical treatment of patients were allowed. A significantly large proportion of the respondents were unsure what was legally permitted and which actions were not permitted.

Figure 8 highlights that only a small percentage of the respondents (n = 11, 6.5 %) held the opinion that telemedicine was sufficiently included in the legal framework for veterinary practices, but the majority rated that telemedicine was insufficiently included (n = 158, 93.5 %) in the professional regulations.





Also, the majority of respondents (n 131, = 77.5 %) do sufficiently informed about not feel current telemedicine opportunities for veterinarians (Figure 9).

Most participants were not aware of the Guidelines_of_the_Ad-hoc-AG-Telemedizin by the German Veterinary Chamber (1) (n = 122, 72.19 %) (Figure 10), which was released just one month before the survey was sent.



In addition to more information about the legally protected possibilities in relation to telemedicine, the majority of participants would also like to see clear remaining guidelines for using telemedicine in practice. Technical assistance and support were less in demand (Figure 11).

NetNetNetNetNetNetNetNetNetPart is the set of th	6	Letter	3 7	24			101				34	
IndexImage: second	eague		4 13	24			98					
IndexImage: second	ith col		16	21	4	5		59		_		
IndexImage: second	ation w			42		4/	_	44				16
IndexImage: second	llabora		21 6			124						
Image	Col		36	5	20	_	73			-		
nempne			-	8	3			44		20		11
IndependenceSP	10		1D 4									
IndepImage	client		14									
IndependenceSP	у пем		3 5 8			113						
IndiaNo<	iries b		21	18		45		52				
InduceSOSOSOSOSOSOSOInduceSOSOSOSOSOSOSOSOSOSOInduceSOSOSOSOSOSOSOSOSOSOSOInduceSO	e inqu		1			127						
Intro 	Pric	Physically		51		29	31		28		30	
n interval<		Telephone			92			39		18	8 5	15
important into the probability of the prob		Letter	20 3			123					41	
Independent of the second of	clients	Fax	12 3			121					42	
Independent of the second of	sting	Messenger	4 4 14			107					40	
reprr	by exi	Email	24	11	46			56			32	
reprr	UILIES	Videocall	0			126						
Independent of the set of t	ice inq.			77			34	1	7	15		
Interpresent Interpr	F				89			35		28		15
framework 1 127 128			0.5			126						
Interpreter 00 00 35 0 0 15 15 16 Interpreter 10 10 124 10 124 10 12 <t< td=""><td>ts</td><td></td><td>2.4</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	ts		2.4									
Interpreter 00 00 35 0 0 15 15 16 Interpreter 10 10 124 10 124 10 12 <t< td=""><td>v clien</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	v clien											
Item (f) (f) <td>or nev</td> <td></td> <td>3 3 12</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>114</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	or nev		3 3 12			114						
Identicalof aof a	lvice f		12 7	38			78					
Item (f) (f) <td>ical ac</td> <td></td> <td>D 6</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	ical ac		D 6									
Internet 124 Internet Internet </td <td>Med</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>128</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>17</td> <td>5 6</td> <td>13</td>	Med					128				17	5 6	13
Image: state	_	Telephone	-	69			35		34		15	16
Image: second	thout	Letter	03								42	
Image: second	imals	Fax	03			124					42	
Image: state stat	ng clie ied an	Messenger	4 3 18			105					39	
InterpretationInterp	existi examir	Email	12 7	40			78				32	
Image: second	ice foi ously	Videocall	2			126					41	
InterpretationInterp	previ	Physically			11	8			10	12	10 1	19
InterpretationInterp	Medic	Telephone		52		35		36		22	24	
Iteria 124 39 Image: strategy of the strategy of		Letter	21 7			120					39	
Interview Image: constraint of the second	ints w	Fax	9 1 8			120					31	
Interview Image: constraint of the second	ng clie d anin	Messenger	11 9	31			83				35	
Iterem 10	existi amine	Email	19	26		44		49				
Iterem 10	ice for isly ex	Videocall	03 5									
Iteria 124 39 Image: strategy of the strategy of	al adv	Physically								15		19
Iteria 124 39 Image: strategy of the strategy of	cal ad	Telenhono			89			49				
Fax 127 127 14 177 14 177	Medic	Torophono	11.4			174		49				
Telephone 54 34 26 28 27 I term 3 3 17 114 333 33 33 Fax 12 7 124 92 33 33 Messenger 9 12 26 92 92 33 Fmail 10 25 49 949 27 Messenger 9 12 26 92 949 27 Phytically 10 10 123 34 37 Phytically 10 138 93 11 3 I terphone 93 60 80 100 120 14	Medic											
Telephone 54 34 26 28 27 I term 3 3 17 114 333 33 33 Fax 12 7 124 92 33 33 Messenger 9 12 26 92 92 33 Fmail 10 25 49 949 27 Messenger 9 12 26 92 949 27 Phytically 10 10 123 34 37 Phytically 10 138 93 11 3 I terphone 93 60 80 100 120 14												
Telephone 54 34 26 28 27 I term 2 3 17 11 11 33 33 Fax 2 7 124 92 33 33 Image: Fax 9 12 26 92 92 33 Image: Fax 19 25 49 92 94 30 Image: Fax 19 25 49 49 30 30 Image: Fax 10 25 49 49 34 37 Image: Fax 10 25 49 49 34 30 Image: Fax 10 123 10 34 10 Image: Fax 138 10 49 11 3 10 Image: Fax 93 10 10 10 10 10						118						
Telephone 54 34 26 28 27 Letter 2 3 17 114 114 33 33 Fax 12 7 124 9 30 35 Messenger 9 12 26 92 30 30 Videcall 19 25 49 949 27 30 Physically 10 138 93 11 37 10 Telephone 93 60 80 100 120 11 3		Messenger	2 4 8									
Telephone 54 34 26 28 27 Letter 2 3 17 114 114 33 33 Fax 12 7 124 9 30 35 Messenger 9 12 26 92 30 30 Videcall 19 25 49 949 27 30 Physically 10 138 93 11 37 10 Telephone 93 60 80 100 120 11 3		Messenger Email	248 106	37			79					
Item 2 3 17 114 33 Fax 12 7 124 33 Messenger Imal 9 12 26 92 92 Imal 19 25 49 92 94 Videcall 10 1138 1138 1137 10 Imal 93 10 10 1138 10 10 10		Messenger Email Videocall	2 4 8 10 6 1) 4	37			79					
Fax 12 2 12 12 12 Messenger 9 12 26 92 92 Ministry 19 25 49 92 94 27 Ministry 10 123 123 123 133 11 3 7 10 Ministry 10 93 20 60 80 100 120 14 15		Messenger Email Videocall Physically	2 4 8 10 6 1) 4	37			79			15		15
Telephone 93 49 9 4 14 0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160		Messenger Email Videocall Physically Telephone	2 4 8 10 6 10 4	37 54		128 34		26	28	15	6 5 27	15
Telephone 93 49 9 4 14 0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160	General advice for new clients	Messenger Email Videocall Physically Telephone	2 4 8 10 6 10 4 2 3 17	37 54		128 34 11		26	28	15	6 5 27	15
Telephone 93 49 9 4 14 0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160	General advice for new clients	Messenger Email Videocall Physically Telephone Letter	2 4 8 10 6 1) 4 2 3 17 12 7	37 54	-	128 34 11		26	28	15	6 5 27 33	15
Telephone 93 49 9 4 14 0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160	General advice for new clients	Messenger Email Videocall Physically Telephone Letter Fax	2 4 8 10 6 D 4 2 3 17 12 7 9 12	37 54 26		128 34 11	4	26	28	15	6 5 27 33 35	15
Telephone 93 49 9 4 14 0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160	General advice for new clients	Messenger Email Videocall Physically Telephone Letter Fax Messenger	2 4 8 10 6 114 2 3 17 12 7 9 12 19	37 54 26 25		128 34 11	4	26		15	6 5 27 33 35 30	15
Telephone 93 49 9 4 14 0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160	General advice for new clients	Messenger Email Videocall Physically Telephone Letter Fax Messenger Email	2 4 8 10 6 14 2 3 17 12 7 9 12 19 12 10	37 54 26 25		128 34 11 124 49	4	26 49		15	6 5 27 33 35 30 27	15
0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160	General advice for new clients	Messenger Email Videocall Physically Telephone Letter Fax Messenger Email Videocall	2 4 8 10 6 14 2 3 17 12 7 9 12 19 2 10	37 54 26 25		128 34 11 124 49 123	4	26 49		15	6 5 27 33 35 30 27 34	
	General advice for new clients	Messenger Email Videocall Physically Telephone Letter Fax Messenger Email Videocall Physically	2 4 8 10 6 11 4 2 3 17 12 7 9 12 19 12 10 10	37 54 26 25	93	128 34 11 124 49 123	4	26 49 <u>49</u>		15	6 5 27 33 35 30 27 34 11 3 7	10
 niteri frauki, niteri frauki,<td>General advice for new clients</td><td>Messenger Email Videocall Physically Telephone Letter Fax Messenger Email Videocall Physically Telephone</td><td>10 6 1) 4 2 3 17 12 7 9 12 19 2 10</td><td>37 54 26 25 0 an</td><td>93</td><td>128 34 11 124 49 123 138</td><td>92</td><td>49</td><td></td><td>15</td><td>6 5 27 33 35 30 27 34 11 3 7 9 4</td><td>10 14</td>	General advice for new clients	Messenger Email Videocall Physically Telephone Letter Fax Messenger Email Videocall Physically Telephone	10 6 1) 4 2 3 17 12 7 9 12 19 2 10	37 54 26 25 0 an	93	128 34 11 124 49 123 138	92	49		15	6 5 27 33 35 30 27 34 11 3 7 9 4	10 14

Frontiers in Veterinary Science





3.4. Questions related to COVID-19 as an influencing factor

The majority of respondents did not want to or intend to use telemedicine applications during their consultations, controlor follow-up-appointments or case discussions only because of the COVID-19 pandemic (Figure 12).

4. Discussion

The current study investigated the usage and awareness of telemedicine and its legal framework among German veterinarians. According to socio-demographic aspects, mostly women who worked in a small animal practice or ran one in a large city were interested in telemedicine in general. It is also interesting that veterinarians who were on parental leave were interested in working with telemedicine. Presumably, these veterinarians want to explore alternative employment models and telemedicine could be at least one of the possibilities.

According to the respondents' answers, digital/telemedical solutions were used already, but did not prominently feature in the daily veterinary medical practice. In contrast, face-to-face and telephone consultations were still the most frequently used communication channels with animal owners.

The only exception was teleradiology, which is well established in the area of doctor-to-doctor communication and has been used for more than 30 years (4, 5). Here, the technical and legal framework seems to be more clearly defined and can presumably be implemented





well in existing practice structures due to more uniform technical approaches (5).

With regard to the legal framework, which was also a central component of the survey, transparency and further communication are expected and needed. As other authors have shown in relation to initial developments during the COVID-19 crisis, there is significantly less clarity concerning the legal framework in veterinary medicine than in other fields (21). Legal clarification for the authorization of digital procedures for different veterinary medical situations is still lacking and seems to impose a corresponding constraint on practitioners (30). While preparing the survey, first guidelines were discussed and published by the authorities (1) so that this could be the reason for the low awareness of them, as the survey was conducted close to the publication date.

With regard to the implementation of veterinary telehealth and telemedicine research, further research is needed (21). While detailed analyses are available in human medicine (9, 16), in veterinary medicine the topic seems to be less developed. However, at the same time at least in practice, telemedicine approaches are becoming increasingly important (21). Scientific research in this regard is mainly limited to overview articles or forecasts and therefore do not offer any empirically robust statements about the actual implementation status or acceptance of corresponding solutions (16). Only teleradiology, as a technically oriented solution, is an exception. Nevertheless, especially the implementation of corresponding solutions also depends on legal, social and societal framework conditions (12, 13).

In addition, a recent analysis for identifying and analyzing strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats (SWOT analysis) performed by a group of experts from the European Coordinating Committee on Veterinary Training identified the urgency to "develop policies and regulations to ensure efficient, safe, ethic and legal use of digital technologies and artificial intelligence in veterinary medicine" (17).

It remains unclear to what extent these framework conditions are also related to different remits and approaches in terms of location (urban vs. rural) and orientation of practices (large/small animals). For example, it can be argued that veterinary practices in rural areas dominated by livestock farming, sometimes differ significantly from those in urban areas (16). It is therefore clear that the approaches to telemedicine taken by practitioners in these two areas should also differ. Approaches in One Health, animal disease control or zoonoses are also relevant areas for which recommendations and standards should be developed (11).

One limitation of the study may be the empirical consideration of the legal framework. While the literature on telemedicine and





veterinary telemedicine states that the legal framework and clarity concerning legal and technical aspects are of fundamental importance for the implementation status, the empirical findings presented here only confirm this to some extent (4, 9). The actual legal framework conditions are not well publicized. Also, a global comparative study is advisable, which not only examines the internal national differences in perception and interpretation of the framework situation, but also the actual differences with regard to legislation, comparing these with the implementation status of telemedicine solutions.

In particular, it is advisable that future research in the field focuses on the perspective of clients. The present study showed the implementation status and the related expectations from the perspective of the practicing veterinarians. For a successful implementation of telemedical solutions, it is relevant to include the perspective of the animal owners, which has corresponding implications especially for the practical work. A deeper understanding of this perspective and the needs of this important group of stakeholders should be taken into account in order to be able to develop telemedical solutions tailored to their wishes.

To establish a telemedical and digital mindset in the veterinarian eco-system, it is recommended to create a clear framework as a guideline for veterinarians.

The guideline may include the following topics:

- 1. Reference to transparent and well-defined legal basis and definitions with a clear differentiation between teleconsultation, teletreatment and telediagnosis.
- 2. Recommendation regarding the selection and transformation of previous analog processes in digital or digital/telemedicine-supported processes.
- 3. Building awareness regarding telemedicine, its possibilities and its advantages.
- 4. Expanding available guidelines regarding telemedicine.
- 5. Creating billing regulations for veterinarians.

At the same time, it seems reasonable to formulate additional concrete questions for future surveys, since ignorance about telemedicine, skepticism or unclear understanding *per se* may have an influence on the answers.

In addition to skepticism about digitalized veterinary medicine, the research results also indicate adherence to "old" or analog forms of communication. A recently published study "Digitalized Veterinary Medicine 2030" also shows clear tendencies and results in this regard (27). It states: "Currently, there is a digital divide between practitioners and industry representatives in veterinary medicine. The study results also show that there is a considerable gap in the learning strategies used and positions taken on digitalization within the groups of practitioners studied. Dealing with the opportunities and risks of digitalization in veterinary medicine, however, requires a willingness to learn, curiosity and a willingness to experiment from many more actors. For the future viability of veterinary medicine, a "digital mobilization" of practices and clinics therefore appears to be important." (27). It continues: "In this context, the animal health industry and a still relatively small number of practitioners with a high level of digital competence in the sector are in a pioneering position. These actors have an important potential to support practices, clinics and teaching and to promote the transfer of digital knowledge. But the strategic and political role of professional associations is also important in terms of targeted development of digital competence." (27).

This means that currently only a few innovative players with smaller satellite ideas are actively trying to advance digitalization and telemedicine in veterinary medicine and there is a lack of large-scale solutions. Professional associations such as the BTK (German Veterinary Association) or the BPT (German Association of Practicing Veterinarians) have taken the first steps and published a guideline on the use of telemedicine in the veterinary profession. In addition, more digital competence must be taught and the use of telemedical tools must be encouraged in the field of education and training.

In summary, telemedicine comprises only a small part of the veterinary service, namely the provision of medical information

when doctors and patients are physically distant and the exchange of medical information occurs across distances. In view of the general digitalization of many processes in medicine, telemedicine should be considered as an essential but not the only part of this development.

Functioning, effective telemedical services can only be used adequately and in a result-oriented manner in a digital and professional environment. Corresponding tools are already available on the market and are constantly being further developed.

Integration of digital technologies can improve many parts of the veterinarian work in all kinds of practices. At the same time, however, the willingness of veterinarians and their clients to use these tools must be promoted (17).

Many new opportunities are already given, such as artificial intelligence and wearable home diagnostic devices. If the framework is clear and easy to adapt, telemedicine is a huge option rather than a threat, as it can establish a state-of-the-art connection between doctors, animal owners and animals to raise the overall health of animals. "Ignoring it would be deleterious for the future of the veterinary profession" (17).

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Universities Ethics Committee and approved prior to investigation. The participants provided informed consent to participate in this study. This study was conducted according to the ethical standards of the Stiftung Tierärztliche Hochschule Hanover, Germany. The Doctoral Committee of the University, validated the project according to the ethical guidelines for research with human participants and approved the study. The university's data protection officer approved the project. The voluntary participants consented to the processing of their data according to the EU General Data Protection Regulation of 2018 (General Data Protection Regulation Art. 6 I 1 lit. e i.V.m. 89 and Lower Saxony Data Protection Act § 3 I 1 No. 1 NHG, § 13). Data processing was carried out anonymously in accordance with the University's data protection regulations.. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements. Written informed consent was not obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

BB designed and conducted the study, performed formal analysis, and prepared the original draft manuscript. AT, JE, and CK reviewed the study design. CK supervised the study and validated the analysis. All authors reviewed, edited the manuscript, contributed to the article, and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This Open Access publication was funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) -491094227 Open Access Publication Funding and the University of Veterinary Medicine Hannover, Foundation.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all participating veterinarians for their involvement.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Bundestierärztekammer. *Telemedizin*. (2020). Available online at: https://www. bundestieraerztekammer.de/Leitlinien_der_Ad-hoc-AG-Telemedizin_-_Stand_28_Jan_ 2022_0.pdf (accessed January 10, 2022).

2. Hess L. Telemedicine: the future of veterinary practice. J Avian Med Surg. (2017) 31:165–71. doi: 10.1647/1082-6742-31.2.165

3. Papageorges M, Tilley L. Why telemedicine? *Clin Tech Small Anim Pract.* (2001). 16:90–4. doi: 10.1053/svms.2001.26225

4. Tilley LP, Miller MS, Wortman JA, Biery DN, Coward BH. Teleradiology in veterinary medicine. *Vet Radiol Ultrasound.* (1986) 1:172–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-8261.2007.00331.x

5. Poteet BA. Veterinary teleradiology. Vet Radiol Ultrasound. (2008) 49:S33-SS6.

6. Clark K. Innovation is key to the future success and sustainability of the veterinary profession. *Vet Rec.* (2017) 180:236. doi: 10.1136/vr.j1185

7. Hwang S, Song Y, Kim J. Evaluation of AI-assisted telemedicine service using a mobile pet application. *Appl Sci.* (2021) 11:2707. doi: 10.3390/app11062707

8. Murphy T. Telemedicine's challenge: getting patients to click the app. *AP News.* (2019) 2:7. Available online at: https://apnews.com/article/ap-top-news-us-news-health-n orth-america-business-7baf70c5ce2c4f0eb928596aa1ac5e6b (accessed January 09, 2023).

9. Mills G. Telemedicine survey reveals vets' concerns. Vet Rec. (2018) 182:445. doi: 10.1136/vr.k1725

10. Sprague L. Telehealth: into the mainstream? *NHPF*. (2014) 853:1–15. Available online at: https://hsrc.himmelfarb.gwu.edu/sphhs_centers_nhpf/285/ (accessed January 09, 2023).

11. Pathak A, Kumar D. Telehealth in India: helping to achieve health for all. *Vet Rec.* (2017) 180:572–3. doi: 10.1136/vr.j2219

12. Martinelli M. Digital imaging advances and the future. Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract. (2001) 17:275–95. doi: 10.1016/S0749-0739(17)30062-7

13. Ullrich L. Radiologie auf modernen (Ab)wegen [Radiology (gone astray) on modern paths]. *Der Radiologe*. (2021) 61:1028–30. doi: 10.1007/s00117-021-00914-3

14. Spieren S. Jetzt kommt es auf uns Hausärzte an! Coronavirus in Deutschland. MMW Fortschritte der Medizin. (2020) 162:41. doi: 10.1007/s15006-020-0338-6

15. Devi S, Singh RD, Ghasura RS, Sharma MK, Sharma MC. Telemedicine: a new rise of hope to animal health care sector - A Review. Agricultural Reviews (2015). 36(2). p. 153–158. doi: 10.5958/0976-0741.2015.00018.5

16. Gyles C. Veterinary telemedicine. Can Vet J. (2019) 60:119.

17. ECCVT Report. European Coordinating Committee on Veterinary Training. Report of the ECCVT expert working group on the impact of digital technologies & artificial intelligence in veterinary education and practice. Available online at: http://www.veterinary.ankara.edu.tr/wp-content/uploads/sites/593/2020/10/EK-4.pdf (accessed January 10, 2022).

18. Iivari N, Sharma S, Ventä-Olkkonen L. Digital transformation of everyday life-How COVID-19 pandemic transformed the basic education of the young generation and why information management research should care? *Int J Inf Manage.* (2020) 55:102183. doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2020.102183

19. Nagel L. The influence of the COVID-19 pandemic on the digital transformation of work. *Int J Sociol Soc Policy*. (2020) 40:861–75. doi: 10.1108/IJSSP-07-2020-0323

20. Wagman BA. Animal law, shelters, and veterinary care in the time of the virus. In: *Animal Law*. Portland, OR: Joe Christensen, Inc. (2020). p. 13.

21. Teller LM, Moberly HK. Veterinary telemedicine: a literature review. Vet Evid. (2020). 5:1–26. doi: 10.18849/ve.v5i4.349

22. Scott Kruse C, Karem P, Shifflett K, Vegi L, Ravi K, Brooks M. Evaluating barriers to adopting telemedicine worldwide: a systematic review. Journal of telemedicine and telecare (2018) 24:4–12. doi: 10.1177/1357633X16674087

23. Mars M, Auer REJ. Telemedicine in veterinary practice. J S Afr Vet Assoc. (2006) 77:75–8. doi: 10.4102/jsava.v77i2.348

24. Schur LA, Ameri M, Kruse D. Telework after COVID-19: a "silver lining" for workers with disabilities? *J Occup Rehabil.* (2020) 30:521–36. doi: 10.1007/s10926-020-09936-5

25. Okubo T. Spread of COVID-19 and telework: evidence from Japan. COVID-19 Econo. (2020) 32:1-25.

26. Australasian for HIV. Viral Hepatitis and Sexual Health Medicine, Telehealth Practice Online Survey. (2020) Available online at: https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/COVID-19Telehealth (accessed October 1, 2021).

27. Dessauer Zukunftskreis. *Studie Digitalisierte Veterinärmedizin Status Quo.* (2020). Available online at: https://www.dessauer-zukunftskreis.de/fileadmin/zukunftskreis_2016/files_open/Studie_Digitalisierte_Vetmed_2020_TK_JH.pdf (accessed December 15, 2020).

28. DAK-Gesundheit. Ärzte Zeitung. Digitalisierung im Gesundheitswesen: Skepsis von Ärztinnen und Ärzten überwinden. Available online at: https://www.dak.de/dak/bundesthemen/digitalisierung-im-gesundheitswesen-skepsis-von-aerztinnen-und-aerzten-ueberwinden-2524736.html#/ (accessed April 15, 2020).

29. Lenzner T, Neuert C, Otto W. Kognitives Pretesting. Mannheim, GESIS – Leibniz-Institut für Sozialwissenschaften (SDM Survey Guidelines). GESIS-Leibnitz Institute for the Social Sciences, Mannheim, Germany (2015).

30. Hawk C. Veterinary Telemedicine Perception and Utilization Intention. University of Tennessee Honors Thesis Projects (2018). Available online at: https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_chanhonoproj/2234 (accessed October, 2021).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stephen Smith, Geospatial Research Services, United States

REVIEWED BY Saurabh Gupta, GLA University, India Folorunso Oludayo Fasina, University of Pretoria, South Africa

*CORRESPONDENCE Shlomo Eduardo Blum ⊠ shlomobl@moag.gov.il Gabriel Leitner ⊠ leiterg1@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal

Frontiers in Veterinary Science RECEIVED 25 October 2022

ACCEPTED 15 February 2023 PUBLISHED 13 March 2023

CITATION

Blum SE, Krifuks O, Weisblith L, Fleker M, Lavon Y, Zuckerman A, Hefer Y, Goldhor O, Gilad D, Schcolnic T and Leitner G (2023) Evaluation of acoustic pulse technology as a non-antibiotic therapy for bovine intramammary infections: Assessing bacterial cure vs. recovery from inflammation. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10:1079269. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1079269

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Blum, Krifuks, Weisblith, Fleker, Lavon, Zuckerman, Hefer, Goldhor, Gilad, Schcolnic and Leitner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Evaluation of acoustic pulse technology as a non-antibiotic therapy for bovine intramammary infections: Assessing bacterial cure vs. recovery from inflammation

Shlomo Eduardo Blum^{1*}, Oleg Krifuks¹, Limor Weisblith¹, Marcelo Fleker¹, Yaniv Lavon², Alon Zuckerman³, Yochai Hefer⁴, Omri Goldhor⁵, Dani Gilad⁶, Tal Schcolnic⁶ and Gabriel Leitner^{6*}

¹Department of Bacteriology, Kimron Veterinary Institute, Bet Dagan, Israel, ²Israel Cattle Breeders Association, Caesarea, Israel, ³Gal-Yam Dairy Farm, Kfar Glikson, Israel, ⁴Nofim Dairy Farm, Gazit, Israel, ⁵Haemek Dairy Farm, Yifat, Israel, ⁶Armenta Ltd., Ra'anana, Israel

Introduction: The spread of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is a major threat to human and animal health. Therefore, new solutions are needed to prevent returning to a world without effective antibiotics. Mastitis in dairy cows is a major reason for antimicrobial use in food animal production, and mastitis-causing bacteria have the potential to develop AMR. In this study, acoustic pulse technology (APT) was explored as an alternative to antimicrobials for the treatment of mastitis in dairy cows. APT involves the local transmission of mechanical energy through soundwaves which stimulate anti-inflammatory and angiogenic responses in the udder. These responses promote udder recovery and enhance resistance to bacterial infections.

Methods: We examined 129 Israeli dairy cows with mastitis in this prospective, controlled study to assess the efficiency of APT treatment on *cure* and *recovery* rates. An accurate diagnosis of suspected or confirmed infectious mastitis was made from cows having clinical signs of mastitis and/or somatic cell count (SCC) of above 400,000 cells/mL. The cows were divided into three groups: Group 1 (n = 29), cows with no bacterial findings (NBF); Group 2 (n = 82), cows with clinical signs of mastitis or SCC > 400,000 cells/mL in the most recent test; and Group 3 (n = 18), cows with chronic mastitis (two or more tests with SCC > 400,000 cells/mL within 3 months). All the cows received APT treatment, which involved 400 pulses on two sides of the infected quarter, delivered in three phases over 3 days. The *cure* for the mammary gland was indicated by the absence of bacterial growth in post-treatment cultures and *recovery* by a decrease in SCC to <250,000 cells/mL in two of three post-treatment tests.

Results and discussion: In Group 2, cure and recovery rates were 67.1 and 64.6%, respectively, and were not significantly different between Gram-negative and Gram-positive infections. A similar recovery rate was found in NBF cows. However, in cows with chronic mastitis, both the cure and recovery rates were significantly lower (22.2 and 27.8%, respectively). These results have important implications for dairy farmers, as APT treatment could lead to substantial savings of up to

\$15,106/year in a 100-cow herd, considering the national estimated prevalence of mastitis and the cost of individual treatment. APT should be further investigated as a viable and sustainable alternative to antimicrobial therapy for mastitis, offering economic benefits to dairy producers and the possibility of preventing AMR.

KEYWORDS

acoustic pulse technology, mastitis, bacteriology, cure, recovery, dairy cow, intramammary infection, antibiotic alternatives

1. Introduction

Mastitis is a common disease among dairy cows and a major problem in dairy production worldwide. It is the leading cause of antibiotic use in cows, and the high prevalence of mastitis may contribute to the development of antibiotic resistance (1, 2). The main cause of mastitis in dairy cows is an intramammary bacterial infection. While various bacterial species may cause mastitis in dairy cows, most cases involve a single species. Clearing the infecting bacteria from the mammary gland, either naturally or through treatment, is key to the healing process. The term "cure" is often used to address bacterial clearance in mastitis, i.e., no bacteria were isolated in the follow-up tests after the infecting pathogen had been identified in the first test. It is used mainly to assess the success of antibiotic treatments. However, tissue damage caused by either the infecting bacteria or the inflammation process, as well as the detrimental effects of mastitis on udder function and milk quality, may persist long after bacterial clearance. Therefore, cure and actual recovery of the mammary gland to its physiological status prior to mastitis are distinct outcomes. In many cases, the mammary gland remains inflamed, with reduced milk yield and altered milk quality regardless of bacterial cure (3). Continuous decreases in milk yield and quality can often result in the farmer choosing to dry off the affected gland or even cull the animal for economic losses.

Acoustic pulse technology (APT) has been recently adapted specifically for the treatment of mastitis in dairy cows (4). APT uses repeated projectile collision with an anvil connected to the treatment head to produce low-incidence shockwaves (acoustic pulses), which are transferred non-invasively to the affected mammary gland tissues. The main goal of APT treatment is to trigger the body's self-healing mechanisms to repair damaged tissues (5). In terms of mastitis, APT mainly aims to promote the recovery of the mammary gland, that is, a decrease in somatic cell count (SCC) back to the normal level (<250,000/mL) within days or weeks, without a major decrease (<10%) in milk yield (for at least two of three follow-up monthly milk measurements) following treatment. APT also promotes increased activation of the immune system (6). Hence, a secondary goal of APT treatment is to facilitate bacterial clearance or cure. (7). Currently, antibiotics are becoming less available to farmers due to consumers' growing awareness of animal welfare and the spread of bacteria with antimicrobial resistance (AMR) (8, 9). Therefore, APT could be an alternative to antibiotic treatment in bovine to treat mastitis, especially during lactation, when antibiotics must be evidence-based to encourage their judicious use (10) or when their cost-effectiveness is limited due to the retrieval time.

The present study was built upon a previous large-scale retrospective analysis that examined data from the Israeli Dairy Herd Book, which included 123,985 cows from 650 herds. The previous study evaluated two types of mastitis recovery (i) "spontaneous recovery" from mastitis (inflammation) and (ii) recovery from mastitis following antibiotic use (11). With the SCC threshold set at <100,000 cells/mL, only 10% of the cases showed spontaneous recovery, while with a threshold of <250,000 cells/mL, spontaneous recovery was observed in approximately 25% of cases; no significant difference was found between the rates of "spontaneous recovery" and recovery following antibiotic treatment. In addition, a retrospective analysis was performed that compared the effectiveness of APT treatment against no treatment in the cows with subclinical mastitis in commercial dairy farms. The analysis evaluated various factors, such as cure and recovery rates, culling rates, milk yield, and economic impact. It was found that the cows treated with APT had significantly higher cure and recovery rates [Lavon et al., (11) submitted]. However, the latter study had a major limitation regarding the assessment of cure rates due to a partial lack of follow-up tests. Specifically, the cows with a decrease in SCC and no sign of mastitis were not tested by bacteriological culture for the cure. This limitation was addressed in the present study, which aimed to assess, in a prospective trial, the effect of APT treatment in cows with clinical and subclinical mastitis on the cure and recovery rates and the correlation between them.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study layout

The study involved 129 Israeli Holstein cows from three commercial dairy herds. These cows had clinical and subclinical mastitis, with an average of 111 days in milk and 2.8 in lactation numbers, and no differences were observed between the three herds. Herd 1 had 700 lactating cows (Hafer dairy farm, Kibbutz Haogen, Israel), herd 2 had 1,200 lactating cows (Haemek dairy farm, Kibbutz Yifat, Israel), and herd 3 had 700 lactating cows (Nofim dairy farm, Kibbutz Gazit, Israel) (farm names mentioned with consent). The cows were housed in open sheds, fed a total mixed ration of 16.8% crude protein and 1.75 Mcal/kg dry matter, and milked three times daily, yielding approximately 12,500 L of milk at 305 days of lactation. The cows were selected for the study when they showed clinical signs of mastitis or subclinical mastitis identified by increased SCC (>400,000 cells/mL) in the routine monthly milk recording of the Dairy Herd Improvement

Program (DHI). The California Mastitis Test was used to identify the specifically affected quarters with subclinical mastitis. Milk samples were aseptically collected by trained farm personnel and tested at the "mastitis control" laboratory of the Israeli Dairy Board (Caesarea, Israel) and the bacteriology laboratory at the Kimron Veterinary Institute (Bet Dagan, Israel) for the presence and identification of the infecting bacteria. The cows were treated with APT and re-sampled for bacteriological culture after 20–25 days. The APT protocol involved adding 400 pulses on two sides of the infected quarter, delivered in three phases for 3 days at 2–3 day intervals (4, 12).

The analyzed data included information about the lactation number, days in milk (DIM), daily milk yield, SCC at the time of treatment, SCC and daily milk yield of the two previous and up to three monthly DHI milk tests after treatment (Herd Book of the Israeli Cattle Breeders Association, Caesarea, Israel), and management decisions regarding dry-off of infected glands or culling of cows. The cows were divided into three groups based on bacteriology results and mastitis type: Group 1 (n = 29), cows with clinical or recent subclinical mastitis (i.e., increased SCC in the last DHI test prior to treatment) and no bacterial finding (NBF) before treatment; Group 2 (n = 89), cows with clinical or recent subclinical mastitis and a bacterial finding; Group 3 (n =18), cows with chronic mastitis (i.e., increased SCC in more than one DHI monthly milk test before the study). The groups were first analyzed separately to assess the recovery rate for each. Then, a second analysis was performed on Groups 2 and 3 to assess bacterial cure rates and their correlation with recovery. Bacterial species were grouped as either Gram-positive or Gram-negative. The recovery rate was calculated based on SCC at up to 3 months post-treatment, using SCC <250,000 cells/mL as the threshold. A cow was considered "recovered" if its SCC was lower than this threshold on two out of the three test days post-treatment. The cure rate was defined as the absence of the bacterial species found in the milk sample before APT treatment in the same quarter, but for a more stringent analysis, even the growth of a different bacterial species was not considered a cure.

2.2. Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using the GLIMMIX procedure of SAS (SAS Institute, version 9.1, 2009). The analyses were conducted separately to calculate cure and recovery rates. To calculate recovery rates for all three groups (n = 129), we used the general form: recovery = herd + group + parity + DIM + error, where herd = the three different dairy farms, Group = 1 to 3 as described above, parity = 1st, 2nd, or 3rd and more lactations, and DIM = days in milk as a continuous effect. To calculate cure rates in Groups 2 and 3 (n = 100), we used the general form: cured = herd + Group + parity + DIM + error, where: herd = the three different dairy farms, Group = 2, 3 only, parity = 1st, 2nd, or 3rd and more lactations, and DIM = days in milk as a continuous effect. The third analysis tested cure rates according to bacterial type (Gramnegative, n = 23, or Gram-positive, n = 77) with the model: cured = bacterial type + parity + DIM + error, where bacterial type = Gram-positive or Gram-negative, parity = 1st, 2nd or 3rd, and more lactations, and DIM = days in milk as a continuous effect. Linear correlations between cured and recovered according to the bacterial type were conducted with the PROC CORR procedure of SAS (SAS Institute, version 9.1, 2009), and the data were presented as means and SEM.

3. Results

Neither the herd nor parity or DIM impacted cure or recovery rates. Before APT treatment, 100 cows were identified with an intramammary bacterial infection. Of these, 82 cows had clinical or recent subclinical mastitis (Group 2), 18 cows had chronic subclinical mastitis (Group 3), and 29 cows with clinical or recent subclinical mastitis had no bacterial findings (Group 1).

The bacterial cure rate at 20–25 days after APT treatment and mastitis recovery rates, including Groups 2 and 3 (n = 100 cows), are summarized according to bacterial species in Table 1. The overall cure rate was 59%, with a higher rate for Gram-negative bacteria (77.7%) compared to Gram-positive bacteria (40.0%) (P< 0.02). The overall recovery rate was similar to the cure rate, showing the same trend, with a higher rate for Gram-negative bacteria (81.0%) compared to Gram-positive bacteria (35.2%). The relationship between bacterial cure and mastitis recovery was weak, with cure and recovery occurring simultaneously in only 44% of the cows.

The second analysis examined each group separately because there was an interaction between Groups 2 and 3 and Gramnegative and Gram-positive findings. The overall cure and recovery rates for Group 2 were 67.1 and 64.6%, respectively, exhibiting a weak relationship (0.35, Table 2). The cure rates for Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria (85.7 and 60.7%, respectively) were not statistically significant (P > 0.05), and the same was true for the recovery rates (76.2 and 60.7%, respectively). The results for recovery in Group 1 (NBF) were similar, with a rate of 72.4%. The cure rate could not be determined due to the absence of bacterial isolation prior to treatment. In contrast, the cure and recovery rates for Group 3 (chronic subclinical mastitis) were significantly lower, at 22.2 and 27.8%, respectively, with a correlation of 0.56. Only Gram-positive bacteria were isolated from the cows in Group 3.

The trends in SCC are depicted in Figure 1. The mean SCC before treatment in Group 2 and Group 1 was <log 5, increasing to >log 6 and returning to log <5.5 (i.e., <250,000 cells/mL) for the three DHI monthly milk recordings. Milk yield in these groups increased after treatment within 2 months following treatment (Figure 2). In contrast, the trend in SCC and milk yield was different for Group 3 (chronic subclinical mastitis). The mean SCC in the 2 months before treatment was >log 6; on average, SCC levels were similar after and before treatment. However, daily milk yield gradually decreased after treatment.

4. Discussion

The main factors affecting the successful treatment of mastitis are pathogen species, host factors such as genetics, the immune and physiological status that affect the host's ability to cope with the infecting pathogen, and the time from infection establishment

Bacteriology finding	Pretreatment (<i>n</i>)	Post-treatment		Cure ^a	Recovery
		Same species isolated ^c	Different species isolated ^c		
Escherichia coli	22	4.5% (1)	13.6% (3)	81%	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	1	100% (1)		0%	
Total Gram-negative	23			78.3% (18)	82.6% (19)
Streptococcus dysgalactiae	15	26.7% (4)		73.3%	
Streptococcus uberis	15	46.7% (7)	13.3% (2)	40%	
Enterococcus spp.	7	85.7% (6)		14.3%	
Total Streptococcus spp.	37			48.6% (18)	43.2% (16)
Staphylococcus haemolyticus	14	57.1% (8)		42.8%	
Staphylococcus chromogens	10	30% (3)	50% (5)	20%	
Other coag-neg. Staphylococcus ^b	14	14.3% (2)		85.7%	
Total Staphylococcus spp.	38			52.6% (20)	57.9% (22)
Trueperella pyogenes	2		100% (2)	0%	
Total Gram-positive	77			49.4% (38)	49.3% (38)
Total	100			56% (56)	57% (57)

TABLE 1 Bacterial species found in Groups 2 and 3 (n = 100) before APT treatment, rates of same or different findings following treatment, respective cures at 20–25 days, and recovery rates up to 3 months.

^aCure = No bacteria were isolated following treatment.

^b Staphlococcus epidermidis (3), Staphlococcus hyicus (1), Staphlococcus simulans (1), Staphlococcus microti (1), and unidentified coagulase-negative staphylococci (8).

^cPercentage and number of cases in which the same bacterial species listed in "Bacteriolgy finding" was isolated after treatment or a different species.

Bold values are a total for the corresponding pathogen group.

to treatment initiation. "Spontaneous cure"—when the pathogen is eliminated by the mammary gland immune system without external intervention—occurs only in ~20% of cases (11), but this rate varies greatly depending on the infecting bacteria. Antibiotic therapy is the most common method of eliminating intramammary infections (1, 2, 13) with various degrees of success. However, the extensive use of antibiotics in treating and preventing intramammary infections may contribute to the development of AMR (14). With increasing consumer awareness and regulatory action aimed at preventing the spread of AMR bacteria, such as the European Union's strategies and action plans for reducing antibiotic overuse (15), antibiotics are becoming less available for use in livestock production, including mastitis therapy (9, 16).

Moreover, due to the high cost of antibiotic treatment during lactation (due to the need to discard milk for the retention period), many cows without a life-threatening infection are treated only at dry-off, thus becoming chronically infected. In these chronically infected cows, tissue damage worsens over time, resulting in lower milk yield and quality (17–20). These cows are the hardest to treat, and even antibiotic therapy often fails to clear the infection.

In the present study, we emphasized the difference between bacterial *cure* and *recovery* from mastitis. Cure relates to the clearance of infection, often measured as a lack of bacterial isolation in follow-up tests, for example, after treatment. Cure rates reported following antibiotic therapy differ greatly (from 4 to 92%) depending on the pathogen species, the antibiotics studied, and the methods used to detect and follow-up intramammary infections (and their cure), such as the number of samplings and the laboratory technique used for the isolation and identification of pathogens (21). When the cause of mastitis was Gram-negative bacteria, antimicrobial treatment did not improve the outcome of the infection (22, 23).

Healing (recovery) is usually less studied. In the context of mastitis, recovery can be measured by inflammation parameters, with SCC being the most common and well-established one. Because SCC is also used as a milk quality parameter, it has a direct economic impact on the farm. The mammary gland often remains inflamed for a long time following mastitis, regardless of the presence of the infecting bacteria that triggered the inflammation in the first place (24, 25). This, in turn, leads to prolonged lower milk yield and quality and the eventual need to dry off the affected quarter or even cull the cow, based on the farmer's cost-benefit judgment (26-28). In a review by Ruegg (29), it was concluded that "associations between bacteriological cure and clinical outcomes are very weak" and "evaluation of continued decline in guarterlevel SCC appears to be the most reliable indicator of success." If the mammary gland tissue has suffered extensive destruction or damage caused directly by the pathogen or the inflammation, milk production and its quality can be affected for a long time despite a bacterial cure. Thus, even though bacterial clearance from the mammary gland is key to healing, it does not ensure the total recovery of the gland's physiological status.

The effectiveness of using APT to treat mastitis in dairy cows has been recently explored (4, 7, 12, 11, submitted), with the major goal of promoting recovery from inflammation rather than curing an intramammary infection. The results in these studies showed 65–75% recovery of cows, which is similar to the results of the present study for Groups 1 and 2 (clinical and recent subclinical mastitis, either with or without detected infection). Although cure was attained in most cows in Group

			Cure ^a				Recovery ^b					
Variable	Level	Cows #	LSM diff ^c	$REF \ level^d$	<i>P</i> -value	SE	LSM diff	REF level	P-value	SE		
Herd	1	18	-	0.667	-	-	-	0.709	-	-		
	2	41	-0.188		0.967	0.136	-0.107		0.685	0.1		
	3	41	-0.009		1	0.13	-0.174		1	0.095		
Parity	1	25	-	0.554	-	-	-	0.694	-	-		
	2	19	0.104		1	0.16	-0.08		1	0.117		
	3+	56	-0.043		1	0.114	-0.152		0.559	0.082		
Bact_BT ^e	NBF	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.724	-	-		
	Gram+	78	-	0.4	-	-	-0.186		0.54	0.057		
	Gram-	22	0.377		0.019	0.039	0.003		0.99	0.097		
Group	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.724	-	-		
	2	82	-	0.81	-	-	-0.078		0.954	0.053		
	3	18	-0.458		0.005	0.181	-0.446		0.05	0.109		

TABLE 2 The results of the generalized mixed model used to estimate the effect of APT treatment on cure and recovery rates in the cows (n = 129, 3 herds) with clinical or subclinical mastitis caused by Gram-negative or Gram-positive bacteria or without bacterial findings.

^aCure: No bacteria were isolated following treatment.

^bRecovery: Decrease in SCC in 2 out of 3 monthly tests post-treatment to <250,000 cells/mL.

^cValues in the Least Square Means (LSM) column are deviations from the reference levels.

^dReference levels for comparison of cure or recovery rates.

^eBact_BT: bacteriological finding before treatment.

Subclinical mastitis was determined by the pattern and level of SCC with a threshold of 400,000 cells/mL.



2 (67%), we found a low correlation with actual recovery (0.35). In \sim 14% of the cows in this group, bacterial infection was still detected, regardless of the recovery of the gland (based on the parameters of udder health used here), whereas in approximately 14% of the cows, no infection was further detected, but mammary gland health did not return to normal. In this study, the importance of the timing of treatment is emphasized by the results observed in Group 3, which included cows with chronic subclinical mastitis for at least 3 months. In these cows, both the cure and recovery rates were significantly lower (about 27%). Moreover, the significant difference in cure rates

in cases caused by Gram-positive bacteria between Groups 2 and 3 (i.e., between clinical or recent subclinical and chronic mastitis) highlights the notion that timing of mastitis identification and prompt treatment may be more important factors than bacterial type.

The results of the present study indicate that APT not only promotes tissue recovery after inflammation but also aids in bacterial clearance, helping to decrease the extent of tissue damage in the mammary gland and limit the spread of pathogens between cows and into the milk tank. A bacterial cure may be due to activation of the immune response, increased vascularization in



the mammary gland, or both. Thus, APT could be of value to the farms' current mastitis control programs and improve milk quality. For instance, an economic cost-benefit analysis was performed for treating subclinical mastitis with APT compared to no treatment [Lavon et al., (11) submitted]. For this estimate, the milk yield of a regular Israeli herd was estimated at 40 L/day on average, or 12,200 L/305 days, with an 18% prevalence of subclinical mastitis. The milk price was fixed at USD\$ 0.32/L, and the price for a replacement heifer was fixed at USD\$ 1,500. Under these parameters, the present findings suggest that APT could save up to USD\$ 15,106/year in mastitis control costs in a 100-cow herd.

The results of the present study highlight the importance of timely treatment of mastitis in dairy cows, as delays between detection and treatment, can significantly impact the success rate of the treatment. As APT is non-invasive and does not involve antibiotics, treatment can be performed during lactation soon after the detection of mastitis, thus potentially increasing the likelihood of success. Timely treatment can reduce the risk of antibiotic residues in milk and the need to dispose of waste milk. Additionally, early treatment can help reduce economic losses due to elevated SCC levels in bulk milk and improve animal welfare throughout the lactation period. Furthermore, early mastitis treatment can decrease the need for antibiotics later on during dry-off therapy, reducing the overall use of antibiotics in dairy production.

In addition to milk quality and safety for human consumption, the use of antibiotics to treat mastitis can affect the development and shedding of antibiotic-resistant bacteria in a herd. Previous research suggests that dry-cow therapy may increase the levels of antibiotic-resistant fecal bacteria in dairy cows (30). Furthermore, it is a common practice to feed calves waste milk, including milk that had to be discarded due to antibiotic treatment during lactation. Existing evidence shows that this can lead to an increase in the shedding of ESBL-producing *Escherichia coli* in calves (31). Hence, the risk of increasing the burden of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) due to antibiotic use for mastitis is multifaceted. Non-antibiotic alternatives to treat mastitis in dairy cows that reduce antibiotics in dairy products are beneficial in combating AMR from a broader "One Health" perspective. Selective dryoff therapy, which involves administering antibiotics only to infected mammary glands at the end of lactation, is one tool that has been proven to decrease the overall use of antibiotics in dairy farms (32). APT may have similar benefits. However, as APT is not an antibiotic, it does not necessarily require bacterial culture results for application. Therefore, APT should be explored further as an alternative therapy for mastitis in dairy cows.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Kimron Veterinary Institute institutional committee for ethical animal experimentation. Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

Author contributions

Study design, data analysis, and manuscript writing: SB and GL. Field work: AZ, YH, OG, DG, and TS. Laboratory work: OK, LW, and MF. Statistical analysis and graphics design: YL. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to the teams of the dairy herds for allowing us to conduct this study and for their technical assistance and care of the animals.

Conflict of interest

The APT apparatus and protocol used in this study were developed and provided by Armenta, Ra'anana, Israel. DG, TS, and GL are employees at Armenta. YL was employed by the company Israel Cattle Breeders Association. AZ was employed by the company Gal-Yam Dairy Farm. YH was employed by the company Nofim Dairy Farm. OG was employed by the company Haemek Dairy Farm.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Pol M, Ruegg PL. Treatment practices and quantification of antimicrobial drug usage in conventional and organic dairy farms in Wisconsin. *J Dairy Sci.* (2007) 90:249–61. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(07) 72626-7

2. Saini V, McClure JT, Leger D, Dufour S, Sheldon AG, Scholl DT, et al. Antimicrobial use on Canadian dairy farms. *J Dairy Sci.* (2012) 95:1209-21. doi: 10.3168/jds.2011-4527

3. Leitner G, Blum SE, Krifuchs O, Edery N, Meirin U. Correlation between milk bacteriology, cytology and mammary tissue histology in cows: cure from the pathogen or recovery from the inflammation. *Pathogen.* (2020) 9:2-11. doi: 10.3390/pathogens9050364

4. Leitner G, Zilberman D, Papirov E, Shefy S. Assessment of acoustic pulse therapy. (APT), a non-antibiotic treatment for dairy cows with clinical and subclinical mastitis. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0199195. doi: 10.1371/journal.pon e.0199195

5. d'Agostino M, Craig CK, Tibalt E, Respizzi S. Shock wave as biological therapeutic tool: from mechanical stimulation to recovery and healing, through mechanotransduction. *Int J Surg.* (2015) 24:147–53. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.201 5.11.030

6. Sukudo GN, Tibalt E, Respizzi S, Locati M, Cristina d'Agosino MM. Effect of shock waves on macrophages: a possible role in tissue regeneration and remodeling. *Int J Surg.* (2015) 24:124–30. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2015.07.719

7. Leitner G, Papirov E, Gilad D, Haran D, Arkin O, Zuckerman A, et al. New treatment option for clinical and subclinical mastitis in dairy cows using acoustic pulse technology. (APT). *Dairy*. (2021) 2:256–69. doi: 10.3390/dai ry2020022

8. Economou V, Gousia P. Agriculture and food animals as a source of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria. *Infect Drug Resist.* (2015) 8:49-61. doi: 10.2147/IDR. S55778

9. Magouras I, Carmo LP, Stärk KDC, Schüpbach-Regula G. Antimicrobial usage and -resistance in livestock: where should we focus? *Front Vet Sci.* (2017) 4:148. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2017.00148

10. Pyörälä S. Treatment of mastitis during lactation. Irish Vet J. (2009) 62:S40-4. doi: 10.1186/2046-0481-62-S4-S40

11. Lavon Y, Gilad D, Leitner G. Recovery rates of treated vs. non-treated dairy cows with subclinical mastitis. *Dairy*. (2021) 2:576-84. doi: 10.3390/dairy 2040045

12. Merin U, Leitner G, Jacoby S, Gilad D. Management of high cows-share-contribution of SCC to the bulk milk tank by acoustic pulse technology. (APT). *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 3:5747doi: 10.1371/journal.pon e.0255747

13. Halasa T, Huijps K, Østerås O, Hogeveen H. Economic effects of bovine mastitis and mastitis management: a review. *Vet Quart.* (2007) 29:18–31. doi: 10.1080/01652176.2007.9695224

14. Sawant AA, Hegde NV, Straley BA, Donaldson SC, Love BC, Knabel SJ, et al. Antimicrobial-resistant enteric bacteria from dairy cattle. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2007) 73:156–63. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01551-06

15. Bengtsson B, Greko C. Antibiotic resistance—consequences for animal health, welfare, and food production. *Upsala J Med Sci.* (2014) 119:96–102. doi: 10.3109/03009734.2014.901445

16. Krömker V, Leimbach S. Mastitis treatment—reduction in antibiotic usage in dairy cows. *Reprod Domest Anim.* (2017) 5:13032. doi: 10.1111/rd a.13032

17. Barbano DM, Ma Y, Santos MV. Influence of raw milk quality on fluid milk shelf life. *J Dairy Sci.* (2006) 89:E15–9. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06) 72360-8

18. Hagnestam-Nielsen C, Emanuelson U, Berglund B, Strandberg E. Relationship between somatic cell count and milk yield in different stages of lactation. *J Dairy Sci.* (2009) 92:3124–33. doi: 10.3168/jds.2 008-1719

19. Schukken YH, Hertl J, Bar D, Bennett GJ, Gonzalez RN, Rauch BJ, et al. Effects of repeated gram-positive and gram-negative clinical mastitis episodes on milk yield loss in Holstein dairy cows. *J Dairy Sci.* (2009) 92:3091–105. doi: 10.3168/jds.2 008-1557

20. Jamali H, Barkema HW, Jacques M, Lavallée-Bourget E, Malouin F, Saini V, et al. Invited review: Incidence, risk factors, and effects of clinical mastitis recurrence in dairy cows. *J Dairy Sci.* (2018) 101:4729–46. doi: 10.3168/jds.20 17-13730

21. Barkema HW, Schukken YH, Zadoks RN. Invited review: The role of cow, pathogen, and treatment regimen in the therapeutic success of bovine *Staphylococcus aureus* mastitis. *J Dairy Sci.* (2006) 89:1877–95. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06) 72256-1

22. Burvenich C, Van Merris V, Mehrzad J, Diez-Fraile A, Duchateau L. Severity of *E. coli* mastitis is mainly determined by cow factors. *Vet Res.* (2003) 34:521–64. doi: 10.1051/vetres:2003023

23. Pyörälä S, Kaartinen L, Käck H, Rainio V. Efficacy of two therapy regimens for treatment of experimentally induced *Escherichia coli* mastitis in cows. *J Dairy Sci.* (1994) 77:453–61. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(94)76973-3

24. Blum SE, Heller ED, Leitner G. Long term effects of *Escherichia coli*. Vet J. (2014) 201:72–7. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2014.04.008

25. Blum SE, Goldstone RJ, Connolly JPR, Répérant-Ferter M, Germon P, Inglis NF, et al. Post-genomic characterization of an essential genetic determinant of mammary pathogenic *Escherichia coli. mBio.* (2018) 9:18. doi: 10.1128/mBio.0 0423-18

26. Andersen S, Dohoo IR, Olde R, Riekerink R, Stryhn H. Diagnosing intramammary infections: evaluating expert opinions on the definition of intramammary infection using conjoint analysis. *J Dairy Sci.* (2010) 93:2966–75. doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-2726

27. Bradley AJ, Leach KA, Breen JE, Green LE, Green MJ. Survey on the incidence and aetiology of mastitis on dairy farms in England and Wales. *Vet Rec.* (2007) 160:253–7. doi: 10.1136/vr.160.8.253

28. Oliveira I., Hulland C, Ruegg PL. Characterization of clinical mastitis occurring in cows on 50 large dairy herds in Wisconsin. J Dairy Sci. (2013) 96:7538– 49. doi: 10.3168/jds.2012-6078 29. Ruegg PL. What is success? A narrative review of research evaluating outcomes of antibiotics used for treatment of clinical mastitis. *Front Vet Sci.* (2021) 8:639641. doi: 10.3389/fvets.20 21.639641

30. Mollenkopf DF, Glendening C, Wittum TE, Funk JA, Tragesser LA, Morley PS. Association of dry cow therapy with the antimicrobial susceptibility of fecal coliform bacteria in dairy cows. *Prev Vet Med.* (2010) 96:30–5. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.201 0.05.014

31. Brunton LA, Reeves HE, Snow LC, Jones JR. A longitudinal field trial assessing the impact of feeding waste milk containing antibiotic residues on the prevalence of ESBL-producing *Escherichia coli* in calves. *Prev Vet Med.* (2014) 117:403–12. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2014.08.005

32. Kabera F, Roy JP, Afifi M, Godden S, Stryhn H, Sanchez J, et al. Comparing blanket vs. selective dry cow treatment approaches for elimination and prevention of intramammary infections during the dry period: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Vet Sci.* (2021) 8:1–16. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.688450

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Levon Abrahamyan, Montreal University, Canada

REVIEWED BY Pawel Zmora, Polish Academy of Sciences, Poland Anna Katrina Hielm-Björkman, University of Helsinki, Finland

*CORRESPONDENCE Hayley D. Yaglom ⊠ hyaglom@tgen.org

[†]These authors share first authorship

⁺These authors share senior authorship

RECEIVED 14 February 2023 ACCEPTED 19 April 2023 PUBLISHED 05 May 2023

CITATION

Hecht G, Sarbo N, Svoboda W, Mead HL, Ruberto I, Altin JA, Engelthaler DM, Venkat H and Yaglom HD (2023) "Sniffing" out SARS-CoV-2 in Arizona working dogs: an exploratory serosurvey. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10:1166101. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1166101

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Hecht, Sarbo, Svoboda, Mead, Ruberto, Altin, Engelthaler, Venkat and Yaglom. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

"Sniffing" out SARS-CoV-2 in Arizona working dogs: an exploratory serosurvey

Gavriella Hecht^{1†}, Nathan Sarbo^{2†}, Wayne Svoboda³, Heather L. Mead², Irene Ruberto¹, John A. Altin², David M. Engelthaler², Heather Venkat^{1,4†} and Hayley D. Yaglom^{2,*†}

¹Arizona Department of Health Services, Phoenix, AZ, United States, ²Translational Genomics Research Institute, Flagstaff, AZ, United States, ³Hayden Road Animal Hospital, Scottsdale, AZ, United States, ⁴Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Center for Preparedness and Response, Career Epidemiology Field Officer Program, Atlanta, GA, United States

Susceptibility to and infection with SARS-CoV-2 in companion animals has been well-documented throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. Surveillance for the virus in dogs has largely been focused on household pets; however, other canine populations may also be impacted. We partnered with a local veterinary hospital with a high working dog patient volume to conduct viral and neutralizing antibody testing in working dogs and identify potential risk factors in the dog's work and home environments. Surveillance of SARS-CoV-2 in law enforcement and security working dogs in Arizona found 24.81% (32/129) of dogs to be seropositive. Thirteen dogs presenting with clinical signs or with reported exposure to COVID-19 in the 30days prior to sample collection were also tested by PCR; all samples were negative. 90.7% (n=117) of dogs were reported to be asymptomatic or have no change in performance at the time of sampling. Two dogs (1.6%) had suspected anosmia as reported by their handlers; one of which was seropositive. Known exposure to the dog's COVID-19 positive handler or household member was identified as a significant risk factor. Demographics factors including sex, altered status, and type of work were not associated with canine seropositivity. Further work is warranted to understand the impact of SARS-CoV-2 and other infectious diseases in working dogs.

KEYWORDS

SARS-CoV-2, working dogs, neutralizing antibodies, surveillance, detection dog, police dog

Introduction

Working dogs play a critical role in supporting the health and safety of the public. These dogs are trained to perform specific tasks and are employed in meaningful work, including protection, detection, and therapy (1). Protection dogs are employed in roles including police patrol and hospital security, while detection dogs are trained specifically in narcotic or explosives detection, and search and rescue. Dogs are also involved in therapeutic roles such as crisis response. Working dogs often go through initial training with their handler, who is then responsible for their continued training (2). Though some live in agency-run kennels, many working dogs live with their handler and often interact with members of the household.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, susceptibility to and infection with SARS-CoV-2 was well-documented in companion animals, including dogs (3, 4). Evidence continues to show that the risk of companion animals spreading the virus to people is low, but that dogs can become exposed through close contact with infected people (5–7). Dogs can have asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infection or develop a range of respiratory and gastrointestinal signs. The full extent of SARS-CoV-2 clinical presentation in dogs is still unclear, including whether they experience a loss in their sense of smell, a hallmark sign of COVID-19 in people specifically associated with the Alpha and Delta variants (8). While scent detection abilities may not be as important for pet dogs, working dogs rely on this function to carry out their daily duties (e.g., detecting illicit substances or locating missing persons).

Surveillance for SARS-CoV-2 in dogs has largely been focused on household pets. While surveillance has been conducted for a variety of infectious diseases, such as bartonellosis and Chagas in working dogs (9, 10), efforts to understand SARS-CoV-2 in this population have been minimal. The main objectives of the study were to (1) conduct viral and neutralizing antibody testing in working dogs to determine how the SARS-CoV-2 virus impacts this population, and (2) identify potential risk factors associated with exposure to the virus during interactions in their work and home environments. Additional aims included identifying whether a change in overall performance, including scent detection was observed, in dogs exposed to SARS-CoV-2, and understanding the short and longterm implications.

Methods

Recruitment and sample collection

Dogs were recruited from a veterinary hospital in Maricopa County, Arizona, which experiences a high working dog patient volume. Approval for this work was granted by TGen's Animal Care and Use Committee (#20163) and the ADHS's Human Subjects Review Board (#20-0017). Written consent was received from the handlers of the dogs sampled.

Working dogs presenting to the veterinary hospital for routine examinations, vaccinations, or clinical illness were recruited by the veterinary hospital staff. Serum collection via venipuncture was performed on all dogs; these samples were initially centrifuged and stored in the refrigerator for 48–72 h. Working dogs with known exposure to COVID-19 within the past 30 days or dogs exhibiting signs compatible with viral infection also had nasal and rectal swabs collected. Swab samples were placed in conical vials with 2mls of sterile phosphate-buffered saline and frozen until shipment. A short questionnaire was administered to collect demographic information (e.g., dog breed, age, and sex), type of work the dog was involved in, COVID-19 exposure status, and any signs or symptoms observed by the handler.

SARS-CoV-2 neutralizing antibody and viral testing

Serum was centrifuged at 2,500 rpm for 10 min upon arrival, aliquoted and tested for the presence of viral neutralizing antibodies (vNAbs) using the GenScript cPassTM SARS-CoV-2 Neutralizing Antibody assay per the manufacturer's instructions (11). This is a competitive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA); presence of vNAbs will prevent the binding of the receptor-binding domain to the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 coated wells, resulting in low optical density (OD). OD values were processed in R to produce inhibition (INH) percentage values (12). A sample was deemed positive if the INH value was \geq 30% (11).

SARS-CoV-2 genomic material was extracted from nasal and rectal swab samples using Zymo DNA/RNA extraction kits. Extracted material was tested using a previously described real-time polymerasechain reaction (rRT-PCR) assay (4, 13), developed and validated in-house, which targets the N and S protein of the virus. Samples were screened on the Bio-Rad CFX96 instrument after cDNA synthesis and denaturation; cycle threshold (Ct) values were generated to determine qualitative results. A sample was considered positive if Ct values for both targets were 38 or below.

Descriptive statistics were determined for breed, age, sex, altered status, type of work, health status, COVID-19 exposure status, SARS-CoV-2 serology, and PCR testing. Chi-square analysis was employed to assess the relationships between serology results and COVID-19 exposure status using SAS version 9.4.

Results were reported back to the veterinary hospital and the collaborating veterinarian communicated those to the handlers of the working dogs. If a working dog tested positive, recommendations regarding COVID-19 prevention strategies were provided to the handler. Handlers of seropositive dogs were also invited to participate in a semi-structured interview with project staff to gain a better understanding of canine medical history, household dynamics, and home and duty environments (14, 15).

Results

During November 2021 through June 2022, 129 working dogs were recruited into the study. Serum samples were collected from all 129 enrolled dogs. Paired nasal and rectal swabs were collected on 13/129 dogs (10.1%) with known exposure to COVID-19 within the past 30 days or if the dog exhibited signs compatible with viral infection. Repeat sampling was performed on 4/13 dogs (3.1%) due to new exposures to COVID-19 positive people and to confirm serology results.

Table 1 summarizes the demographics of the working dogs enrolled. Dogs ranged in age from 9 months to 10 years (average 4.5 years). Belgian Malinois (n=78) and German Shepherds (n=15) were the most common breeds of dog, comprising 72.1% of the study population, although other breeds were represented. A majority of the dogs (n=108) were intact males (63.6%) or spayed females (20.2%). Police patrol and detection was the most common role (43.4%, n=56), followed by detection only (24.8%, n=32), hospital patrol/security (16.3%, n=21), and police patrol only (12.4%, n=16).

90.7% (n=117) of sampled dogs were reported to be asymptomatic or have no change in performance as noted by their handler at the time of sampling. Twelve dogs (9.3%) had mild clinical signs, including vomiting, diarrhea, coughing, lethargy, and decreased performance. Six of the 12 dogs were symptomatic at the time of sampling and 6/12 dogs had symptoms previous to collection but within the month after handler's reported COVID-19 infection. Two of these dogs were diagnosed with Valley Fever. Of the 12 dogs, 1.6% (n=2) were reported by their handlers to have "missed known finds," indicating potentially compromised scent detection ability (i.e., suspected anosmia). Evidence of neutralizing antibodies was present TABLE 1 Characteristics and SARS-CoV-2 testing results of working dogs in Arizona (*N*=129).

Characteristics/testing results	Number (%)							
Age								
\leq 3 years	42 (32.6)							
4–6 years	58 (44.9)							
7–10 years	29 (22.5)							
Breed								
Belgian Malinois (pure or mixed)	78 (60.5)							
German Shepherd (pure or mixed)	15 (11.6)							
Retriever (Labrador, Golden, or mixed)	21 (16.3)							
Other (e.g., Bloodhound, Dutch Shepherd,								
Pointer)	15 (11.6)							
Sex/altered status								
Intact male	82 (63.6)							
Intact female	4 (3.1)							
Male/neutered	17 (13.2)							
Female/spayed sex/altered status	26 (20.1)							
Type of work								
Police patrol (only)	16 (12.4)							
Police patrol and detection	56 (43.4)							
Detection* (only)	32 (24.8)							
Hospital patrol/security**	21 (16.3)							
Other (e.g., emotional support, crisis	4 (3.1)							
response)	- ()							
Health status of dog (at time of sam COVID-19 infection)	pling or after handler's							
Asymptomatic	117 (90.7)							
Respiratory (e.g., coughing, difficulty breathing)	4 (3.1)							
Gastrointestinal signs (e.g., vomiting, diarrhea)	3 (2.3)							
Decreased scent detection	2 (1.6)							
Other (e.g., general lethargy, decreased performance)	3 (2.3)							
Known exposure to SARS-Cov-2***								
Yes	69 (53.5)							
No/unknown	60 (46.5)							
Evidence of SARS-CoV-2 vNAbs								
Yes	32 (24.8)							
No	97 (75.2)							
SARS-CoV-2 viral PCR detection								
Yes	0 (0.0)							
No	13 (10.1)							
Not tested by SARS-CoV-2 PCR	116 (89.9)							
,	. ,							

*Includes search and rescue, narcotic, bomb, pest, and cadaver detection.

**Includes two explosive detection dogs in the hospital setting.

***Includes exposure to a person with COVID-19 compatible symptoms or a person with a COVID-19 positive test.

in 24.8% (n = 32) of dogs; one (3.1%) of which had suspected anosmia. All 13 dogs tested by PCR was negative.

53.5% (69/129) of working dogs had known or suspected exposure to SARS-CoV-2 (e.g., handler had COVID-19), while 46.5% (60/129) had no documented exposures in their home or duty environment (Table 1). Of the 69 dogs with known exposure, 43 (62.3%) had an exposure within the 6 months prior to sampling (range 1–14 months, median 3–6 months between exposure and sampling). Assessment of exposure to SARS-CoV-2 specifically among the 32 seropositive dogs showed that 22 (68.8%) dogs had documented exposure, while 10 dogs (31.3%) did not. Working dogs with known or suspected exposure were more likely to test seropositive compared to those with no reported exposure based on chi-square analysis (68.8% vs. 31.3%, χ^2 = 3.9525, *p* < 0.05), illustrated in Figure 1. Demographics factors including sex, age, altered status, and type of work were not associated with canine seropositivity. The timeframe between known SARS-CoV-2 exposure and sample collection date was also not found to be statistically significant.

Project staff conducted in-depth interviews with handlers for 40.6% (13/32) of seropositive dogs. All 13 dogs lived in the home of their handler; 92.3% were single family homes and 76.9% of homes had additional household members. Documented or suspected exposure to SARS-Cov-2 in the home environment was identified for all 13 (100%) dogs. It was further reported that these dogs, when off duty, had frequent and close interactions with their handler and other household members. While in a duty environment, 69.2% of dogs had regular interaction with their human co-workers (e.g., other law enforcement officers), but less than a quarter (23.1%) of dogs interacted with members of the public (e.g., during community events or in hospitals). Interviews also identified a recent history of valley fever in four (30.8%) dogs.

Discussion

Working dogs bring diverse and critical skill sets to the law enforcement, military, and search and rescue environment, ultimately helping to protect the health and safety of the public (2). Given the nature of their work, these dogs are at risk of potential exposure to diseases and other health threats. Since the beginning of the pandemic, numerous studies have conducted SARS-CoV-2 surveillance in companion animals (3, 4, 6), however, to the authors knowledge, this is the first study to include a working dog cohort.

The authors originally hypothesized that working dogs may have a higher risk of SARS-CoV-2 exposure (and therefore likelihood of infection) due to their unique and expanded interactions in their duty environment compared to pet dogs. However, the results of this study are comparable with previous surveillance studies in pet dogs (3, 6, 13) and continue to support that close contact with people in a home or work environment (in this case COVID-19 positive handlers), are likely the main driver of SARS-CoV-2 exposure in dogs. The type of work and duty environment did not play a significant role in seropositivity of enrolled working dogs, which further disproves the original hypothesis. However, 31.3% (10/32) of dogs that were seropositive did not have a documented exposure. Of these 10 dogs, five were dual purpose (police patrol and detection), three were detention only, one did police patrol work only, and one was engaged in hospital security. This work highlights that working dog exposure to COVID-19 could occur unknowingly. Additionally, the true clinical impact and symptom manifestation, specifically loss of smell


in dogs, has yet to be fully understood, given only two dogs enrolled in this study had reported anosmia.

There are a few noteworthy limitations to report. First, samples were collected from dogs as they visited the veterinary clinic for routine examination, vaccination, and only in some cases onset of clinical illness. The timing of sample collection, therefore, did not specifically correlate with possible SARS-CoV-2 exposure (although this data point was captured), and further explains why only a small number of enrolled dogs had swab samples collected. Second, the single-dilution SARS-CoV-2 neutralizing antibody assay used in this study does provide only a semiquantitative measurement of antibody response and is not able to differentiate between a viral exposure that occurred more recently (e.g., 3 months) versus an exposure that occurred 6 months or more prior. Therefore, we were unable to pinpoint the exact timeframe of the dog's exposure, unless clearly linked with known human positive cases in the household. An additional limitation is that complete information about potential exposures, work and home environment, and other risk factors were not captured for every dog enrolled. This limitation was recognized by the authors, and the study was designed to capture limited information from the canine handlers since the veterinary clinic was responsible for enrollment, consent, and sample collection. The goal was for the protocol to be minimally burdensome to the staff and fit into their standard operating procedures.

Exposure to varying endemic zoonotic diseases has been previously investigated in working dogs, and continuing this type of surveillance for emerging diseases, like SARS-CoV-2, in this population is important. Although only reported in a limited number of dogs, this study also sheds light on the potential for working dogs to diminish or lose their sense of smell after SARS-CoV-2 exposure. Further investigation in this area is needed to understand the impact that SARS-CoV-2 may have on this population of dogs' work capacity. Agencies that deploy working dogs routinely assess scent detection capabilities during training, however these detection and mitigation plans may need revision. Additionally, this work can inform veterinary practices, policy development (e.g., mandatory SARS-CoV-2 vaccination for working dogs), and guide further management and prevention efforts that may be unique to this canine population (16).

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The animal study was reviewed and approved by TGen's Animal Care and Use Committee (#20163). Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

Author contributions

GH, HY, and HV designed and coordinated the surveillance study with collaborating veterinary hospital. GH, NS, and HY led the

preparation of the manuscript, including tables and figures. WS collected samples and data from dogs, as well as provided feedback on the manuscript. NS conducted the laboratory testing of the samples. IR provided guidance on analyses and reviewed manuscript. HM, JA, and DE provided technical support and oversaw the laboratory and surveillance efforts. Additionally, HM, JA, and DE provided important revisions to the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported in part by an appointment to the Applied Epidemiology Fellowship Program administered by the Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists (CSTE) and funded by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Cooperative Agreement Number 1NU38OT000297-03-00.

Acknowledgments

The authors greatly appreciate the staff at Hayden Road Animal Clinic for their dedication to this project, and their role in

References

1. McMichael MA, Singletary M. Introduction to working dogs. Vet Clin N Am Small Anim Pract. (2021) 51:xiii-xviii. doi: 10.1016/j.cvsm.2021.04.015

2. Hall NJ, Johnston AM, Bray EE, Otto CM, MacLean EL, Udell MAR. Working dog training for the twenty-first century. *Front Vet Sci.* (2021) 8:646022. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.646022

3. Hamer SA, Pauvolid-Corrêa A, Zecca IB, Davila E, Auckland LD, Roundy CM, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infections and viral isolations among serially tested cats and dogs in households with infected owners in Texas, USA. *Viruses.* (2021) 13:938. doi: 10.3390/v13050938

4. Yaglom HD, Hecht G, Goedderz A, Jasso-Selles D, Ely JL, Ruberto I, et al. Genomic investigation of a household SARS-CoV-2 disease cluster in Arizona involving a cat, dog, and pet owner. *One Health (Amsterdam, Netherlands)*. (2021) 13:100333. doi: 10.1016/j. onehlt.2021.100333

5. Calvet GA, Pereira SA, Ogrzewalska M, Pauvolid-Corrêa A, Resende PC, de Tassinari WS, et al. Investigation of SARS-CoV-2 infection in dogs and cats of humans diagnosed with COVID-19 in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *PloS One.* (2021) 16:e0250853. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0250853

6. Meisner J, Baszler TV, Kuehl KE, Ramirez V, Baines A, Frisbie LA, et al. Household transmission of SARS-CoV-2 from humans to pets, Washington and Idaho, USA. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2022) 28:2425–34. doi: 10.3201/eid2812.220215

7. Tan CCS, Lam SD, Richard D, Owen CJ, Berchtold D, Orengo C, et al. Transmission of SARS-CoV-2 from humans to animals and potential host adaptation. *Nature. Communications.* (2022) 13. doi: 10.1038/s41467-022-30698-6

8. Lin L, Liu Y, Tang X, He D. The disease severity and clinical outcomes of the SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern. *Frontiers. Public Health.* (2021) 9. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.775224 specifically consenting handlers and collecting samples. We thank the canine handlers for participating in this project. We also acknowledge Bridget Barker for her support of the project as well as Michael Sprenkle, Jenn Ely, and Payton Smith for assisting with the laboratory work.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

9. Davis AZ, Jaffe DA, Honadel TE, Lapsley WD, Wilber-Raymond JL, Kasten RW, et al. Prevalence of Bartonella sp. in United States military working dogs with infectious endocarditis: a retrospective case-control study. *Journal of veterinary cardiology: the official journal of the European Society of Veterinary Cardiology.* (2020) 27:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jvc.2019.11.005

10. Meyers AC, Purnell JC, Ellis MM, Auckland LD, Meinders M, Hamer SA. Nationwide Exposure of U.S. Working Dogs to the Chagas Disease Parasite, Trypanosoma cruzi. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2020) 102:1078–85. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.19-0582

11. Meyer B, Reimerink J, Torriani G, Brouwer F, Godeke G-J, Yerly S, et al. Validation and clinical evaluation of a SARS-CoV-2 surrogate virus neutralisation test (sVNT). *Emerg Microb Inf.* (2020) 9:2394–403. doi: 10.1080/22221751.2020.1835448

12. RStudio Team. (2020). RStudio: integrated development for R. RStudio, PBC, Boston, MA. Available from: http://www.rstudio.com/

13. Venkat H, Yaglom HD, Hecht G, Goedderz A, Ely JL, Sprenkle M, et al. Investigation of SARS-CoV-2 infection among companion animals in households with confirmed human COVID-19 cases. Pathogens, in-draft (2022).

14. Robson C. Real World Research: A Resource for Social Scientists and Practitioner-Researchers. 2nd ed Blackwell Publishers (2002).

15. Wildemuth BM. Applications of Social Research Methods to Questions in Information and Library Science. Santa Barbara, California: Libraries Unlimited (2009).

16. What You Should Know about COVID-19 and Pets | Healthy Pets, Healthy People | CDC. (2022, August 23). Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/healthypets/covid-19/ pets.html

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Nina Kung, Department of Agriculture and Fisheries, Australia

REVIEWED BY

Brianna R. Beechler, Oregon State University, United States Sarsenbay K. Abdrakhmanov, S. Seifullin Kazakh Agro Technical University, Kazakhstan

*CORRESPONDENCE A. L. Rivas 🖾 alrivas@unm.edu

RECEIVED 22 January 2023 ACCEPTED 17 April 2023 PUBLISHED 12 May 2023

CITATION

Hoogesteyn AL, Rivas AL, Smith SD, Fasina FO, Fair JM and Kosoy M (2023) Assessing complexity and dynamics in epidemics: geographical barriers and facilitators of footand-mouth disease dissemination. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10:1149460. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1149460

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Hoogesteyn, Rivas, Smith, Fasina, Fair and Kosoy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Assessing complexity and dynamics in epidemics: geographical barriers and facilitators of foot-and-mouth disease dissemination

A. L. Hoogesteyn¹, A. L. Rivas²*, S. D. Smith³, F. O. Fasina^{4,5}, J. M. Fair⁶ and M. Kosoy⁷

¹Department of Human Ecology, CINVESTAV, Merida, Yucatan, Mexico, ²Center for Global Health, Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, ³Geospatial Research Services, Ithaca, NY, United States, ⁴Department of Veterinary Tropical Diseases, Faculty of Veterinary Science, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa, ⁵ECTAD Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), Nairobi, Kenya, ⁶Bioscience Division, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, NM, United States, ⁷KB One Health LLC, Fort Collins, CO, United States

Introduction: Physical and non-physical processes that occur in nature may influence biological processes, such as dissemination of infectious diseases. However, such processes may be hard to detect when they are complex systems. Because complexity is a dynamic and non-linear interaction among numerous elements and structural levels in which specific effects are not necessarily linked to any one specific element, cause-effect connections are rarely or poorly observed.

Methods: To test this hypothesis, the complex and dynamic properties of geo-biological data were explored with high-resolution epidemiological data collected in the 2001 Uruguayan foot-and-mouth disease (FMD) epizootic that mainly affected cattle. County-level data on cases, farm density, road density, river density, and the ratio of road (or river) length/county perimeter were analyzed with an open-ended procedure that identified geographical clustering in the first 11 epidemic weeks. Two questions were asked: (i) do geo-referenced epidemiologic data display complex properties? and (ii) can such properties facilitate or prevent disease dissemination?

Results: Emergent patterns were detected when complex data structures were analyzed, which were not observed when variables were assessed individually. Complex properties–including data circularity–were demonstrated. The emergent patterns helped identify 11 counties as 'disseminators' or 'facilitators' (F) and 264 counties as 'barriers' (B) of epidemic spread. In the early epidemic phase, F and B counties differed in terms of road density and FMD case density. Focusing on non-biological, geographical data, a second analysis indicated that complex relationships may identify B-like counties even before epidemics occur.

Discussion: Geographical barriers and/or promoters of disease dispersal may precede the introduction of emerging pathogens. If corroborated, the analysis of geo-referenced complexity may support anticipatory epidemiological policies.

KEYWORDS

medical geography, complexity analysis, emergence, epidemics, foot-and-mouth disease, movement ecology

Introduction

To occur, epidemics involve more than a pathogen and a susceptible group of hosts. In addition to immunological, microbiological and demographic factors, numerous factors (including but not limited to the geographical environment) may also influence the development and progression of epidemics. To explore such factors, the analysis of variables that can be defined in terms of geographical coordinates (geo-referenced variables) has been proposed (1-5).

Numerous calls have suggested the development of methods that address complexity and dynamics in epidemiology (6, 7). Given its potential relevance in prevention, the study of disease dissemination with geo-referenced data is a topic of particular interest (8).

While some geographical factors (such as the road structure) may facilitate disease dispersal, other factors may act as barriers (1, 9). Yet, geographical factors do not have a single and constant role-they change over time and/or across space. For instance, both low and high road density may prevent disease dispersal, high road density may also act as a barrier because, in highly urbanized areas (where road density is invariably high), roads compete against farming for land and, consequently, high road density may inadvertently block dissemination of infections affecting domestic animals (10).

Similarly, bridges may play different roles (11). If used to control epidemics (e.g., as disinfection sites), bridges act as obstacles, complementing the natural barrier effect exerted by rivers and other geographical features, such as mountains. However, in their typical usage—connecting regions separated by rivers—bridges may foster epidemic spread. Consequently, the study of geographical facilitators or non-facilitators of epidemic dissemination is not a discrete and/or static endeavor: it involves the analysis of dynamic interactions among pathogens, hosts, and geography. Rivers on the other hand most likely act as barriers for animal movement, and therefore, prevent infectious diseases. For example, rivers are suggested to shape present-day patterns of ecological and genetic variation among Amazonian species and communities (12).

To study dynamics (interactions that change over time), complexity should be considered. Measuring complexity is not a trivial endeavor because the mathematics (if not also the biology) influencing one scale may differ from the factors that affect other scales (13).

To investigate epidemics, "information" (not just "data") should be generated. Data analysis is not enough–data structuring is needed (14). Structured data may reveal informative data patterns not directly conveyed by simple (non-structured) data.

Data structuring that focuses on *relationships* is not common (15). Much less so is the analysis of dynamic and complex relationships that include but exceed medical expertise (16). The information generated by structured data also depends on the data *format* utilized: for instance, it is not the same to read numbers from a table that lacks relationships than to directly visualize 3D patterns on a map (17–19). The validity and/or informative value of structured data can be objectively determined: it only requires determining whether structured data (complex indicators that include multiple variables) inform more than non-structured (simple) variables (20).

Because 'point predictions' (e.g., the specific number of a specific variable that differentiates two or more specific conditions at a specific

time and place) depend on highly variable initial conditions, complexity analysis does not attempt to make long-term predictions. Instead, it focuses on properties (21). Complex systems possess at least three properties: (i) emergence, (ii) irreducibility, and (iii) unpredictability (21–23). *Emergence* (also known as *novelty*) refers to the fact that complex systems are multi-level structures, which reveal *new* features or functions only when the most complex (system-level) structure is assembled. *Irreducibility* means that *emergence* cannot be shown by or reduced to the properties of any one 'simple' (non-structured or low-level) variable. *Unpredictability* refers to the inability to predict emergence when only 'simple' and/or isolated variables are analyzed.

While investigated in infectious diseases, complexity and dynamics have been poorly explored in geo-referenced studies of epidemic dispersal. Yet, several properties of biological complex and dynamic systems are already well known in infectious diseases (24). For example, *data circularity* (data with no beginning and no end) is the essence of *seasonality*—one factor known to influence geo-epidemiology (25). Detecting such properties in epidemics matters because, given the highly combinatorial nature of complex and dynamic systems, numerous informative patterns may be embedded in the data, which may be missed by simple approaches (12, 26). If properties that characterize dynamic complexity were demonstrated in geo-referenced epidemics, it could then be explored whether some geographical factors may act as facilitators or barriers of epidemics.

To that end, data previously analyzed are here re-investigated (10). The reason to re-assess data collected in the 2001 Uruguayan FMD epizootic is because it predominantly affected bovines (a species that displays observable signs when infected by the FMD virus) and, at the time, all bovines in Uruguay were susceptible (no vaccine against FMD had been used in the previous decade). While other (non-bovine) species do not always reveal clinical signs when affected by the FMD virus (27), both the geographical location of the onset and the geo-temporal progression of the 2001 Uruguayan FMD epizootic were unambiguously recorded. While the purpose of this study is not to explore how FMD epizootics can disseminate or how the 2001 Uruguayan episode took place [such questions have been addressed in numerous, earlier studies (10, 28, 29)], data collected in that epizootic are used to ask two questions: (i) do epidemics reveal properties typical of complex systems? and (ii) if so demonstrated, could such properties distinguish geographical factors that may act as facilitators or barriers of epidemic spread?

Materials and methods

Materials

Two hundred and seventy-five counties of Uruguay were investigated. County-level geographical variables were combined with epidemic data collected in the first 11 weeks of the 2001 FMD Uruguayan epidemic (10, 29). These data were complemented with non-epidemiologic, geo-referenced data on area- and line-based structures (counties, rivers and roads, as reported in https:// srvgisportal.igm.gub.uy/portal/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=2 6d59683d5cb475fa70e8223fa0da173; Supplementary Table 1). Seven variables were investigated: county area (sq. km), FMD case density



FIGURE 1

Geographical features of the 2001 FMD epizootic that took place in Uruguay. (A) county-wide FMD case density (cases/sq. km) reported in the first 11weeks of the epizootic. (B) county farm density (farms/sq. km). (C) road and county boundaries composed of roads (D) rivers and county boundaries composed of rivers. (E) county road density. (F) county road length/county perimeter composed of roads. (G) county river density. (H) county river length/county perimeter composed of rivers. County case density was higher in the south-western region (A), south of the Negro river, which flows diagonally trough the country, from the north-eastern to the south-western border (D). The south-western region, as well as much of the southern coast shows the highest road density (F). Such geo-epidemic structure suggests that the Negro river acted as a *de facto* obstacle for the dissemination of the epidemic, which was first reported to the south of this river.

40

(infected farms/sq. km), farm density (farms/sq. km), road density (km of county road length/county area), river density (km of river length/county area), and the percent of county perimeter occupied by roads or rivers (road [river] length/county perimeter).

Method

An open-ended, combinatorial approach was used, which investigated georeferenced and/or epidemiologic variables until visually distinct data patterns were detected in the early epidemic phase (first 2 weeks). Such patterns were then used to classify counties into two categories: facilitator [F] or barrier [B] of epidemic dispersal. Subsequent data analyses focused on detecting properties associated with complex and dynamic systems, such as emergence, irreducibility, and/or unpredictability. The method operated as an open-ended series of multivariate, map-based analyses which, after comparing several data ranges of each variable, concluded when at least one distinct pattern of geographical units (counties) was identified. Such a pattern should include not more than one dissimilar unit into a cluster of units otherwise similar, e.g., a cluster of was characterized by counties with similar values of the same geographical feature or not more than one county exhibiting dissimilar values.

Using a commercial Geographical Information Systems (ArcGIS 9.3, ESRI, Redlands, CA, United States) package, a layer (shapefile) of county boundaries was created. The seven variables used in the analysis were generated from variable layers and the county boundaries layer utilizing buffer, intersection and other data manipulation tools. The resulting data for these seven variables were combined into a single table which was then joined (appended) to the county boundaries layer using the common county identifier. The resulting dataset was then used to conduct a query for counties that fell within specified intervals (e.g., "road density greater than ... AND river length segments in perimeter less than ..."), and a new set was created. Such procedure was conducted for the entire 11-week long epidemics and for each epidemic week. The corresponding tables were then exported to a commercial statistical package (Minitab 22, Minitab Inc., State College, PA, United States) for further analyses. Correlation analysis was used to explore simple relationships among variables. The Mann-Whitney test for comparison of medians was applied to compare groups of counties. The same package was utilized to generate three-dimensional plots. A proprietary algorithm was used to facilitate the open-ended cycle that included map-based and 3D plot-based assessments.

Results

The geographical location of FMD cases, farms, rivers, and roads is shown in Figures 1A–H. A physical barrier was observed: most FMD cases were located south of the Negro river (Figure 1D).

When geographical variables were analyzed (without considering temporal-epidemiologic data), *farm density* was positively associated with both *road density* and *road length* (both with $r \ge 0.34$, p < 0.01). In contrast, *road length* was negatively and statistically significantly associated with *river length* (Supplementary Table 2). When epidemic and temporal data were assessed, positive and significant correlations were found between *case density* and both *farm density* and *road density* in at least one of the first two epidemic weeks. In the early



biology, time-related epidemic data were investigated. Most facilitator' counties were contiguous to a group of counties where the highest case density was reported over the entire course of the epizootic (**B**).

epidemic phase, *farm density* was positively and significantly correlated with *road length* –a variable associated with *road density* (Supplementary Table 3). The values of the geographic variables changed over time: while infections were only reported in 29 of the 275 counties in epidemic week I, 71 counties reported FMD cases 1 week later (Supplementary Table 4A).

While correlation analysis indicated relationships, it did not distinguish county categories. In contrast, map-based assessments of complex data combinations detected a group of 11 counties here labeled as 'facilitators of epidemic spread' (F). Most 'facilitator' (F) counties clustered in the south-western region of the country (Figure 2A). 'Facilitator' counties were characterized by: (i) *farm density* >0.15; (ii) *road density* >0.1; (iii) *river density* >0.1 but <0.3; (iv) *road length / county*



dispersal. In all 11 epizootic weeks, 'barrrier' (B) counties reported FMD cases; in contrast 'facilitator' (F) counties only presented cases in the first 9weeks (A). Log-transformed FMD case data revealed that F and B counties revealed similar trends in the first 9weeks (B). The median road density (km of road length/sq.km of county area) was significantly higher in F than B counties in the first 9weeks (C). FMD case density was higher in F than B counties in three of the first 4weeks (oval, D), becoming zero after week 8 (box, D).

perimeter >0.1; and (v) *river length/county perimeter* >0.38 but <0.6. The remaining 264 counties were classified as 'barriers' (B, Figure 2A).

To validate such a classification, FMD case data were assessed over time in F and B counties. Over 11 epidemic weeks, 130 and



1,420 cases were reported in F and B counties, respectively (Supplementary Table 4B). That is, the percentage of all cases associated with 'facilitator' counties (8.4% or 130/1550) was 2.1 times higher than the percent of cases within all counties (4.0% or 11/275). The F cluster was also geographically connected: it showed a continuous and contiguous structure within which, over 11 weeks, the highest FMD case density was observed (Figure 2B).

Spatial epidemic dynamics differed markedly between F and B counties. While FMD cases were reported in B counties in every week, no infection took place in F counties at weeks 10 and 11 (Figures 3A,B). The median *road density* associated with F counties was higher than that of B counties in the first 9 epidemic weeks (p < 0.01, Mann–Whitney test; Figure 3C). Epidemic dynamics also differed between county classes: the *case density* (cases/sq. km) was higher in F than B counties in epidemic weeks 2–4, but lower, later (rectangles; Figure 3D).



Geographical differences between F and B counties. Data clustering, as well as a perpendicular data inflection (shown by F counties after epidemic week 8), (A) were not observed in B counties (B). While F counties displayed a high road density in the first 9 epidemics (circle, C), in B counties road density was high only in week 1 (arrow, D). F road length data revealed a sudden decrease data that predicted resolution (arrow, E), which was not shown the road length of B counties (F).

Three-dimensional (3D) analyses revealed three temporal data inflections when the *road density* associated with F counties was measured together with the weekly *case count* and the *area* (sq km) of such counties (Figure 4A). Such indicators differentiated three epidemic phases, here described as early, intermediate, or late (or resolution; red, blue, and green symbols; Figure 4A). However, when such variables were assessed in B counties, only two data inflections were detected, and the last epidemic phase (resolution) was not observed (Figure 4B). Hence, a new (*emergent*) pattern (three, as opposed to two data patterns) was only displayed by F counties. In contrast, unstructured data, alone, did not distinguish F from B counties (Figure 4C). Because *emergence* was not predicted by or reduced to the properties of any one unstructured variable, the data demonstrated three typical properties of biological complexity: *emergence, irreducibility* and *unpredictability*.

Emergence was also documented when *road length*, *road density*, and *river density* were considered: a perpendicular data inflection,

observed in F counties (arrow, Figure 5A), was not revealed by B counties (Figure 5B). While F counties exhibited a high *river density* only in the first epidemic week (oval, Figure 5C), B counties displayed a high river density throughout the first 9 epidemic weeks (Figure 5D). While, in F counties, a sudden decrease in *road length* values predicted resolution (blue arrow; Figure 5E), B counties did not express such a feature (Figure 5F).

Findings also revealed data *circularity* and *spatial-temporal biological relativity*. Circularity was shown in numerous expressions (Figures 4A,B and also in Figures 6A,B). Relativity was expressed both as data points that occupied a large portion of the space analyzed but involved a small period of time (blue lines; Figures 6A,B) and also as observations generated over a long period of time, which occupied a small plot space (red ovals; Figures 6A,B).

Ambiguity was also observed: observations similar in all variables and values could have different meanings (green boxes; Figures 6A,B). To further explore complexity, geographic data were also analyzed



without consideration of epidemic data. Using the identifiers that, in the temporal (11-week long) analysis characterized F counties (those that reported most of the infections), a county-centered analysis explored whether combinations of variables could reveal patterns that differentiated the same 11 counties from the remaining (B-like) 264 counties. Three levels of complexity were then evaluated: (i) complexity level I (bi-dimensional relationships between two variables; Figures 7A-C); (ii) complexity level II (bi-dimensional relationships between three variables; Figure 7D); and (iii) complexity level III [three-dimensional (3D) relationships among complex [more than three] variables; Figures 8A-C). Statistically significant differences were found between F and B-like counties when four indicators (complexity levels I and II) were assessed (all with $p \le 0.01$, Mann-Whitney test; Figures 7A-D). Three-dimensional analyses detected an additional emergent pattern: most B-like counties were orthogonal to F counties. While the vertical data subset included all F and some B-like counties, the horizontal subset only included B-like counties (Figures 8A-C).

The 3D analysis of physical structures distinguished two subsets that were perpendicular to one another (Figures 8A–C). If epidemiologic data were considered, the 'vertical' subset would include all F counties (and a few B counties) while the 'horizontal' subset would be 100% free of infections (Figures 8A–C). Because the orthogonal patterns were detected regardless of epidemiologic status, if these patterns were repeatable, any county included in the 'horizontal' subset could be suspected to become a barrier if an epizootic took place.

Discussion

This study supported two novel inferences: (i) properties associated with complexity may be found when methods utilize geo-referenced and temporal data; and (ii) complex combinations of non-biological, geo-referenced data (such as the road and river networks) may reveal non-randomly distributed structures with potential influence on disease dispersal, which may be detected even in the absence of epidemiologic data. Methodological consequences associated with these inferences and some areas of possible applications are here discussed.

While unstructured data –observations on simple or isolated variables– were non-informative (Figure 4C), data structures that captured several levels of complexity described both a dynamic process (the epidemic) and a static (geographical) structure (Figures 4A,B, 8A–C). Findings support the view that epizootics reveal *emergence, irreducibility*, and *unpredictability* –properties typical of complex systems. The analysis of geo-referenced complexity may, at least partially, explain FMD outbreaks (21, 30, 31).

Two properties that may affect data analysis were also documented: data *circularity* and *spatial-temporal biological relativity* (32, 33). Such properties may prevent the use of models that analyze finite data intervals because circular data structures have no beginning and no end and, therefore, there are no explicit endpoints (34). As shown in Figures 6A,B, when relativity occurs, observations with similar numerical values may have different, if not opposite meaning (35). Yet, geo-referenced and dynamic analyses may distinguish such false similarities: the potential problems associated with 'biological relativity theory' and/or data circularity can be circumvented when complex properties are assessed with pattern recognition-oriented approaches. When an unambiguous pattern is determined, discrimination is possible (32, 35, 36).

Specifically, time-related arrows (data directionality) facilitated interpretation, even when circularity and relativity were observed. For example, two observations that showed similar numerical values were distinguished epidemiologically when temporal information (arrows that indicated where a data point was coming from/going to) were considered: one preceded the early epidemic phase, the other preceded the later phase (black open circle and blue closed square, respectively, Figure 4A).

Findings also indicated that, when data circularity is observed, no dichotomy is true (37). In contrast, non-binary models (those that consider there may be three or more epidemic stages) may prevent errors. As expected, complexity analysis extracted more or new information (20). Additional information was associated with data structures that captured many levels of complexity: level III indicators (which simultaneously captured 7 or more interactions, as shown in Figures 7A–D) yielded more information than simple (non-structured) variables (such as those reported in Figure 4C).

To discriminate, 'top-down' and 'bottom-up' aspects were considered (38). In particular, two challenges were addressed: (i) the



Bi-dimensional analysis of geo-referenced, complex physical relationships that may influence disease dispersal. Dimensionless indicators that included ratios and/or products showed statistically significantly different medians when F and B counties were compared (all at $p \le 0.01$, Mann–Whitney test, A–D). (A) River length/farm density (the ratio resulting from dividing river length [percent of county perimeter] over farm density). (B) Road density * farm density (the product resulting from multiplying road density times farm density). (C) River length/road length (the ratio resulting from dividing river length [percent of county perimeter]). (D) [Road density/river density] * farm density (the result from dividing road density). After two products were calculated (river density times river length, and road density times farm density), the first product was divided by the second product.

need to structure the data in a way such that a complex host-microbialgeo-temporal system could be evaluated even without knowing, *a priori*, which data components would inform (a 'top-down'-related problem); and (ii) the computational challenge associated with a very large number of data combinations to be analyzed (a potential problem associated with 'bottom-up' approaches). Both obstacles were overcome using an operation oriented to reveal distinct spatial patterns.

The adopted strategy prevented the 'combinatorial explosion' (39). This problem (also known as the 'curse of dimensionality' or 'combinatorial complexity') refers to analytical situations in which the number of possible combinations exceeds the number of variables and may approach infinity. For example, if 10 locations may experience 3 different events (to be disease-free, to be currently infected and within the exponential growth phase, or to be still infected but within the late or resolution phase), there are 3^{10} (~ 59,000) possible combinations. If the analysis of each of such combinations took 1 h, the whole analysis would require 6.7 years. While some numerical approaches have attempted to reduce the length of combinatorial explosion by focusing on spatial relationships (41). Because they tend to be more informative than one-or two-dimensional alternatives, this study followed the 3D approach.

Complex data structures demonstrated to be less variable than unstructured data (42, 43). Such features matter when validity is explored. This study investigated four dimensions of validity (44). *Construct validity* (detection of emergence, expressed as F and B counties) was shown at least eight times, as Figures 3 and 7 document. Because different data structures revealed emergence, *internal validity* was demonstrated. Because one physical geo-referenced pattern (a river acting as a barrier) has been reported in South African FMD epidemics (45), *external validity* was supported. Because statistical significance was documented at least four times (Figures 7A–D), *statistical validity* was demonstrated.

The notion that the *number* of 'facilitators' was not as relevant as their *geo-demographic location* and *structure* was supported: the observed geo-referenced network may be a part of a connecting network (28, 46). In several diseases, the geographical structure may determine whether disease dispersal occurs synchronically (47, 48). However, other factors (such as a 'network of networks') may also influence disease dissemination (49).

Findings may apply to human diseases, including human cholera and mosquito-borne diseases such as malaria and dengue (50). Climaterelated factors –such as El Niño –induce ocean warming, which promotes long-distance dissemination of infectious agents (51–53). While the approach here explored is not necessarily applicable to epidemics of low morbidity, such as Ebola (54), it may apply in rapidly disseminating infectious diseases (46). These concepts also apply to wildlife surveillance and One Health approaches, where positive correlations have been reported between forest density and improved public health (55–59).

These considerations may improve interventions meant to stop epidemics. For example, practices that assume static situations and lack of interactions could be discontinued (60). They could



FIGURE 8

Three-dimensional analysis of geo-referenced, complex physical relationships that may influence disease dispersal. Three-dimensional analysis of complex indicators that only involved physical variables, such as the county-related length of rivers or county-related road density, displayed one or more perpendicular data inflections (A–C). Such inflection differentiated two data subsets, of which one did not include counties affected by FMD (B counties). Because all variables interact in 3D space, it is assumed that the overall pattern captures, at least, seven interactions. Because spatial patterns can be assessed even in the absence of infections, if these distinct spatial patterns were shown to be repeatable, they could be considered in anticipatory testing.

be replaced with assumption-free, dynamic assessments of the local geography, which facilitate anticipatory allocation of resources and may lead to less costly and/or more effective control policies (46).

References

1. Smith DL, Lucey B, Waller LA, Childs JE, Real LA. Predicting the spatial dynamics of rabies on heterogeneous landscapes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2002) 99:3668–72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.042400799

2. Aylor DE. Spread of plant disease on a continental scale: role of aerial dispersal of pathogens. *Ecology*. (2003) 84:1989–97. doi: 10.1890/01-0619

3. Smith DL, Waller LA, Russell CA, Childs JE, Real LA. Assessing the role of longdistance translocation and spatial heterogeneity in the raccoon rabies epidemic in Connecticut. *Prev Vet Med.* (2005) 71:225–40. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2005.07.009

4. Bessell PR, Shaw DJ, Savill NJ, Woolhouse MEJ. Geographic and topographic determinants of local FMD transmission applied to the 2001 UK FMD epidemic. *BMC Vet Res.* (2008) 4:40. doi: 10.1186/1746-6148-4-40

Because complexity is associated with hidden interactions (61) and physical geo-referenced structures are independent of and/or precede epidemics, research on multiple geographic variables suspected to facilitate (or prevent) disease dispersal can uncover patterns usually unobserved. Hence, the analysis of geographical complexity is suggested. To that end, additional validations conducted in different bio-geographies are recommended.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/Supplementary material.

Author contributions

AH, JF, and MK: writing. AR and FF: methodology. SS: software. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

MK is employed by KB One Health LLC.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets.2023.1149460/ full#supplementary-material

5. Kulikalova ES, Sappo SG, Urbanovich LY, Markov EY, Mironova LV, Balakhonov SV. Model of *Vibrio cholerae* biofilm as a mechanism of its survival in surface water reservoirs. *Contemp Probl Ecol.* (2014) 7:12–8. doi: 10.1134/S1995425514010089

6. Pearce N, Merletti F. Complexity, simplicity, and epidemiology. Int J Epidemiol. (2006) 35:515–9. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyi322

7. Cerdá M, Keyes KM. Systems modeling to advance the promise of data science in epidemiology. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2019) 188:862–5. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwy262

8. King B, Rishworth A. Infectious addictions: geographies of colliding epidemics. *Prog Hum Geogr.* (2022) 46:139–55. doi: 10.1177/03091325211052040

9. Rivas AL, Chowell G, Schwager SJ, Fasina FO, Hoogesteijn AL, Smith SD, et al. Lessons from Nigeria: the role of roads in the geo-temporal progression of the avian

influenza (H5N1) virus. Epidemiol Infect. (2010) 138:192-8. doi: 10.1017/ S0950268809990495

10. Rivas AL, Smith SD, Sullivan PJ, Gardner B, Hoogesteyn AL, Castillo-Chávez C. Identification of geographical factors associated with early epidemic spread of foot-and-mouth disease. *Amer. J. Vet. Res.* (2003) 64:1519–27. doi: 10.2460/ ajvr.2003.64.1519

11. Robinson SJ, Samuel MD, Rolley RE, Shelton P. Using landscape epidemiological models to understand the distribution of chronic wasting disease in the Midwestern USA. *Landsc Ecol.* (2013) 28:1923–35. doi: 10.1007/s10980-013-9919-4

12. Gascon C, Malcolm JR, Patton JL, da Silva MN, Bogart JP, Lougheed SC, et al. Riverine barriers and the geographic distribution of Amazonian species. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2000) 97:13672–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.230136397

13. Noble D. 2010: biophysics and system biology. Phil Trans Math Phys Eng Sci. (2010) 368:1125–39. doi: 10.1098/rsta.2009.0245

14. Rowley J. The wisdom hierarchy: representations of the DIKW hierarchy. J Inf Sci. (2007) 33:163–80. doi: 10.1177/0165551506070706

15. Gatrell AC. Complexity theory and geographies of health: a critical assessment. *Soc Sci Med.* (2005) 60:2661–71. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.11.002

16. Herrick C. Global Health, geographical contingency, and contingent geographies. *Ann Am Assoc Geogr.* (2016) 106:672–87. doi: 10.1080/24694452.2016.1140017

17. Elliott P, Wartenberg D. Spatial epidemiology: current approaches and future challenges. *Environ Hlth Perspect*. (2004) 112:998–1006. doi: 10.1289/ehp.6735

18. Ricca RL. Detecting structural complexity: from visiometrics to genomics and brain research In: M Emmer and A Quarteroni, editors. *MATHKNOW*. Milano: Springer-Verlag Italia (2009). 167–81.

19. Lüttge U. Modularity and emergence: biology's challenge in understanding life. *Plant Biol.* (2012) 14:865–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1438-8677.2012.00659.x

20. Cedersund G, Roll J. Systems biology: model based evaluation and comparison of potential explanations for given biological data. *FEBS J.* (2009) 276:903–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2008.06845.x

21. San Miguel M, Johnson JH, Kertesz J, Kaski K, Díaz-Guilera A, MacKay RS, et al. Challenges in complex systems science. *Eur Phys J Special Topics*. (2012) 214:245–71. doi: 10.1140/epjst/e2012-01694-y

22. Stephan A. The dual role of 'emergence' in the philosophy of mind and in cognitive science. *Synthese*. (2006) 151:485–98. doi: 10.1007/s11229-006-9019-y

23. Huneman P. Determinism, predictability and open-ended evolution: lessons from computational emergence. *Synthese*. (2012) 185:195–214. doi: 10.1007/s11229-010-9721-7

24. Rivas AL, Leitner G, Jankowski MD, Hoogesteijn AL, Iandiorio MJ, Chatzipanagiotou S, et al. Nature and consequences of biological reductionism for the immunological study of infectious diseases. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:612. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00612

25. Grassly NC, Fraser C. Seasonal infectious disease epidemiology. Proc Biol Sci. (2006) 273:2541-50. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2006.3604

26. Crofts AR. Life, information, entropy, and time. *Complexity*. (2007) 13:14–50. doi: 10.1002/cplx.20180

27. Grubman MJ, Baxt B. Foot-and-mouth disease. Clin Microbiol Rev. (2004) 17:465–93. doi: 10.1128/CMR.17.2.465-493.2004

28. Rivas AL, Fasina FO, Hoogesteyn AL, Konah SN, Febles JL, Perkins DJ, et al. Connecting network properties of rapidly disseminating epizoonotics. *PLoS One*. (2012) 7:e39778. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0039778

29. Chowell G, Rivas AL, Smith SD, Hyman JM. Identification of case clusters and counties with high infective connectivity in the 2001 epidemic of foot-and-mouth disease in Uruguay. *Amer J Vet Res.* (2006) 67:102–13. doi: 10.2460/ajvr.67.1.102

30. Trochim WM, Cabrera DA, Milstein B, Gallagher RS, Leischow SJ. Practical challenges of systems thinking and modeling in public health. *Amer J Public Health.* (2006) 96:538–46. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2005.066001

31. Pinsky MR. Complexity modeling: identify instability early. *Crit Care Med.* (2010) 38:S649–55. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181f24484

32. Groesser SN, Schaffernicht M. Mental models of dynamic systems: taking stock and looking ahead. *Sys Dyn Rev.* (2012) 28:46–68. doi: 10.1002/sdr.476

33. Auffrey C, Nottale L. Scale relativity theory and integrative systems biology 1. Founding principles and scale laws. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol.* (2008) 97:79–114. doi: 10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2007.09.002

34. Gill J, Hangartner D. Circular data in political science and how to handle it. *Pol Anal.* (2010) 18:316–36. doi: 10.1093/pan/mpq009

35. Lake K. Visualizing spacetime curvature via gradient flows I Introduction. *Phys Rev D*. (2012) 86:104031. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.86.104031

36. Nielsen SN, Jørgensen SE. Goal functions, orientors and indicators (GoFOrIt's) in ecology. Application and functional aspects-strengths and weaknesses. *Ecol Indic.* (2013) 28:31–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2012.12.015

37. Zlatareva NP. Verification of non-monotonic knowledge bases. Dec Supp Syst. (1997) 21:253–61. doi: 10.1016/S0167-9236(97)00044-4

38. Saetzler K, Sonnenschein C, Soto AM. Systems biology beyond networks: generating order from disorder through self-organization. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2011) 21:165–74. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2011.04.004

39. Hong FT. The role of pattern recognition in creative problem solving: a case study in search of new mathematics for biology. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol.* (2013) 113:181–215. doi: 10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2013.03.017

40. Birtwistle MR. Analytical reduction of combinatorial complexity arising from multiple protein modification sites. *J R Soc Interface*. (2015) 12:20141215. doi: 10.1098/ rsif.2014.1215

41. Hancock S, McGovern DP, Peirce JW. Ameliorating the combinatorial explosion with spatial frequency-matched combinations of V1 outputs. *J Vis.* (2010) 10:7. doi: 10.1167/10.8.7

42. Qu Z, Garfinkel A, Weiss JN, Nivala M. Multi-scale modeling in biology: how to bridge the gaps between scales? *Prog Biophys Mol Biol.* (2011) 107:21–31. doi: 10.1016/j. pbiomolbio.2011.06.004

43. Evans MR, Grimm V, Johst K, Knuuttila T, de Langhe R, Lessells CM, et al. Do simple models lead to generality in ecology? *Trends Ecol Evol.* (2013) 28:578–83. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2013.05.022

44. Cook TD, Campbell DT. Quasi-experimentation: Design and Analysis Issues for Field Settings. Chicago, IL: Rand-McNally (1979).

45. Sirdar MM, Fosgate GT, Blignaut B, Mampane LR, Rikhotso OB, Du Plessis B, et al. Spatial distribution of foot-and-mouth disease (FMD) outbreaks in South Africa (2005-2016). *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2021) 53:376. doi: 10.1007/s11250-021-02807-y

46. Rivas AL, Fasina FO, Hammond JM, Smith SD, Hoogesteijn AL, Febles JL, et al. Epidemic protection zones: centred on cases or based on connectivity? *Transb Emerg Dis.* (2012) 59:464–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1865-1682.2011.01301.x

47. Rivas AL, Febles JL, Smith SD, Hoogesteijn AL, Tegos G, Fasina FO, et al. Early network properties of the COVID-19 pandemic-the Chinese scenario. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2020) 96:519–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.05.049

48. Viboud C, Bjørnstad ON, Smith DL, Simonsen L, Miller MA, Grenfell BT. Synchrony, waves, and spatial hierarchies in the spread of influenza. *Science*. (2006) 312:447–51. doi: 10.1126/science.1125237

49. Saumell-Mendiola A, Serrano MA, Boguñá M. Epidemic spreading on interconnected networks. *Phys Rev E.* (2012) 86:026106. doi: 10.1103/ PhysRevE.86.026106

50. Anyamba A, Chretien JP, Small J, Tucker CJ, Linthicum KJ. Developing global climate anomalies suggest potential disease risks for 2006-2007. *Int J Health Geogr.* (2006) 5:60. doi: 10.1186/1476-072X-5-60

51. Moore SM, Azman AS, Zaitchik BF, Mintz ED, Brunkard J, Legros D, et al. El Niño and the shifting geography of cholera in Africa. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2017) 114:4436–41. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1617218114

52. Vezzulli L, Brettar I, Pezzati E, Reid PC, Colwell RR, Höfle MG, et al. Long-term effects of ocean warming on the prokaryotic community: evidence from the vibrios. *ISME J.* (2012) 6:21–30. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2011.89

53. Ramírez IJ, Lee J. Deconstructing the spatial effects of El Niño and vulnerability on cholera rates in Peru: wavelet and GIS analyses. *Spat Spatiotemporal Epidemiol.* (2022) 40:100474. doi: 10.1016/j.sste.2021.100474

54. Bonney JHK, Osei-Kwasi M, Adiku TK, Barnor JS, Amesiya R, Kubio C, et al. Hospital-based surveillance for viral hemorrhagic fevers and Hepatitides in Ghana. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2013) 7:e2435. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd. 0002435

55. Warburton B, Livingstone P. Managing and eradicating wildlife tuberculosis in New Zealand. *N Z Vet J.* (2015) 63:77–88. doi: 10.1080/00480169.2014.981315

56. Verma A, van der Wal R, Fischer A. Imagining wildlife: new technologies and animal censuses, maps and museum. *Geoforum*. (2016) 75:75–86. doi: 10.1016/j. geoforum.2016.07.002

57. Morand S, Kosoy M. Editorial: ecological and evolutionary aspects of complex relations between micro-and macroparasites and their wild animal hosts. *Front Vet Sci.* (2020) 6:496. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2019.00496

58. Dobigny G, Morand S. Zoonotic emergence at the animal-environment-human interface: the forgotten urban socio-ecosystems. *Peer Commun J.* (2022) 2:e79. doi: 10.24072/pcjournal.206

59. Prist PR, Sangermano F, Bailey A, Bugni V, Villalobos-Segura MC, Pimiento-Quiroga N, et al. Protecting Brazilian Amazon indigenous territories reduces atmospheric particulates and avoids associated health impacts and costs. *Commun Earth Environ.* (2023) 4:34. doi: 10.1038/s43247-023-00704-w

60. EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare (AHAW)Nielsen SS, Alvarez J, Bicout DJ, Calistri P, Canali E, et al. Assessment of the control measures for category a diseases of animal health law: contagious caprine pleuropneumonia. *EFSA J.* (2022) 20:e07068. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2022.7068

61. Cho D-Y, Kim Y-A, Przytycka TM. Chapter 5: network biology approach to complex diseases. *PLoS Comput Biol.* (2012) 8:e1002820. doi: 10.1371/journal. pcbi.1002820

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ioannis Magouras, University of Bern, Switzerland

REVIEWED BY Helen Roberts, Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, United Kingdom Shankar Yadav, European Commission for the Control of Foot and Mouth Disease (EuFMD), Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Catalina Picasso-Risso impicasso.2@osu.edu Cesar A. Corzo impicasso.2@osu.edu

RECEIVED 06 April 2023 ACCEPTED 19 June 2023 PUBLISHED 14 July 2023

CITATION

Picasso-Risso C, Vilalta C, Sanhueza JM, Kikuti M, Schwartz M and Corzo CA (2023) Disentangling transport movement patterns of trucks either transporting pigs or while empty within a swine production system before and during the COVID-19 epidemic. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10:1201644. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1201644

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Picasso-Risso, Vilalta, Sanhueza, Kikuti, Schwartz and Corzo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Disentangling transport movement patterns of trucks either transporting pigs or while empty within a swine production system before and during the COVID-19 epidemic

Catalina Picasso-Risso^{1,2,3*}, Carles Vilalta^{1,4,5}, Juan Manuel Sanhueza^{1,6}, Mariana Kikuti¹, Mark Schwartz¹ and Cesar A. Corzo^{1*}

¹Department of Veterinary Population Medicine, University of Minnesota, Saint Paul, MN, United States, ²Facultad de Veterinaria, Universidad de la Republica, Montevideo, Uruguay, ³Department of Veterinary Preventive Medicine, College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, ⁴Unitat mixta d'Investigació IRTA-UAB en Sanitat Animal, Centre de Recerca en Sanitat Animal, Campus de la Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Bellaterra, Spain, ⁵IRTA, Programa de Sanitat Animal, Centre de Recerca en Sanitat Animal, Campus de la Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Bellaterra, Spain, ⁶Departamento de Ciencias Veterinarias y Salud Publica, Facultad de Recursos Naturales, Universidad Católica de Temuco, Temuco, Chile

Transport of pigs between sites occurs frequently as part of genetic improvement and age segregation. However, a lack of transport biosecurity could have catastrophic implications if not managed properly as disease spread would be imminent. However, there is a lack of a comprehensive study of vehicle movement trends within swine systems in the Midwest. In this study, we aimed to describe and characterize vehicle movement patterns within one large Midwest swine system representative of modern pig production to understand movement trends and proxies for biosecurity compliance and identify potential risky behaviors that may result in a higher risk for infectious disease spread. Geolocation tracking devices recorded vehicle movements of a subset of trucks and trailers from a production system every 5 min and every time tracks entered a landmark between January 2019 and December 2020, before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. We described 6,213 transport records from 12 vehicles controlled by the company. In total, 114 predefined landmarks were included during the study period, representing 5 categories of farms and truck wash facilities. The results showed that trucks completed the majority (76.4%, 2,111/2,762) of the recorded movements. The seasonal distribution of incoming movements was similar across years (P > 0.05), while the 2019 winter and summer seasons showed higher incoming movements to sow farms than any other season, year, or production type (P < 0.05). More than half of the in-movements recorded occurred within the triad of sow farms, wean-to-market stage, and truck wash facilities. Overall, time spent at each landmark was 9.08% higher in 2020 than in 2019, without seasonal highlights, but with a notably higher time spent at truck wash facilities than any other type of landmark. Network analyses showed high connectivity among farms with identifiable clusters in the network. Furthermore, we observed a decrease in connectivity in 2020 compared with 2019, as indicated by the majority of network

parameter values. Further network analysis will be needed to understand its impact on disease spread and control. However, the description and quantification of movement trends reported in this study provide findings that might be the basis for targeting infectious disease surveillance and control.

KEYWORDS

transport, pork industry, network analysis, disease surveillance, Midwest, USA

Introduction

Ground transportation of pigs between sites within a production system occurs frequently for age category and production phase segregation because it has been shown to increase production efficiency and animal health. Although trucks and trailers are designed to load batches of animals with protocols that safeguard animals' wellbeing, health, and safety, it is well-established that animal movements are a source of transmission of infectious disease within the swine industry (1–6), and vehicles which transported animals need to be correctly cleaned and disinfected before loading the next batch of pigs to prevent the risk of pathogen spread (7, 8).

With the intent to mitigate the risk of potential disease spread among pig farms, biosecurity practices such as isolation of incoming breeding stock, testing before commingling animals, shower-in/shower-out, disinfection, and drying rooms for supply entry are recommended among others (9). In addition, cleaning and disinfection of trucks and trailers transporting pigs between loads is an area of focus especially when vehicles transport gilts, boars, recently weaned pigs, and culled animals. Although all these biosecurity measures are useful, they are not completely effective as these depend on a combination of standardized processes and their consistent implementation (9). As an example, it has been described that washing and disinfecting vehicles without the appropriate drying has a similar risk for disease transmission as unwashed vehicles (7, 8). Furthermore, a recent study indicated that PRRSv transmission associated with movements of trucks used for feed and personnel transportation is not negligible (4), adding a layer of complexity when understanding disease spread and designing risk-mitigation (e.g., biosecurity) practices for the swine industry.

Social network analysis has proven to be a useful tool for understanding infectious disease dissemination among populations by analyzing pig movement patterns among animal production systems (10–14). Disease surveillance and control have been traditionally assessed by tracing animal movements as a source of disease spread since infected animals are the most frequent way to spread pathogens to susceptible populations. Furthermore, the potential impact of pathogen dissemination through animals in the US has been assessed *in silico* using retrospective shipment records (4) that can introduce bias in the analysis, when dealing with missing or incomplete data. Limited studies have focused on understanding the potential roles that the vehicles used for feed transport and the personnel involved may have on pathogen dissemination (4, 15, 16), but in fact, the majority of studies have overlooked the role that trucks may have on pathogen spread or assumed zero risk for disease transmission when vehicles visit a site after stopping in a cleaning station (i.e., truck wash station) (4, 6).

Here, as a first step to understanding the role of trucks transporting pigs or empty-unwashed trucks in the spread of diseases, we described and analyzed for the first time the vehicle movement patterns and network structure of one of the largest multi-site pig production systems in the Midwestern US using GPS trackers and including vehicles in the network, regardless of the load status or origin/destination of the movement. We assessed the utility of GPS trackers as a reliable source to record truck movements, characterized vehicle network before and during the COVID-19 pandemic, fidelity (defined as the consistency of vehicle movements over time), and time spent at each site, with the ultimate goal of understanding movement trends that will help to identify potential risky behaviors and spatio-temporal variabilities that can inform epidemic-preparedness and support decisions to improve biosecurity practices and compliance for reducing the spread of diseases compromising swine health.

Materials and methods

Population and data source

Data were collected from a pig-producing company participating in the University of Minnesota Morrison Swine Health Monitoring Project (MSHMP) (17) that voluntarily agreed to participate in the study. The selected company is a typical multi-site system representative of modern pig production systems in the US This company accounts for approximately 1% of the swine production in the country. The system agreed to have a selected subset of 12 out of 128 owned pig transportation vehicles monitored through geolocation-tracking devices installed on seven trucks transporting only recently weaned pigs and five trailers that transport either gilts or culled sows. On the trailers, the Verizon Networkfleet Asset Guard was attached through screws, whereas the Verizon Networkfleet 5000 Series Model 5500N4VL was connected to the onboard diagnostics (OBD) port on the tractor cab. These devices (Figure 1) are designed to endure long periods of outdoor or other rugged environments while maintaining communication and GPS signal during the journey and through vehicle washing.

Vehicle movement monitoring occurred between January 2019 and December 2020. A total of 6,213 records of vehicles entering 114 georeferenced pig sites were initially considered for this study over the study period (3,659 and 2,554 in



2019 and 2020, respectively). Connections among sites (i.e., vehicle movements) were recreated based on the time and date of entry to each of the geofences and the trajectory of the vehicles tracked.

Spatiotemporal characterization of the movements

We described the frequency of incoming movement patterns yearly, seasonally, and weekly over the study period by source farm (e.g., farm production type) and time spent by the vehicles at each site. Farm production type was categorized as either sow, nursery, finisher, wean-to-market, or gilt development unit. Differences in the frequency of movements were assessed with univariable and multivariable negative binomial regression which allowed adjusting for over-dispersed data (e.g., frequency of incoming movements mean = 18.71, variance = 274.47) (18) and adjusted for multiple comparisons. We described the proportion of movement performed between pairs of sites grouped by production category (e.g., sow to nursery, sow to sow) and vehicle fidelity over time. Incoming movement density was mapped by year to identify areas of major movement activities.

Network nomenclature and metrics definition

A yearly static directed non-weighted network was constructed for the complete period (2019–2020). Network nodes or vertices (i.e., elements or units of the network) (19) were polygons created within the extension of preexisting system site locations (i.e., landmarks), which included the abovementioned five different categories of farms and truck wash facilities. The movement of vehicles was captured when tracking devices located in the vehicles that entered or exited each predefined polygon, and thus, the time spent within the polygon was recorded for each vehicle and node.

Edges were created by linking nodes sequentially visited by each vehicle. We selected those nodes in which a stop was recorded for more than 5 min as these were considered an "operational stop", such as loading/unloading animals or washing the vehicle. When vehicles showed a recorded stop in a node for <5 min, this was considered a drive-by or an incorrect record (i.e., a result of rearranging vehicles for loading/unloading animals or inaccurately captured by the geofences surrounding the nodes-polygons when the vehicle was circulating close to the polygon boundaries). Furthermore, movements recorded by vehicles entering sequentially onto the same node-polygon for a period of <15 min within an hour and without visiting any other



node in between were merged and analyzed as one movement (i.e., loop to the same node). Additionally, those vehicles stopping for more than 24 h at the nodes were considered as "parked" and not performing an "operational activity" as they could be under maintenance or quarantine (e.g., downtime). The latter situation was included in the network analysis but excluded from our temporal analysis since they did not represent daily routine operation and the time spent at each node can be overestimated.

Network characteristics and features were described by the calculation of (a) network parameters, including the number of nodes and edges, average path length, diameter, edge density, and clustering coefficient, and (b) centrality metrics, such as degree (in and out), closeness (in and out), and betweenness for each node in the networks created. Definitions for each network parameter and metrics have been reviewed and described in a previous study by Martínez-López et al. (19). In brief, average path length is the average number of additional nodes contacted or visited in the trajectory to go from nodei to nodei in the network, diameter is the length of the shortest path within the two most distant nodes in the network (i.e., nodes that need the largest number of intermediate nodes to be able to connect each other), edge density indicates the proportion of contacts that occur in the network over the potential ones happening, and clustering coefficient (i.e., transitivity) is the frequency of loops connecting nodes reciprocally between each other (5). The degree is the number of contacts that each node has overall and, when directionality is applied, the number of connections originated (out-degree) or received (in-degree) by that node. Closeness is an estimate of how closely one node is connected to every other node in the network based on all incoming (incloseness) or outgoing (out-closeness) connections, and betweenness represents the number of times certain node lies on the shortest paths when all the shortest paths are traced between nodes in the network.

To identify cohesive groups in the network, we recognized fully connected nodes in the network (i.e., *cliques*) and densely connected nodes (i.e., *communities*) across the networks constructed. Communities were detected using the algorithm base on propagating labels as an efficient and ease-of-implementation algorithm (20). In brief, unique labels are assigned initially to each node, and after each iteration of the algorithm, new labels are adopted by the nodes, based on the most frequent labels of the neighbors until they converge into one label which represents the community. In the case of ties among neighboring labels, one is randomly selected before the next algorithm iteration.

All statistical analyses were performed using R Studio v4.1.0 software (21). Network creation, description, parameter calculations, and visualization were performed via the igraph package v1.2.6 (22).

Results

Site and movement descriptive results

From the predefined 114 sites (i.e., nodes), 12 vehicles moved among them within 2 years of the study period, comprising 12 sow farms, 8 gilt development units (GDU), 17 nurseries, 71 wean-to-market (WTM), 4 finishers (i.e., sites/unique nodes), and 2 truck wash facilities. The nodes were located in Minnesota, South Dakota, Nebraska, and Iowa. After excluding 26% of the movements recorded as described earlier, 4,579 movements were analyzed, with 60% (2,749/4,579) of them occurring in 2019 and the remaining 40% (1,830/4,579) in 2020. TABLE 1 Frequency of in-movements by farm-type (%). Graded scale colors represent a higher (red) and lower (white) percentage of movements across dyad connections in the 2 years of study (2019–2020).

Origin/ destination	GDU	NURSERY	SOW	TRUCK WASH	WTM	FINISHER
FINISHER	0.07	0.02	0.04	0.07	0.00	0.00
GDU	1.62	0.07	1.81	0.07	0.02	0.00
NURSERY	0.20	1.62	1.18	3.49	0.28	0.00
SOW	1.27	4.02	5.48	5.87	19.76	0.00
TRUCK WASH	0.50	0.63	20.92	2.42	2.07	0.00
WTM	0.02	0.44	7.29	14.48	1.05	0.00

GDU, Gilt development unit, WTM, Wean to Market.



Density of incoming movements within the study area. Higher (dark) and lower (light) density areas (movements per county) are represented for 2019 and 2020, respectively.

Spatiotemporal results

The monthly and seasonal in-movement counts were similar across 2019 and 2020 (negative binomial regression P > 0.05), with 10–15% of the sites performing at least one movement weekly. The lowest frequency of movements was observed in weeks 70–78 of the study (i.e., May and June 2020, Figure 2). Movements toward sow farms in the winter and summer of 2019 were significantly higher (P < 0.05) than movements toward any other farm category or season-year with mean risk ratios ranging from 1.10 to 2257.34. Furthermore, there were fewer movements to finishers in spring 2020 (P < 0.01) than any other category or season-year, with risk ratios ranging from 0.0018 to 0.5 (Supplementary Table 1). The seven trucks performed the majority of the movements in both years studied, with 76.8% (2,111/2,749) in 2019 and 66.99% (1,226/1,830) in 2020, while the five trailers did the rest of the movements, 638 in 2019 and 604 in 2020.

In-movements classified by production type dyad indicated that 55.43% of the in-movements were performed by three dyads, sow farm to WTM sites (19.76%/4,579), WTM to truck wash (14.48%), and truck wash to sow farm (20.92%). The remaining in-movements were performed by multiple dyads (Table 1 and

Supplementary Table 2). The spatial distribution of movements was consistently higher in the central area of the Midwest states analyzed for both years mapped (Figure 3).

Overall, time spent in the nodes was higher (RR: 1.1, P < 0.03) in 2020 than in 2019, with higher time spent at truck wash sites in 2020 but without any significant variation observed when analyzed by season (Table 2). However, time spent at truck wash facilities was significantly higher (P < 0.001) than any other site categories, with the occurrence of this category being 3.32, 5.83, 14.86, 16.00, and 21.19 times higher, on average, than sow farms, GDU, finishers, nursery, and WTM sites, respectively.

Network characterization

Descriptive statistics for network parameters and centrality metrics for the complete network and the network constructed for 2019 and 2020, respectively, are shown in Table 3. For the global network, on average, every site can be reached typically in three steps (*average path distance*), with less than a one-step reduction in 2019 and an increase in 2020, respectively. Although less than approximately 35% of the potential connections that TABLE 2 Median (max-min) minutes spent in each node (i.e., sites) overall by production type and by season during the study period.

Production type	FINISHER		GDU		NURSERY		SOW		TRUCK WASH		WTM		Overall	
Stop time	Median (Min, Max)	n	Median (Min, Max)	n	Median (Min, Max)	n	Median (Min, Max)	Ν	Median (Min, Max)	n	Median (Min, Max)	n	Median (Min, Max)	n
Winter19 ^a			44.0 (6.00, 602)	25	36.0 (14.0, 76.0)	66	28.0 (6.00, 1,220)	215	162 (11.0, 1,360)	173	26.0 (9.00, 75.0)	150	36.0 (6.00, 1,360)	629
Spring19	50.0 (50.0, 50.0)	1	64.0 (6.00, 478)	25	36.0 (9.00, 60.0)	32	26.0 (8.00, 1,290)	246	149 (9.00, 1,410)	195	22.0 (6.00, 146)	167	32.0 (6.00, 1,410)	666
Summer19	NA		60.0 (18.0, 160)	15	29.0 (10.0, 46.0)	62	26.0 (6.00, 1,280)	267	149 (8.00, 1,440)	210	20.0 (6.00, 101)	171	32.0 (6.00, 1,440)	725
Fall19	20.0 (20.0, 20.0)	1	44.0 (10.0, 148)	34	30.0 (8.00, 76.0)	43	27.5 (6.00, 1,260)	244	152 (6.00, 1,390)	187	20.0 (10.0, 64.0)	167	32.0 (6.00, 1,390)	676
2019	35.0 (20.0, 50.0)	2	54.0 (6.00, 602)	99	32.0 (8.00, 76.0)	210	27.0 (6.00, 1,290)	992	150 ⁺ (6.00, 1,440)	779	22.0 (6.00, 146)	668	34.0 (6.00, 1,440)	2,750
Winter20 ^b			70.0 (8.00, 167)	25	26.0 (6.00, 60.0)	39	28.0 (6.00, 1,270)	173	870 (11.0, 1,420)	137	24.0 (10.0, 179)	116	34.0 (6.00, 1,420)	490
Spring20	NA		98.0 (26.0, 229)	13	22.0 (16.0, 128)	12	31.0 (6.00, 1,280)	112	127 (10.0, 1,350)	73	20.0 (10.0, 66.0)	43	42.0 (6.00, 1,350)	253
Summer20	NA		110 (38.0, 155)	15	31.0 (14.0, 88.0)	24	43.5 (6.00, 1,240)	218	733 (6.00, 1,430)	125	24.5 (6.00, 94.0)	120	45.0 (6.00, 1,430)	502
Fall20	32.0 (9.00, 58.0)	7	77.0 (44.0, 167)	16	31.0 (6.00, 77.0)	40	51.0 (7.00, 1,330)	233	459 (6.00, 1,440)	136	26.0 (8.00, 80.0)	144	47.0 (6.00, 1,440)	576
Winter21 ^c			110 (110, 110)	1	25.0 (24.0, 26.0)	2	44.5 (18.0, 1,260)	30	185 (12.0, 1,350)	13	28.0 (14.0, 59.0)	17	44.0 (12.0, 1,350)	63
2020	32.0 (9.00, 58.0)	7	81.0 (8.00, 229)	70	26.0 (6.00, 128)	110	40.0 (6.00, 1,330)	746	345 ⁺ (6.00, 1,440)	470	24.0 (6.00, 179)	427	42.0 (6.00, 1,440)	1,830
Overall	32.0 (9.00, 58.0)	9	60.0 (6.00, 602)	169	30.0 (6.00, 128)	320	32.0 (6.00, 1,330)	1,738	176 * (6.00, 1,440)	1,249	22.0 (6.00, 179)	1,095	36.0 (6.00, 1,440)	4,580

n, number of stops per season and production type. Multivariate negative binomial is significantly different (P < 0.05), (*) from other production types overall or between estimates from 2019 and 2020 (+). GDU, Gilt development unit, WTM, Wean to Market. a, Winter 19 includes January and February 2019; b, Winter 20 includes December 2019, January and February 2020; c, Winter 21 includes December 2020.

Picasso-Risso et al

could occur really occurred (*edge density*) in the complete network when assessing it on a per-year basis of the study period, the proportion doubled in 2019 compared with 2020 (43.5 vs. 25.6%). Furthermore, *degree*, *in-degree*, and *out-degree* were higher for 2019 than 2020 with important higher outliers observed, corresponding to truck wash facilities and sow farms. A similar tendency was observed for centrality *closeness*. However, *betweenness* showed higher values for 2020 than 2019, and the nodes with the highest values were the two truck wash facilities (Figure 4B, red and orange circles).

Complete network cluster analysis recognized three communities, and 85.3% (2,808/3,292) of the cliques observed were fully connected in pairs (i.e., cliques' size of two). When yearly analyses were performed, larger cliques with up to seven nodes fully interconnected were identified each year (Table 4). Furthermore, two and four communities were observed in 2019 and 2020, respectively, after excluding those with two or fewer members.

Discussion

This study, to the best of our knowledge, was the first description of vehicle movements using GPS data of a typical pig production system in the Midwestern US. Moreover, we have provided the first comparison between networks from a typical year of production (2019), and 2020, a year in which the swine industry was strongly affected due to the temporary decline in slaughter rates as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic in the USA (23).

A total of 74% of the records were accurate and used in these analyses. Data generated by vehicle-tracking devices have shown to be a robust tool to understand connectivity among farms, which can give a more in-depth picture of the vehicle trajectory, sites visited, and time spent at each stop. This data can serve as a proxy for compliance regarding times dedicated to animal loading/unloading, vehicle flow and vehicle cleaning, and disinfection and downtime procedures (7). The majority of the movements were performed in 2019, with a 20% reduction during the following year and strong fluctuations in the proportion of farms with weekly movements in 2020 (5-20% of the sites performing weekly movements). As expected, trucks that performed the majority of movements were those used for transporting weaned piglets that, according to production management practices, were weaned from sow farms more than a week ago. The highest reduction of vehicle movements was during spring 2020, with a follow-up increase in mid-2020, mostly due to sow and WTM movements. One potential explanation could be the limitations associated with the high rates of COVID-19 illness among workers at slaughter plants, limiting the capacity for slaughter in abattoirs during the spring of 2020 (24) and, in other cases, the temporary shutdown of major slaughter plants in the region during April and May 2020 (23). Although, movements to slaughter were not included in this study, limitations on pigslaughter is expected to affect the pig flow within the systems in the initial levels of production, which will recover later in that year. Another potential explanation could be an increase in sites covered by the trucks in response to the initial movement reduction, despite only 5 extra nodes being observed in 2020 compared to 2019 (85/80).

2020	85	1,830	0.2563	7	3.4837	0.2573	Mean (min–max)	43.06 (2-653)	21.53(1-325)	21.53 (1-325)	0.003 (1.4e-04-0.004)	0.0027 (1.4e-04-0.004)	0.0027 (1.4e-04-0.0036)	203.72 (0-3017.81)
2019	80	2,749	0.435	7	2.596	0.205	Mean (min–max)	68.72 (2-1,546)	34.36 (1–770)	34.36 (1–776)	0.004(1.6e-04-0.0058)	0.0036 (1.5e-04-0.0052)	0.0035 (1.5e-04-0.0048)	122.94 (0-3539.24)
Complete network	114	4,579	0.3493	7	3.0925	0.2218	Mean (min–Max)	79.63 (2–2,199)	39.82 (1-1,095)	39.82 (1-1,104)	0.0024 (7.63e-05-0.0034)	0.0022 (7.628e-05-0.0033)	0.0022 (7.68e-05-0.0028)	234.40 (0-5694.07)
Global parameters	Nodes	Edges	Edge density	Diameter	Average path length	Transitivity (global)	Node parameters	Degree	In	Out	Closeness	In	Out	Betweenness

network and the 2019 and 2020 networks, respectively

complete vehicle

for the

calculated

metrics at the node level

Network parameters and centrality

FABLE 3



FIGURE 4

Network representation of the complete period analyzed (2019–2020). Heat scale colors represent (A) closeness and (B) betweenness relative values for each node, with the highest (red) and lowest (white) node values for each centrality metric, respectively. The five different categories of nodes and their connections are shown in different colors as reference (C).

2019				2020						
Cliques (N :	= 805)	Community	Nodes member (N = 80)	Cliques (Cliques (<i>N</i> = 594) Community		Nodes member (N = 85)			
Size	n		<i>n</i> (n/N)	Size	n		<i>n</i> (n/N)			
2	250	1	66 (0.825)	2	220	1	36 (0.424)			
3	297	2	10 (0.125)	3	205	2	10 (0.118)			
4	178			4	109	3	12 (0.141)			
5	62			5	44	4	24 (0.282)			
6	16			6	14					
7	2			7	2					

Communities with one or two members (i.e., nodes) are not included in this table.

As expected, a level of "fidelity" was observed within sites, with vehicles connecting sow, WTM, and truck wash facilities in the direction indicated by the production system. We observed that approximately 20% of the movements were performed from truck wash facilities to sow farms and from sow farms to WTM farms. However, approximately 14.5% of movements were connecting WTM to truck wash instead of the approximately 20% expected, which seemed to be balanced with movements from WTM to other

sites, such as sow farms and WTM. Although WTM to WTM movements are common when pigs need to be finished in different sites, the movements of WTM to sow farms at the commercial level are rare as their terminal genetic makeup of the commercial market pig populations is not suitable if these animals were to be used as replacement breeding stock. Additionally, commercial growing pigs housed in WTM facilities are usually located in highly dense regions where the prevalence of endemic pathogens is high, which will represent a risk to the sow farm if these were to be introduced. WTM to sow farm movement exists but these are related to moving high-health gilts from the genetic multiplication herds that tend to have better health than commercial sow farms. Overall time spent in truck wash facilities (\sim 3 h) denotes a sufficient time for the washing and drying process recommended for animal transport within the industry (25), with a noticeable median increase among seasons in 2020, although maximum times remain constant. This can indicate changes in disinfection procedures due to COVID-19 awareness which resulted in longer times at the truck wash facilities. It is important to mention that trucks could spend more time at the truck wash after being cleaned as they would be parked until needed again. This could bias the parameter, overestimating the mean time spent at the truck wash facilities overall. This metric needs to be further studied and analyzed but is the first insight as a proxy for biosecurity compliance. Furthermore, there were more paths connecting truck washes in 2020, which together with the increase in the median time at truck wash observed can indicate that these changes in cleaning and disinfection procedures could potentially be a result of an increase in biosecurity concerns as a whole and affected the connectivity among the network that year. The observed larger number of communities in 2020 could be reflecting management practices applied to segregate the network and avoid disease transmission between sites. While we lack data to identify the reason for observing these nodes largely interconnected (i.e., clusters, cliques, and communities), it exposes the potential usefulness of these datasets when applying control or surveillance strategies targeting groups of sites at high/low risk of infection through vehicle movements (16, 26).

Network metrics displayed a high interconnection among sites through vehicles, in which regardless of the geographical distance among farms, they were only three steps away from each other (i.e., mean distance). Areas with a high density of vehicle movements were detected. This finding shows that movements are not randomly distributed among all sites integrating the system, highlighting potential target areas for disease active surveillance when resources are limited as described in other production systems globally (5, 27, 28). The validity of this finding in other states is yet to be evaluated. Comparison of these network metrics with others can be challenging since systems, data collection, movements, inclusion criteria, and time frame can vary across studies (5, 29, 30). However, the need to improve within-system movement records has been reported, as it represents an important factor in disease spread (6), and our study provides information on one of the denser swine production regions within the USA, and insights are representative of the Midwestern USA swine industry.

A limitation of this study is that the network characterization was performed in one production system representative of current pig production practices in the US and might not fully represent patterns of different states or regions of the USA. Another limitation is related to the number of trucks and trailers monitored, which perhaps underestimated connectivity trends. Although a low (9.3%) proportion of company vehicles were enrolled in the study, these vehicles were those used the most and continuously during 2019-2020, resulting in a robust representation of typical movement patterns before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, the network built in this study was composed of breeding farms, growing pig farms, and truck wash facilities which leave out the connectivity with slaughter plants and market-hog transport cleaning and disinfection facilities. Furthermore, the unusual aspects observed during the COVID-19 global pandemic highlight a unique situation within the swine industry. However, this analysis builds on the understanding of the complex network interactions of vehicles within the Midwest swine industry and gives insights into how unique events can affect the flow of the pork supply production, informing preparedness for future infectious disease epidemics and events.

Conclusion

In this study of vehicle movements within a pig production system, we observed a highly connected and structured organized network with high fidelity among the site triad of sow, WTM, and truck wash. We also described the impact on movements and network connectivity in 2020, when the peak of the COVID-19 epidemic was observed within the USA. The directionality of movements among sites and time spent at truck wash facilities represented a proxy for good biosecurity practices within the system. Monitoring and understanding spatiotemporal and network patterns of movements beforehand can prove useful in identifying high-risk areas and preparedness in the face of a new disease epidemic. The results also showed the grouping of farms within the system when considering the vehicles, indicating that many farms were connected by these indirect means. Knowledge obtained from this movement characterization in the Midwest may assist with targeting interventions, prevention, and control strategies for infectious diseases within the swine industry, with an emphasis on monitoring and reducing the prevalence in different communities connected by vehicles.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this article are not readily because available are confidential. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to corzo@umn.edu.

Author contributions

CP-R, CV, and CC: conceptualization. CV, JS, and CC: fieldwork and data collection. CC and MS: resources. CP-R: methodology and data analysis and writing the original draft. CP-R, CC, MK, CV, and JS: writing—reviewing and editing. CC: project administration. CC and CV: funding acquisition. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

The MSHMP is a Swine Health Information Center (SHIC) funded project (Project # 19-235 SHIC).

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the MSHMP participating system for the willingness to collaborate in this study and the time committed to solving questions regarding the data collected.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships

References

1. Neumann E, Hall W, Dahl J, Hamilton D, Kurian A. Is transportation a risk factor for African swine fever transmission in Australia: a review. *Aust Vet J.* (2021) 99:459–68. doi: 10.1111/avj.13106

2. Smith RP, Cook AJC, Christley RM. Descriptive and social network analysis of pig transport data recorded by quality assured pig farms in the UK. *Prev Vet Med.* (2013) 108:167–77. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2012.08.011

3. VanderWaal K, Perez A, Torremorrell M, Morrison RM, Craft M. Role of animal movement and indirect contact among farms in transmission of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus. *Epidemics*. (2018) 24:67–75. doi: 10.1016/j.epidem.2018.04.001

assessing 4 Galvis JA, Corzo CA, Machado G. Modelling and additional transmission routes for porcine reproductive syndrome virus: vehicle movements and feed ingreand ingredients. respiratory Transbound Emerg Dis. (2022) 69:e1549-60. doi: 10.1111/tbe d.14488

5. Lee K, Polson D, Lowe E, Main R, Holtkamp D, Martínez-López B. Unraveling the contact patterns and network structure of pig shipments in the United States and its association with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) outbreaks. *Prev Vet Med.* (2017) 138:113–23. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2017.02.001

6. Machado G, Vilalta C, Recamonde-Mendoza M, Corzo C, Torremorell M, Perez A, et al. Identifying outbreaks of Porcine Epidemic Diarrhea virus through animal movements and spatial neighborhoods. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:457. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-36934-8

7. Dee SA, Deen J, Otake S, Pijoan C. An experimental model to evaluate the role of transport vehicles as a source of transmission of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus to susceptible pigs. *Can J Vet Res.* (2004) 68:128–33.

8. Thakur KK, Revie CW, Hurnik D, Sanchez J. Modelling contamination of trucks used in the shipment of pigs infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *J Swine Health Product*. (2017) 25:183–93.

9. Alarcón IV, Allepuz A, Mateu E. Biosecurity in pig farms: a review. *Porcine Health Manage*. (2021) 7:5. doi: 10.1186/s40813-020-00181-z

10. Chaters GL, Johnson PCD, Cleaveland S, Crispell J, de Glanville WA, Doherty T, et al. Analysing livestock network data for infectious disease control: an argument for routine data collection in emerging economies. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci.* (2019) 374:20180264. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2018.0264

11. Lentz HHK, Koher A, Hövel P, Gethmann J, Sauter-Louis C, Selhorst T, et al. Disease spread through animal movements: a static and temporal network analysis of pig trade in Germany. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0155196. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155196

12. Marquetoux N, Stevenson MA, Wilson P, Ridler A, Heuer C. Using social network analysis to inform disease control interventions. *Prev Vet Med.* (2016) 126:94–104. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2016.01.022

13. Silk MJ, Croft DP, Delahay RJ, Hodgson DJ, Boots M, Weber N, et al. Using social network measures in wildlife disease ecology, epidemiology, and management. *Bioscience*. (2017) 67:245–57. doi: 10.1093/biosci/biw175

that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets.2023. 1201644/full#supplementary-material

14. VanderWaal K, Picasso C, Enns EA, Craft ME, Alvarez J. Network analysis of cattle movements in Uruguay: quantifying heterogeneity for risk-based disease surveillance and control. *Prev Vet Med.* (2016) 123:12–22. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2015.12.003

15. Melmer DJ, O'Sullivan TL, Greer AL, Poljak Z. An investigation of transportation practices in an Ontario swine system using descriptive network analysis. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0226813. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0226813

16. Sterchi M, Faverjon C, Sarasua C, Vargas ME, Berezowski J, Bernstein A, et al. The pig transport network in Switzerland: structure, patterns, and implications for the transmission of infectious diseases between animal holdings. *PLoS ONE.* (2019) 14:e0217974. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0217974

17. Perez AM, Linhares DCL, Arruda AG, VanderWaal K, Machado G, Vilalta C, et al. Individual or common good? Voluntary data sharing to inform disease surveillance systems in food animals. *Front Vet Sci.* (2019) 6:194. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2019.00194

18. Byers AL, Allore H, Gill TM, Peduzzi PN. Application of negative binomial modeling for discrete outcomes: a case study in aging research. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2003) 56:559–64. doi: 10.1016/S0895-4356(03)0 0028-3

19. Martínez-López B, Perez AM, Sánchez-Vizcaíno JM. Social network analysis. Review of general concepts and use in preventive veterinary medicine. *Transbound Emerg Dis.* (2009) 56:109–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1865-1682.2009.0 1073.x

20. Raghavan UN, Albert R, Kumara S. Near linear time algorithm to detect community structures in large-scale networks. *Phys Rev E.* (2007) 76:036106. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevE.76.036106

21. R Core Team. R: A Language And Environment For Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2017). Available online at: https:// www.R-project.org/

22. Csárdi G, Nepusz T. The igraph software package for complex network research. *InterJ Complex Syst.* (2006) 1695.

23. Padilla S, Schulz LL, Vaiknoras K, MacLachlan M. COVID-19 Affected Hog Slaughter Volumes in 2020, but Impacts and Trajectory of Recovery Differed Across Regions. USDA Economic Research Service (2021). Available online at https://www.ers.usda.gov/amber-waves/2022/february/covid-19-affected-hog-slaughter-volumesin-2020-but-impacts-and-trajectory-of-recovery-differed-across-regions/

24. Hayes DJ, Schulz LL, Hart CE, Jacobs KL. A descriptive analysis of the COVID-19 impacts on U.S. pork, turkey, and egg markets. *Agribusiness.* (2021) 37:122– 41. doi: 10.1002/agr.21674

25. Connor J, Lower A, Lowe J. *Truck Wash Biosecurity Critical*. National Hog Farmer (2014). Available online at: https://www.nationalhogfarmer.com/news/isu-economist-lee-schulz-receives-applied-research-award

26. Dorjee S, Revie CW, Poljak Z, McNab WB, Sanchez J. Network analysis of swine shipments in Ontario, Canada, to support disease spread modelling and risk-based

disease management. Prev Vet Med. (2013) 112:118–27. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2013. 06.008

27. Martin V, Zhou X, Marshall E, Jia B, Fusheng G, FrancoDixon MA, et al. Risk-based surveillance for avian influenza control along poultry market chains in South China: the value of social network analysis. *Prev Vet Med.* (2011) 196–205. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2011.07.007

28. VanderWaal K, Enns EA, Picasso C, Alvarez J, Perez A, Fernandez F, et al. Optimal surveillance strategies for bovine tuberculosis in a low-prevalence country. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:4140. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-04466-2

29. Arruda AG, Friendship R, Carpenter J, Hand K, Poljak Z. Network, cluster and risk factor analyses for porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome using data from swine sites participating in a disease control program. *Prev Vet Med.* (2016) 128:41–50. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.201 6.03.010

30. Büttner K, Krieter J, Traulsen A, Traulsen I. Static network analysis of a pork supply chain in Northern Germany-Characterisation of the potential spread of infectious diseases via animal movements. *Prev Vet Med.* (2013) 110:418–28. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2013.01.008

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stephen Smith, Geospatial Research Services, United States

REVIEWED BY Juan Alberto Corbera, University of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Spain Claudia Libertin, Mayo Clinic Florida, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Egil A. J. Fischer ⊠ e.a.j.fischer@uu.nl

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 26 January 2023 ACCEPTED 13 June 2023 PUBLISHED 14 July 2023

CITATION

Fischer EAJ, Broens EM, Kooistra HS, De Rooij MMT, Stegeman JA and De Jong MCM (2023) Contribution of cats and dogs to SARS-CoV-2 transmission in households. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10:1151772. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1151772

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Fischer, Broens, Kooistra, De Rooij, Stegeman and De Jong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Contribution of cats and dogs to SARS-CoV-2 transmission in households

Egil A. J. Fischer ¹*[†], Els M. Broens¹, Hans S. Kooistra¹, Myrna M. T. De Rooij¹, Jan Arend Stegeman¹ and Mart C. M. De Jong^{2†}

¹Faculty Veterinary Medicine, Utrecht University, Utrecht, Netherlands, ²Department of Quantitative Veterinary Epidemiology, Wageningen University, Wageningen, Netherlands

Introduction: SARS-CoV-2 is known to jump across species. The occurrence of transmission in households between humans and companion animals has been shown, but the contribution of companion animals to the overall transmission within a household is unknown. The basic reproduction number (R_0) is an important indicator to quantify transmission. For a pathogen with multiple host species, such as SARS-CoV-2, the basic reproduction number needs to be calculated from the partial reproduction numbers for each combination of host species.

Method: In this study, the basic and partial reproduction numbers for SARS-CoV-2 were estimated by reanalyzing a survey of Dutch households with dogs and cats and minimally one SARS-CoV-2-infected human.

Results: For households with cats, a clear correlation between the number of cats and the basic reproduction number (Spearman's correlation: p 0.40, p-value: 1.4×10^{-5}) was identified, while for dogs, the correlation was smaller and not significant (Spearman's correlation: p 0.12, p-value: 0.21). Partial reproduction numbers from cats or dogs to humans were 0.3 (0.0–2.0) and 0.3 (0.0–3.5) and from humans to cats or dogs were 0.6 (0.4–0.8) and 0.6 (0.4–0.9).

Discussion: Thus, the estimations of within-household transmission indicated the likelihood of transmission from these companion animals to humans and vice versa, but the observational nature of this study limited the ability to establish conclusive evidence. This study's findings support the advice provided during the pandemic to COVID-19 patients to maintain distance from companion animals as a precautionary measure and given the possibility of transmission, although there is an overall relatively limited impact on the pandemic when compared to human-to-human transmission.

KEYWORDS

final size, zoonosis, multispecies, mathematical model, reproduction number, multilevel transmission, COVID-19, companion animal

Introduction

Since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, SARS-CoV-2 infections have been reported in captive and domestic animals. Felines in the Bronx Zoo were found to be infected (1), and \sim 14.7% of cats (*Felix catus L.*) tested seropositive in early 2020 in the Wuhan region (2). It was found that domestic cats are susceptible to infection, and virus reproduction can occur (3). Furthermore, infection of cats by infected humans or other species (i.e., mink) has been reported (4). In later experimental studies, transmission between cats was confirmed

(5, 6). A Dutch seroprevalence study including companion animals with unknown SARS-CoV-2 exposure status showed 0.4% of cats and 0.2% of dogs (Canis lupus familiaris L.) to be positive for COVID-19 in both ELISA-assays and virus neutralization tests (7). Another survey in the Netherlands with dogs and cats from households with at least one human with a confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection revealed 20.4% of cats and 17.3% of dogs to be seropositive and/or PCR positive (8). Experiments indicated that transmission between cats in confined spaces can be efficient (9). The epidemiological study on the cat population in Wuhan indicated the reproduction number to be low (1.09), implying the cat-to-cat transmission to be certainly possible but not highly efficient (6, 10). The presence of other endemic coronaviruses and reinfection with these viruses in domestic cats indicates that ongoing horizontal transmission of the coronavirus between domestic cats is not unprecedented (11). In 2021, Shia et al. were the first to report a cat-to-human transmission event of SARS-CoV-2 (12). This important finding indicates that cat-to-human transmission is possible, and given the human-to-cat transmission (2, 8) and the cat-to-cat transmission (5, 6, 9), these animals might contribute to the overall reproduction number in households.

Besides cats, SARS-CoV-2 research has also been conducted on dogs, albeit to a lesser extent. The study by Sit et al. showed that the SARS-CoV-2-positive dogs were most likely infected by humans (13). In one transmission experiment, none of the five contact dogs were infected, while only two out of the five inoculated dogs were seroconverted. No infectious virus was found in the swabs collected from inoculated dogs. The other tissues, including the lungs, were negative (3). To our knowledge, this is the only experiment with dogs. It is, however, not possible to draw an inference on the possibility of transmission between dogs due to the small number of animals in this experiment.

In the Netherlands, $\sim 23\%$ of households own one or more cats, with an average of 1.7 cats per household. For dogs, these numbers are 18% and 1.2, respectively (14). Cats and dogs are likely to have intense contact with their owners, such as licking their faces or sleeping in a bed with them (15). This warrants an investigation of the potential role of cats and dogs in spreading SARS-CoV-2 in households. In this study, we quantified the potential role of cats and dogs in the transmission of SARS-CoV-2 within Dutch households by computing the basic and partial reproduction numbers.

Materials and methods

Datasets on humans, dogs, and cats in households

For this study, we made use of datasets obtained by a survey in households with at least one cat or dog and with at least one person who tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 by PCR. Samples were collected between July 2020 and April 2021, and during this period, the α -variant (PANGO lineage b.1.1.7) was dominant in the Netherlands (16). The survey was conducted (8) by recruiting households via the municipal health service. Persons could express their interest in participating by sending an e-mail, and they were then contacted for an appointment. The households were visited by a mobile veterinary clinic for the sampling of the animals, which was available twice per week. Animals that tested PCR-positive underwent a follow-up examination, which occurred 1–3 weeks after the initial visit.

For the modeling performed in this study, we assumed that the final size was reached within these households. This implies no occurrences of new infections due to within-household transmission after the moment of recording the number of cases. This assumption was viewed as realistic, given the generation time of around 5 days (17) for the dominant virus variant at the time in the Netherlands and the delay between health service testing and inclusion in this study.

The survey was conducted amongst 196 households, of which five households had missing data for the number of humans in the household, so these were excluded. Of the 191 remaining households, 95 households had one or more cats and 121 households had one or more dogs. Only households for which the test results of all adult household members and companion animals were available were included for data analysis in this study. The resulting dataset comprised a total of 150 cats, 153 dogs, and 593 humans. Following the assumption that an infection in a household started with one human index case, 123 secondary human cases were found in 87 households, 30 infected cats in 24 households, and 27 infected dogs in 24 households.

These data were analyzed for households with cats and dogs assuming equal transmission (which we will name for convenience "companion animals"), with cats only, and with dogs only. It was not feasible to estimate transmission between cats and dogs due to the low number of 25 households in this study with both cats and dogs.

Within household transmission

The final size of an outbreak is the number of individuals that have been infected during the entire duration of the outbreak. The number of infected individuals during a household outbreak (i.e., the final size) follows a probability distribution, given the probability of all integer numbers between 1 (index) and all individuals being infected. This so-called final size distribution can be determined based on a stochastic epidemiological SIR model for single and multiple types of individuals (18, 19). Thus, we considered the situation where the infection is introduced by one individual in the household.

Correlation between R_0 for humans and animals

First, we estimated the reproduction number of humans only but included the ratio of animals to humans in the analysis as a covariate. For this analysis, only households with at least two humans were used because, otherwise, transmission between humans within the household was not possible. The regression coefficient indicates the effect of increasing the ratio of animals to humans in the household on the basic reproduction number. Additionally, we estimated the basic reproduction number for each household separately and determined a correlation with the ratio of companion animals to humans with a Spearman rank correlation test.

Estimating partial reproduction numbers for within- and between-species transmission

Next, the partial reproduction numbers (see Figure 1) were calculated for both companion animals, cats only, or dogs only. Partial reproduction numbers R_{ij} are the number of new infectious individuals of type j (1 = human or 2 = animal) produced by an individual of type i (1 = human or 2 = animal). For example, R_{12} is the number of new infectious animals (type 2) caused by one infectious human (type 1) during its entire infectious period. The actual number of new infections also depends on the number of susceptible individuals of a certain type (S_1 or S_2) and the total household size determined by the total number of humans in the household H.

The final size distribution for two types (human and animal) after an introduction by one individual was determined by the number of individuals of each type in the household and these partial reproduction numbers R_{ij} (18–20). The partial reproduction numbers R_{ij} are the elements of the next-generation matrix (NGM) that determine the number of new cases of type *j* caused by type *i*. The overall within-household reproduction number R_0 is the largest eigenvalue of the next-generation matrix for a given household composition (i.e., number of humans and companion animals). The equations for the final size distribution and basic reproduction number are given in the Supplementary material and provided as an algorithm in a mathematical notebook.

We used the two-type SIR model to estimate the transmission parameters for a household with humans and companion animals, with humans and cats, or with humans and dogs. For the twotype SIR model, we considered that mixing between humans, companion animals, and human and companion animals is proportionate to the number of humans alone, i.e., the resulting NGM will only contain the ratio of companion animals to humans $(\frac{C}{H})$. See Supplementary material. The basic reproduction number for a household with a specific ratio of companion animals to humans was then calculated by the following Equation (20):

$$R_0 = \frac{1}{2} \left(R_{11} + R_{22} \frac{C}{H} + \sqrt{\left(R_{11} - \frac{C}{H} R_{22} \right)^2 + 4 R_{12} R_{21} \frac{C}{H}} \right) (1)$$

Parameter estimation for the within-household model was obtained by maximum likelihood estimation based on the final size distribution. The confidence intervals for the partial reproduction numbers R_{ij} (the elements of the NGM) were derived using profile likelihood methods. The confidence interval for the overall reproduction number R_0 were obtained using a bootstrapping procedure.

Scenarios

To calculate the effect of reducing contact with animals and between animals, we adapted our model to include a proportionate decrease in time spent by animals in contact with other household members, for example, because these are outdoors. To enable the calculation of differences in time spent in contact with infected families, we distinguished between the number of contacts made by an infectious animal (ω_I) and susceptible animals (ω_S). Although, in practice, this is often impossible, it allowed us to study the effect of reducing spread by preventing transmission to animals and by preventing transmission from animals. The transmission matrix within the household **R** is as follows:

$$\mathbf{R} = \begin{pmatrix} R_{11} & (1 - \omega_I) R_{21} \\ (1 - \omega_S) R_{12} & (1 - \omega_I)(1 - \omega_S) R_{22} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2)

With the heterogeneity within the household model, we calculated the mean final sizes for different household compositions when the infection is introduced by an infected cat or by an infected human. Four different scenarios are shown with cats either spending their time completely in contact with household members, having no contact with susceptible animals, having no contact with infected animals, or having no contact with animals at all.

Software

All data processing and calculations were conducted using Wolfram Mathematica version 12.0. The Mathematica notebook can be found in the Supplementary material.

Results

Estimation of within-household transmission

Human-to-human with cats and dogs, cats, or dogs as a covariate

First, we estimated the reproduction number of humans without considering animals as a different type in the transmission model but included them in the analysis as a covariate. For this analysis, only households with at least two humans were used because, otherwise, transmission within the household was not possible. The overall human-to-human reproduction number R_0 was 1.17 (0.92–1.47) in this dataset.

The individual household reproduction numbers were calculated, and these were positively correlated with the number of animals (Spearman ρ 0.28, *p*-value 1.8 x 10⁻⁵) and cats (Spearman ρ 0.40, *p*-value 1.4 x 10⁻⁵) but not with dogs (Spearman ρ 0.12, *p*-value 0.21). Including the human-to-animal ratio and human-to-cat ratio in the estimation of the basic reproduction number R_0 improved the fit of the model and again showed an increase in R_0 with cats per human. In contrast, the human-to-dog ratio did not improve the model fit (Table 1).

The household sizes of cat (mean 2.3, se 0.1) and dog owners (mean 2.4, se 0.1) did not differ (*t*-test -0.75, p = 0.45).



FIGURE 1

Graphical representation of the transmission model and the next-generation matrix (NGM). Partial reproduction numbers R_{ij} are the number of new infectious individuals of type j (1 = human or 2 = animal) by an individual of type I (1 = human or 2 = animal). For example, R_{12} is the number of new infectious animals (type 2) caused by one infectious human (type 1). The actual number of new infections does also depend on the number of susceptible individuals of a certain type (S_1 or S_2) and the total household size H, i.e., the number of humans in the house.

TABLE 1 Reproduction number for human-to-human transr	mission with the effect of animal-to-human ratio as a covariate.
---	--

Model	R_0	95%-CI	Effect of animal/human-ratio	95%-CI	AIC
Baseline	1.17	(0.93-1.47)			363
Companion animals	0.89	(0.57–1.34)	1.97	(0.18-4.79)	355
Cats	0.91	(0.57–1.39)	1.19	(-0.05–2.97)	358
Dogs	1.10	(0.69–1.66)	0.33	(-0.15–2.19)	364

The effect of animals should be interpreted as an increase in reproduction numbers in a household with an increase of one animal per human. R0, reproduction number, 95%-CI, 95%-confidence interval, and AIC, Aikaike's information criterion.

TABLE 2 Estimates for transmission between companion animals and humans. The partial reproduction numbers R_{ij} have subscripts indicating transmission of i to j; 1 = human and 2 = animal (companion animal, cat, or dog).

	con	nan and npanion nimal	Hur	man and cat	Human and dog			
R ₁₁	1.19	(0.90-1.44)	1.26	(0.92-1.49)	1.11	(0.88-1.44)		
R ₂₁	0.39	(0.00-2.15)	0.30	(0.00-2.02)	0.30	(0.00-3.48)		
R ₁₂	0.63	(0.42-0.77)	0.56	(0.36-0.78)	0.57	(0.41-0.86)		
R ₂₂	0.00	(0.00-0.27)	0.00	(0.00-0.48)	0.00	(0.00-1.26)		

Human and companion animals as separate types in transmission modeling

In total, 191 households with complete records containing one or more companion animals, i.e., cats, dogs, or both, were included in the estimation procedure. In these households, 314 out of 593 humans and 56 out of 303 dogs and cats tested positive, respectively.

This gives a partial reproduction number for human-tohuman transmission of 1.19 (0.90-1.44) and for human-tocompanion animal transmission of 0.63 (0.42-0.77). The estimates on transmission from companion animals to humans and between companion animals have a higher level of uncertainty due to the low numbers of infected companion animals and the assumption that, for each household, a human introduced SARS-CoV-2. The companion animal-to-human transmission was 0.39, for which the lower limit remains undetermined, indicating that it was very close to zero, and the upper limit was 2.15, and companion animal-tocompanion animal transmission was 0 with an upper limit of 0.27. The lower limit of an estimate equals the point estimate if the point estimate is zero. The results are summarized in Table 2.

The basic reproduction number in a household increases with the ratio of companion animals to humans, from 1.19 (0.90-1.44) in the absence of companion animals to 1.94 (1.59-2.23) with six companion animals to one human (Figure 2).

Humans and cats as separate types in transmission modeling

In total, 191 households with complete records, of which 91 contained one or more cats, were included in the estimation procedure. In these households, 314 out of 592 humans and 30 out of 150 cats tested positive. We did not consider dogs to be infectious in these analyses.

This resulted in a partial reproduction number for human-tohuman transmission of 1.26 (0.92-1.49) and for human-to-cat of



Animal-to-human ratio distribution (histogram) and the basic reproduction number for these household compositions (line and bootstrap 95% confidence interval as a gray area). (A) Companion animals. (B) Only cats. (C) Only dogs. The x-axis has for dogs or companion animals to humans a maximum of 6, and for cats to humans, the maximum was 3. The y-axis represents either the household's basic reproduction number or the fraction of households with a certain ratio of animals to humans. The basic reproduction number is shown only in the range of observed values of animal-to-human ratios.



0.56 (0.36–0.78). The transmission estimates from cats to humans and between cats have a higher level of uncertainty due to the low numbers of infected cats and the assumption that, for each household, a human introduced SARS-CoV-2. The cat-to-human transmission was 0.30 (0.00–2.02), and the cat-to-cat transmission was zero, with an upper limit of 0.63. The lower limit of an estimate equals the point estimate if the point estimate is zero. The results are summarized in Table 2.

The basic reproduction number increases with the ratio of cats to humans, from 1.26 in the absence of cats to 1.58 (1.29–1.86) with three cats to one human (Figure 2).

Humans and dogs as separate types of transmission modeling

In total, 110 households with complete records containing one or more dogs were included in the estimation procedure. In these households, 186 out of 378 humans and 26 out of 134 dogs tested positive, respectively. We did not consider cats to be infectious in these analyses.

This resulted in a partial reproduction number for humans-tohumans of 1.1 (0.88–1.44) and the human-to-dog of 0.57 (0.41– 0.86). The estimates on transmission from dogs to humans and between dogs have a higher level of uncertainty due to the low numbers of infected dogs and the assumption that, for each household, a human introduced SARS-CoV-2. The dog-to-human transmission was 0.33, for which the lower limit was 0.00, the upper limit was 3.38, and the dog-to-dog transmission was 0, with an upper limit of 1.26. The lower limit of an estimate equals the point estimate if the point estimate is zero. The results are summarized in Table 2.

The basic reproduction number increases with the ratio of dogs to humans from 1.11 in the absence of dogs to 1.71 (1.24–2.43) with six dogs to one human (Figure 2).



Scenarios

Within-household

The within-household outbreak size in relation to the duration of time spent in the household by companion animals is presented here for cats only. Cats have the largest effect, given the estimates above. A similar pattern was found for companion animals and dogs. In the scenario considering a cat as the index case in a household, if this infectious cat does not spend any time within the household ($\omega_I = 1$), this cat will not cause an outbreak in the household (top two panels of Figure 3). If this index case cat is kept within the household all the time ($\omega_I = 0$), the final size depends on the number of cats in the household and depends on whether these susceptible cats are kept inside (bottom two panels of Figure 3). Keeping both susceptible and infectious cats inside (left bottom panel of Figure 3) causes the largest within-household outbreaks. However, these differences are subtle. In the scenario with a human as the index case in a household, the median final size of the outbreak is 2.17, irrespective of whether cats are kept inside the house or outside. The maximum final size is, however, slightly different, that is, 2.78, when cats are kept inside the house and 2.75 when kept outside. The overall effect is thus limited compared to the role of humans regarding within-household transmission (Figure 4).

Discussion

The findings regarding within-household transmission showed a likely but not conclusive indication of SARS-CoV-2 transmission from companion animals to humans, especially for cats. The ratio of cats and companion animals was associated with an increase in the reproduction number in a household, which was not found for dogs alone. For both species, a non-zero estimated value was found for animal-to-human transmission, but this could not be distinguished statistically from zero.

Although our findings may indicate a potential role for companion animals and, in particular, cats in the within-household transmission of SARS-CoV-2, some caution in the interpretation is required. We did not consider other confounding factors like behavior, housing conditions, or the age of the owner, which could be related to increased transmission and ownership of cats or dogs, and the number of companion animals in a household. Still, given the evidence for spill-over between species of SARS-CoV-2 (2, 4, 7, 12), a role in transmission is conceivable, and these analyses provide additional evidence and quantification of the partial reproduction numbers.

Both the results of analyses of the correlation between R_0 when only considering humans as hosts and the ratio of companion animals and the estimates for the model with both transmissions to and from companion animals indicate stronger evidence for cats having a potential role in transmission than dogs. For both species, we found non-zero estimates for transmission from animal to humans, but the overall uncertainty for dogs was greater. Additionally, we found a positive correlation for cats in the overall R₀ when only considering humans as hosts, but not for dogs. R₀ does not depend on the household size; thus, an increase in R_0 with more animals per human suggests additional transmission by these animals, or, as stated above, it can be due to a confounding factor. Furthermore, the average number of cats per household is higher, which increases the potential transmission to and from these animals. The role of dogs can, however, not be disregarded (yet), given the current limited knowledge. It is worth noting the overall limited role of cats and dogs compared to human-to-human transmission in light of the course of the pandemic.

The reproduction rate of both cats and dogs in experimental settings is highly uncertain. Inferring R0 the data of Bosco-Lauth et al. (9) gives an estimate of 0.37 to infinity. Experiments by Gehrards et al. (6) obtained a basic reproduction number of 2.50 (0.97-5.15). Our results on households are lower than those experiments and bounded by 0. For stray cats in Wuhan with no known contact with humans, the basic reproduction number was estimated to be ~ 1.1 (10). In the sensitivity analysis, when the cat-to-cat reproduction number was fixed at a value of 1.1, no relevant change in parameters was observed. When both the cat-to-cat and human-to-human reproduction numbers were fixed at values of 1.1 and 1.4, respectively, the cat-to-human transmission was estimated to be zero. However, it is important to note that there was an upper limit of 1.63 in the confidence interval (see Supplementary material). This shows that our results cannot unequivocally prove catto-human transmission in these households nor disprove this route. Experimental studies provide evidence that cats reproduce the virus and can transmit it to other cats and, thus, most probably also to other mammals (6, 9). Animal-to-human transmission of SARS-CoV-2 has been observed in farmed mink and farm workers, showing the potential for transmission from animals to humans (21). Furthermore, the report of a cat-tohuman transmission event in Thailand makes this route more probable (12).

An experimental study with dogs did not observe transmission between dogs. This could indicate that dogs might not be able to transmit the infection, but this study was too small in size to draw such conclusions (3). Only two out of five inoculated dogs did seroconvert, and solely two susceptible dogs were added as contacts. Consequently, owing to this lack of power, the confidence interval on the reproduction number was wide, with an upper limit of 44.

In the Netherlands, the number of people per household (the household size) is typically relatively small (on average 2.13). We had not considered other living conditions with intense contacts, such as a student housing with shared sanitary and kitchen facilities. Most domestic cats live in households alone or with one other cats (14), so there cannot be a sustained endemic within a household. It should be taken into consideration that we did not include feral cats or catteries. These larger groups of cats could become reservoirs from which reintroduction of the virus is possible. In Wuhan, China, a high prevalence of cats shows the potential for a reservoir among cats found on the streets (2). However, this has not been identified in the Netherlands to date based on the low seroprevalence detected in shelter cats (22). Quantification of the likelihood of a reservoir in feral cats requires another modeling approach, including a thorough quantification of the interaction between different colonies of feral cats, between catteries, and between animal shelters. Moreover, dogs tend to be kept alone in households. The population of feral or semi-feral dogs and, of course, shelters could also be potential populations for sustained transmission amongst dogs.

In contrast to feral cats (23), little is known about the interaction between domestic cats related to infectious diseases outside their own households. Interactions between cats from other households could occur during fights or by transmission via the environment in overlapping territories. Dog-to-dog transmission outside the household can occur when walking the dog or in shared airing areas. Transmission from companion animals to humans or human-to-companion animals could occur via the same pathway via the environment or by petting. Furthermore, feeding feral or neighboring cats might be a way in which cats are stimulated to visit more than one household. This can potentially contribute to between-household transmission (see Supplementary material), but to determine this with any certainty, data on between-household transmission are required.

Although vaccination coverage in many countries is reaching the required level (https://covid19.who.int/table), the virus can still spread among the vaccinated population due to waning immunity or new variants (24). It is, therefore, warranted to keep track of SARS-CoV-2 susceptible companion animals in the household when considering the epidemiology of SARS-CoV-2 in humans. Close contact with companion animals by SARS-CoV-2-positive humans increases the probability of this animal becoming infected, but if animals are kept inside for a sufficiently long period, this will mitigate the risk of animals acting as vectors between households (see Supplementary material). In the Netherlands, people with a SARS-CoV-2 diagnosis/suspicion are advised to keep their distance from companion animals, which is also supported by this study, although it should be taken into consideration that the overall contribution of companion animals is limited. Moreover, avoiding contact with companion animals from other households, even when visiting these households, can be viewed as a general method to reduce the impact of companion animals acting as potential vectors for the transmission of infectious diseases between households.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin. Ethical review and approval was not required for the animal study because this study was conducted on previously obtained data. Sampling of the animals was approved by the Animal Care and Ethics Committee of Utrecht University, in accordance with the Dutch law on experimental animals (approval number AVD1080020209666). Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

Author contributions

EF and MCMD had an equal contribution to the development and application the mathematical models. MCMD and JS initiated the study. EB, MMTD, and HK provided the data and discussed the interpretation of the outcomes of mathematical models. All authors contributed in writing the manuscript.

References

1. McAloose D, Laverack M, Wang L, Killian ML, Caserta LC, Yuan F, et al. From people to panthera: natural SARS-CoV-2 infection in tigers and lions at the bronx zoo. *MBio.* (2020) 11:1–13. doi: 10.1128/mBio.02220-20

2. Zhang Q, Zhang H, Gao J, Huang K, Yang Y, Hui X, et al. A serological survey of SARS-CoV-2 in cat in Wuhan. *Emerg Microbes Infect.* (2020) 9:2013–9. doi: 10.1080/22221751.2020.1817796

3. Shi J, Wen Z, Zhong G, Yang H, Wang C, Liu R, et al. Susceptibility of ferrets, cats, dogs, and different domestic animals to SARS-coronavirus-2. *Science*. (2020) 3:1–23. doi: 10.1126/science.abb7015

4. van Aart AE, Velkers FC, Fischer EAJ, Broens EM, Egberink H, Zhao S, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection in cats and dogs in infected mink farms. *Transbound Emerg Dis.* (2021) 5:3001–7. doi: 10.1111/tbed.14173

 Gaudreault NN, Trujillo JD, Carossino M, Meekins DA, Morozov I, Madden DW, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection, disease and transmission in domestic cats. *Emerg Microbes Infect.* (2020) 9:2322–32. doi: 10.1080/22221751.2020.1833687

6. Gerhards NM, Gonzales JL, Vreman S, Ravesloot L, Brand JMA van den, Doekes HP, et al. Efficient direct and limited environmental

Funding

This project was funded by the Dutch Ministry of Agriculture, Nature, and Food Quality and the Dutch Ministry of Health, Welfare, and Sports.

Acknowledgments

The project Fighting COVID-19 in humans and animals is coordinated by the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine of Utrecht University and is a joint interdisciplinary effort of research groups with complementary expertise united in the Netherlands Center for One Health (NCOH). We would like to thank the employees of Municipal Health Services, the veterinarians, and the pet owners for their cooperation.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets.2023. 1151772/full#supplementary-material

transmission of SARS-CoV-2 lineage B.1.22 in domestic cats. *bioRxiv*. (2022) 2020:496600. doi: 10.1101/2022.06.17.496600

7. Zhao S, Schuurman N, Li W, Wang C, Smit LAM, Broens EM, et al. Serologic screening of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 infection in cats and dogs during first coronavirus disease wave, the Netherlands. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2021) 27:1362–70. doi: 10.3201/eid2705.204055

8. Kannekens-Jager MM, de Rooij MMT, de Groot Y, Biesbroeck E, de Jong MK, Pijnacker T, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection in dogs and cats is associated with contact to COVID-19 positive household members. *Transbound Emerg Dis.* (2022) 5:4–10. doi: 10.1111/tbed.14713

9. Bosco-Lauth AM, Hartwig AE, Porter SM, Gordy PW, Nehring M, Byas AD, et al. Experimental infection of domestic dogs and cats with SARS-CoV-2: Pathogenesis, transmission, and response to reexposure in cats. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2020) 117:26382–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2013102117

10. Akhmetzhanov AR, Linton NM, Nishiura H. Rising evidence of COVID-19 transmission potential to and between animals: do we need to be concerned? *medRxiv*. (2020) 3:20109041. doi: 10.1101/2020.05.21.20109041

11. Addie DD, Schaap IAT, Nicolson L, Jarrett O. Persistence and transmission of natural type I feline coronavirus infection. *J Gen Virol.* (2003) 84:2735–44. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.19129-0

12. Sila T, Sunghan J, Laochareonsuk W, Smonrapat S, Kongkamol C, Ingviya T, et al. Suspected cat-to-human transmission of SARS-CoV-2, Thailand, July-September 2021. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2022) 28:1485–8. doi: 10.3201/eid2807.212605

13. Sit THC, Brackman CJ, Ip SM, Tam KWS, Law PYT, To EMW, et al. Infection of dogs with SARS-CoV-2. *Nature*. (2020) 586:776–8. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2334-5

14. Werkgroep Feiten en Cijfers, van Heijst BAC, de Kort MAC, Overgaauw PAM, CMV, Beekmans MHC. *Feiten & Cijfers Gezelschapsdierensector 2015*. Den Bosch. (2015).

15. Overgaauw PAM, Vinke CM, van Hagen MAE, Lipman LJA. A one health perspective on the human-companion animal relationship with emphasis on zoonotic aspects. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:1–29. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17113789

16. RIVM National Institute for Public Health and the Environment Ministry of Health W and S. *Variants of the Coronavirus SARS-CoV-2*. (2023). Available online at: https://www.rivm.nl/en/coronavirus-covid-19/virus/variants

17. Hart WS, Miller E, Andrews NJ, Waight P, Maini PK, Funk S, et al. Generation time of the alpha and delta SARS-CoV-2 variants: an epidemiological analysis. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2022) 22:603–10. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(22)00001-9

18. Ball F. A unified approach to the distribution of total size and total area under the trajectory of infectives in epidemic models. *Adv Appl Probab.* (1986) 18:289–310. doi: 10.2307/1427301

19. Van Boven M, Koopmans M, Van Beest Holle MDR, Meijer A, Klinkenberg D, Donnelly CA, et al. Detecting emerging transmissibility of avian influenza virus in human households. *PLoS Comput Biol.* (2007) 3:1394–402. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.0030145

20. Diekmann O, Heesterbeek H, Britton T. Mathematical Tools for Understanding Infectious Disease Dynamics. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press. (2012). doi: 10.23943/princeton/9780691155395.001.0001

21. Oude Munnink BB, Sikkema RS, Nieuwenhuijse DF, Molenaar RJ, Munger E, Molenkamp R, et al. Transmission of SARS-CoV-2 on mink farms between humans and mink and back to humans. *Science.* (2021) 371:172–7. doi: 10.1126/science. abe5901

22. van der Leij WJR, Broens EM, Hesselink JW, Schuurman N, Vernooij JCM, Egberink HF. Serological screening for antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 in dutch shelter cats. *Viruses.* (2021) 13:1–10. doi: 10.3390/v130 81634

23. Ireland T, Miller Neilan R, A. spatial agent-based model of feral cats and analysis of population and nuisance controls. *Ecol Modell.* (2016) 337:123–36. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2016. 06.014

24. Bar-On YM, Goldberg Y, Mandel M, Bodenheimer O, Freedman L, Kalkstein N, et al. Protection of BNT162b2 vaccine booster against Covid-19 in Israel. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 3:1–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 2114255

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Flavie Vial, Animal and Plant Health Agency, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY

Anna Sophie Fahrion, Friedrich Loeffler Institute, Germany Kennedy Kapala Mwacalimba, Zoetis, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Folorunso O. Fasina ⊠ Folorunso.fasina@fao.org

RECEIVED 24 January 2023 ACCEPTED 19 July 2023 PUBLISHED 04 August 2023

CITATION

Sitawa R, Tenge E, Chepkorir K, Nanyingi M, Okuthe S, Lockhart C, Oyas H, Njagi O, Agutu MT, Omolo J, Okumu T, Bebay C and Fasina FO (2023) Building subnational capacities in animal health to deliver frontline cross-sectoral health services in Kenya. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10:1150557. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1150557

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Sitawa, Tenge, Chepkorir, Nanyingi, Okuthe, Lockhart, Oyas, Njagi, Agutu, Omolo, Okumu, Bebay and Fasina. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Building subnational capacities in animal health to deliver frontline cross-sectoral health services in Kenya

Rinah Sitawa¹, Evans Tenge¹, Khadija Chepkorir², Mark Nanyingi^{1,3}, Sam Okuthe⁴, Caryl Lockhart⁵, Harry Oyas², Obadiah Njagi², Mary Teresa Agutu⁶, Jack Omolo⁷, Tequiero Okumu⁸, Charles Bebay⁴ and Folorunso O. Fasina^{1*}

¹Emergency Center for Transboundary Animal Diseases (ECTAD), Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), United Nations Office in Nairobi (UNON), Nairobi, Kenya, ²Directorate of Veterinary Services, Ministry of Agriculture and Livestock Development, Nairobi, Kenya, ³Department of One Health, Institute of Infection and Global Health, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, United Kingdom, ⁴Emergency Center for Transboundary Animal Diseases (ECTAD), Regional Office for Eastern Africa, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), United Nations Office in Nairobi (UNON), Nairobi, Kenya, ⁵Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome, Italy, ⁶Kenya Veterinary Board, Nairobi, Kenya, ⁷Department of Agriculture, Livestock Development and Fisheries, Kilifi, Kenya, ⁸University of Nairobi College of Agriculture and Veterinary Sciences, Nairobi, Kenya

Introduction: Operationalizing effective subnational veterinary services as major contributor to disease surveillance, reporting, diagnoses and One Health requires resources and mindset change. Here we describe workforce capacity building in animal health in Kenya and an approach that can be used to skill-up this workforce to respond beyond animal health challenges to emergent One Health realities and public health emergencies. Furthermore, triggering a paradigm shift has been identified for impactful delivery of health services, thus mindset change are important for learning new skills, but they also affect the way that we think about everything, for instance training in field epidemiology. Emphasis was therefore placed on skills, beliefs, and mindset shift.

Methods: Contextualized within the Kenyan environment, this description identifies problems likely to be found elsewhere: They are (a) The limited programs that offer structured and routine on-the-job training for animal health workers; (b) Unequal distribution and inadequate quantity and quality of highly skilled workforce with appropriate technical training and scientific skills to combat public (and animal) health challenges at the frontline; (c) Health challenges occasioned by climate change and drought, including feed, and water scarcity; and (d) Inadequate contingency, preparedness, and response planning for effective deployment of ready-to-trigger workforce capacity. In-Service Applied Veterinary Epidemiology Training (ISAVET) is a four-month long training program targeted at capacity building of frontline animal health professionals. The training, which is currently implemented in 17 African countries, is innovative and a customized field epidemiology program, which responds to specific needs in animal health and contribute to approaches utilizing One Health.

Results: Several trainees have marked mindset change as shown in the outputs and outcomes. Positive attitudes towards improving animal health surveillance were noted during the evaluation process.

Discussion and Conclusion: Most existing workforce capacities in the animal and public health systems were built for specific fields, and hardly respond optimally for cross-sectoral purposes. We proposed customised in-service applied veterinary

epidemiology training that bypasses narrow-scoped workforce development but meets multifunctional, multidisciplinary and multisectoral needs before and during emergencies.

KEYWORDS

cross-sectoral engagement, capacity building, ISAVET, localization, Kenya

1. Introduction

The International Health Regulation 2005 (IHR 2005) guidelines recognizes the need for World Health Organization (WHO) member states to meet their core capacity requirements for surveillance, reporting and response activities (1). Using the whole of society approach to mobilize multiple sectors and disciplines to work together in fostering well-being and tackling threats to health and ecosystems is important. This approach must address critical societal needs, act on climate change mitigation, and contribute to sustainable development and health systems at national and subnational levels (2).

The JEE is a voluntary, collaborative, multisectoral process to assess country capacities to prevent, detect and rapidly respond to public health risks. Kenya participated in the Joint External Evaluation (JEE) in February to March 2017 (3). In the follow-up report, the lack of a structured and routine on-job training for animal health workers was identified as a major hindrance to attaining workforce with appropriate technical training and scientific skills to combat public (and animal) health challenges at the frontline (3). Furthermore, Kenyan battles persistent challenges that need innovative solutions including: (a) Limited Programs that offer structured and routine on-the-job training for animal health workers (4, 5); (b) Unequal distribution and inadequate quantity and quality of highly skilled workforce with appropriate technical training and scientific skills to combat public (and animal) health challenges at the frontline (4); (c) Health challenges occasioned by climate change and drought, feed, and water scarcity (6, 7); and (d) Inadequate contingency, preparedness, and response planning for effective deployment of ready-to-trigger workforce capacity (8, 9).

The animal health services in Kenya are decentralized into the national and county (subnational) services, and these are led by veterinary doctors, and supported by animal health scientists, technicians and other veterinary paraprofessionals. The dearth of veterinarians (quantitatively) are observed in the government ministries, para-veterinarians constituted the majority animal health workforce in Kenya, both at the national, counties, and the private companies. The capacities of this workforce to respond, prevent and detect disease specific zoonoses and One Health concerns range from 1.17 to 3.25; 1.19 to 3.44, and 1.14-3.67 respectively, on a scale of 5.00 (10). This is linked to the uneven level and intensity of training among the different categories that form the animal health workforce, as well as available resources. Hence, these challenges warrant that innovative methods are used to address them, and with the aim of capacity building of frontline animal health workers with the requisite skills to enhance early detection and response in mitigating the impact of potentially transboundary and zoonotic pathogen threats at their source was determined as issue of high priority (11, 12).

To respond to these challenges, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), the Institute for Infectious

Animal Diseases (IIAD) of Texas A&M University, through funding from the United States Agency for International Development, developed a comprehensive curriculum (13), for Frontline In-Service Applied Veterinary Epidemiology Training (ISAVET). The curriculum that was launched in a pilot training in October 2018 to April (13) in Kampala Uganda has since been rolled out in 17 countries of West, Central, East and Southern Africa. This training program primarily focuses on building the capacity of field animal health workers particularly veterinarians and paraveterinarians who are critical in addressing endemic, emerging infectious and transboundary animal diseases on the frontline. It also deliver additional benefit by providing workforce that meets the cross-sectoral collaboration strengthening by focusing on One Health training in field epidemiology to enable common understanding between public and animal health workforce, because structurally, it complement the Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Training Program (FELTP). In addition, because it is necessary to have mindset change to deliver impactful animal health services at the frontline, the learning of new skills and thinking around health service delivery were included using the concept that focuses on paradigm shift in service delivery. In countries, FAO works with the relevant ministries responsible for agriculture, health, wildlife and environment to implement the training Program.

In Kenya, the first Cohort of ISAVET training was launched on 7th June 2021, in Nakuru County and to date, three cohorts have been trained. Specifically, the ISAVET in Kenya is targeted at building capacities in 8 domains, 14 core competencies and 47 skills developed using a consultative approach among stakeholders [Supplementary Table S1; (13)]. The training consisted of 4 weeks of classroom training (3 weeks of didactic and 1 week of field experience). This was followed by 12 weeks of implementation of field activities relevant to the areas where trainees originated from.

1.1. Description of the in-country ISAVET program

1.1.1. Preparation for ISAVET training

1.1.1.1. Building national consensus and establishment of national ISAVET coordination structures

To facilitate the adoption of the training program in-country, FAO together with the relevant national partners organized a pre-inception stakeholders' consultative meeting to introduce the ISAVET program and get buy-in from the national and subnational governments. A comprehensive stakeholder mapping and analysis was also conducted in consultation with the State Department of Livestock's Directorate of Veterinary Services (DVS) and the Zoonotic Disease Unit (ZDU). This process led to the identification of relevant stakeholders by

institutional domain (major government stakeholders, minor government stakeholders, regulators, research institutions, partners/funders) and their area of interest (influence) (Supplementary Table S1).

Important stakeholders were mandated to nominate representatives to the *National ISAVET Program Steering Committee* (NIPSC), a body that is chaired by the Director of Veterinary Services. Other members of the NIPSC were from the Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock, Fisheries and Cooperatives (MoALFC), Ministry of Health, Kenya Wildlife Services, Council of Governors, Academia, Development Partners, Regulatory and Professional Bodies. The NIPSC operates through a terms of reference that include the provision of strategic guidance and support, and the monitoring and evaluation of progress and impact of the ISAVET program at country level.

Furthermore, a team of professionals were carefully selected to form the ISAVET Technical Working Group (ITWG), including staff from the MoALFC, ZDU, County Veterinary Services, Academia, Research and Development Partners. The terms of references for the ITWG was to provide advice and support in planning, preparation and implementation of the frontline ISAVET course and the provision of oversight of trainer and mentor competencies and skills. In preparation for the 1st cohort of ISAVET training, the global curriculum was first contextualized to Kenya, endorsed and validated by national stakeholders in November 2020. In the context of ISAVET, The trainers were persons who are technically sound in matters of epidemio-surveillance, and who were involved in the one-month didactic training of ISAVET trainees. The mentors were either academic or institutional mentors. The academic mentor provided advice to trainees on technical matters in epidemiology for the threemonth field activities while the institutional mentor assisted in the design of a realistic and achievable study and played oversight during the three-month field study period.

1.1.1.2. Planning and organization of the in-country ISAVET training

To implement the holistic training and enable mentoring approach of the ISAVET program, three training components were conducted. These included the 4-month in-service training program for frontline veterinarians and paraveterinarians, and a separate two-week long training of trainers and training of mentors workshops. The *National ISAVET Coordinator*, a former a graduate of the Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Training (FELTP), and a staff from the Directorate of Veterinary Services, coordinated the ISAVET program on behalf of the government of Kenya. The National ISAVET Coordinator worked closely with the *FAO-ECTAD National Epidemiologist*, who coordinated and facilitated the ISAVET program from FAO Kenya (Supplementary Figure S1).

1.1.1.3. Training of mentors and trainers

In preparation for the rolling out of frontline ISAVET Program in Kenya, 10 mentors and trainers were trained in addition to the 5 trainers and 5mentors initially trained in the regional training workshop held in Nairobi, Kenya in October 2018. Following an open call, a competitive process was utilized to select qualified individuals from the national and sub national veterinary services, the Meat Training Institute and the Kenya Wildlife Services. Briefly, the potential trainers and mentors were taken through a 5-day training on specific roles, responsibilities and required competencies expected to support the trainees during the 4 months applied veterinary epidemiology training. Content of the training included exercises on the technical requirements to ensure successful trainee program until completion, the curriculum and case study development tools, the monitoring and evaluation tools, core dimensions of the trainertrainee and trainer- mentor relationship and trainer responsibilities and expectations. This specific training was facilitated by mentors and trainers who had an initial training in the regional pilot workshop for trainers and mentors held in Nairobi in October (13). The national training was based on the approved curriculum adopted by the NIPSC.

1.1.1.4. Scoping mission

A key pre-course activity in planning for the frontline ISAVET training workshops was the scoping mission exercise. The goal of the mission was to assess the suitability of the selected County (subnational facility) to host ISAVET training of frontline health workers with the specific objectives of determining the prevalent disease(s) present at the County that can be used for field activities; identifying the specific location of field activities, and preparing and locating available resources suitable for the field activities. Statutorily, the scoping mission team was led by the government ISAVET focal person, but was inclusive of officers from FAO, and DVS, MoALFC. During the mission, consultations were made with the various stakeholders using a guided scoping mission tool that comprises of the stakeholder consultation checklist, field planning and laboratory planning tools. The scoping mission reports was shared with the stakeholders (FAO country team, the DVS and the respective counties that should host the month-long didactic training). The reports informed the comprehensive follow up administration and logistic actions, communication and other preparations.

1.1.1.5. Trainees selection and preparation for the training

The calls for application of potential veterinary and paraveterinary trainees from national and sub national veterinary services and institutions were sent out twice per annum (2 months before the commencement of the training) to all animal health and public health networks. Applications to the ISAVET training were done through the standardized ISAVET application form, and each application must be endorsed by respective County Director of Veterinary Services (CDVS) and the immediate work station supervisor. The CDVS was the designated as the Institutional Mentor during the field-based training. Using a pre-defined set of criteria, all applications were vetted by the 10-member selection committee representative of the DVS (Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics Unit and Training division), the ZDU and Council of Governors (CoG). From a set of applications, only 25 successful applicants were selected to constitute a cohort of ISAVET trainees. Each applicant was then pre-notified of the success of his or her application and informed of the venue of training, reporting dates, content and duration of the training, required proposed field case study concept note, and the necessary items to bring along to the training.

Approximately 4 weeks before the training, proposed weekly lessons were assigned to trainers considering each trainer's competency, experience, and availability during the didactic duration of the training. Trainees were also matched to mentors based on geographical location of the trainees and mentors. Virtual meetings were held between the course coordinators at DVS and FAO with the trainers to go through the developed lessons, exercises and
Criteria	Cohort 1	Cohort 2	Cohort 3*	
Focused region of Kenya	Random nationwide	Random nationwide	North Rift Economic Bloc (NOREB)	
Number of counties involved	24 (inclusive of 6 border counties and a Meat Training Institute)	22 (inclusive of one Regional Veterinary Investigation Laboratory, a point of entry and one national food processing and export facility)	9 (inclusive of the Kenya Wildlife Services (KWS) and Regional Veterinary Investigation Laboratory).	
Description of areas covered	The high animal production and Arid and Semi-Arid regions of Kenya.	The high animal production and Arid and Semi-Arid regions of Kenya.	Arid and Semi-Arid regions in the North Rift Economic Bloc (NOREB)	
Numbers in the Cohort	25	25	25	
Period of implementation (Classroom didactic)	7 June, 2021 to 2 July 2021	7 March 2022 to 1 April 2022	6 June 2022 to 1 July 2022	
Period of implementation (3-month Field work)	5 July, 2021 to 24 September 2021	4 April 2022 to 24 June 2022	4 July 2022 to 23 September 2022	
Male: Female ratio	16 males: 9 females	17 males, 8 females	17 males: 8 females	
Professional diversity of trainees	10 veterinarians, 15 paraveterinarians	8 veterinarians, 17 paraveterinarians	11 Veterinarians, 14 Paraveterinarians	
Areas of work	24 County disease surveillance officers, (8 serving in border counties), 1 officer from the Meat Training Institute who is now posted at border inspection point.	22 County disease surveillance officers, (4 serving in border counties), 1 border control officer, 1 veterinarian at the Regional Veterinary Investigation Laboratory and (1 paraveterinarian at the national food processing and export facility)	24 County disease surveillance officers, (3 serving in border counties), I veterinarian at Kenya wildlife service s and 1 veterinarian at the Regional Veterinary Investigation Laboratory	

TABLE 1 Clustering of participants including the areas of routine practices and activities.

Cohort 3: classwork is completed and field component is ongoing. The list of specific topics covered to date are available in the Supplementary Table S2.

contextualize case studies as required. The mentors and trainees also have virtual and phone call engagements to refine the proposed field case study concept notes.

1.1.2. Implementation and delivering of frontline ISAVET training

The trainees were introduced first to the concept of importance of mindset change and its output in reference to field epidemiology following training. On weekly basis, trainees were taken through courses in epidemiological surveillance, field investigations, preparedness, disease prevention and response. Other topics covered included communication, ethics, and professionalism during disease investigation. Furthermore, trainees were taken through training on collaborative engagement and shared resources and modalities for implementing field project using the One Health perspectives. The didactic portion of the training were delivered over 4-week period structured as outlined in the Supplementary Table S2a and Supplementary material S2b.

2. Materials and methods

Using biodata provided by trainees and the geo-coordinates of the place of primary assignment of each trainee, the spatial-temporal maps of the ISAVET field implementation for the three cohorts were conducted. All serial maps were created using QGIS v3.3¹.

Additional data used to evaluate the ISAVET program and trainees were collected using mixed method (quantitative and qualitative). Specifically, three surveys (plus four supplementary questionnaires) were designed and pretested among three technical staff (see Supplementary Appendices S1-S7). Based on the feedback, the questionnaire was modified to ensure consistency, clarity and validity, and coded on Google forms. The final version was selfadministered online, or the links for the online surveys were shared via email and social media (WhatsApp). Responses on (1) Selfreported comparison of pre and post-training survey among ISAVET trainees; (2) Scores for all areas of competencies and veterinary skills assessed before and after the 4 weeks didactic training; and (3) Scores for areas of intended or ongoing applications of veterinary epidemiology skills, and perceptions on the most useful veterinary epidemiology skills post-training were captured on a Likert scale (i.e., 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = neutral/no change, 4 = agree and 5=strongly agree). Other responses were either dichotomous in nature or non-structured (qualitative). Whereas the pre-training and post-training practices surveys were carried out among all the 76 ISAVET trainees, the 6-month post training practices survey was only carried out to target only the 25 ISAVET Cohort 1 trainees.

3. Results

In total, 75 trainees have undergone the in country ISAVET program in Kenya to date with approximately 67% male and 33% female (Table 1), in addition to the three originally trained through the pilot Program in Uganda, 2018. Over 93% of the trained workforce are direct frontline officers in the subnational system. A total of 40/47

¹ https://www.qgis.org/en/site/

(85.1%) of the counties have been represented in the training, although the number trained per counties varied (Table 1 and Figure 1). The high animal production (HAP), the Arid and Semi-Arid lands (ASALs) and the North Rift Economic Bloc (NOREB) regions of Kenya have been covered to date. Participants have been drawn from county veterinary services (including from 6 border counties), the Meat Training Institute, a Regional Veterinary Investigation Laboratory, a border post (point of entry), a national food processing and export facility, and the Kenya Wildlife Services (KWS) (Table 1).

The trainees included 33 veterinarians (44%) and 42 paraveterinarians (56%). On the specific areas of operations, 70 of the trainees operate as County disease surveillance officers (93.3%), including 14, who work in the border counties, and one representative each as meat training officer, border control officer, laboratory veterinarian, national food processor at the export facility and a wildlife veterinarian (Table 1). The trainees have had marked mindset changes as shown in their positive attitudes towards improving animal health surveillance in their localities and based on the outcomes of the evaluation process. For instance, positive attitudinal shift and commitments were seen in the mean gain of the veterinary epidemiologic skills of the ISAVET graduates [increase of at least 44.9%: ((4.46/3.08 *100) - (3.08/3.08 *100))] (Figure 2), and the confidence in field implementation, field applications of epidemiologic skills and One Health approach all improved (Table 2).

On a scale of 1–5, the mean value of the veterinary epidemiologic skills of the trainees at the beginning of the training was 3.08/5.00 (61.6%), which increased to 4.46/5.00 (89.2%) by the end of the training (Figure 2). At the pre-training level, the three skills with the highest scores were: (a) identifying important stakeholders in the locality (district) (3.96/5.00; 79.2%); (b) adopting roles assigned during field activities as a team member (3.76/5.00; 75.2%); and (c) calculating the measures of central tendency (mean, median and mode) and preparing a written report and oral presentation to technical and non-technical audiences (3.56/5.00; 71.2% each)

(Figure 2). The weakest skills at the pre-training stage were the application of the seven-step approach to ethical decision-making (2.32/5.00; 46.4%) and the application of methods used for interpreting data to improve situational awareness (2.48/5.00; 49.6%) (Figure 2). To highlight a few, at post-training level, the three strongest scores remained identifying important stakeholders in the locality (district) and adopting roles assigned during field activities as a team member (4.76/5.00; 95.2%), and calculating the measures of central tendency (mean, median and mode) (4.72/5.00; 94.4%) (Figure 2).

On the likely immediate post-training application of epidemiologic knowledge and skills gained during the didactic training, 50% indicated willingness to apply their knowledge to improve surveillance and reporting, while 14.7 and 11.8% wanted to improve outbreak investigation and feedback mechanisms, respectively. Only 2.9% indicated the utilization of the new knowledge to improve disease prevention (Figure 3). Approximately 8.8% believed that the new knowledge could improve their professionalism and 5.9% each believed that it should improve advocacy and applied One Health (Figure 3).

Six-month post training, 86.6% of the trainees were adopting roles assigned to them during field activities as team members, 78.4% were identifying important stakeholders in the locality (district) and 70.8% each were still producing summary reports with recommendations for action, and preparing and following up plans to capture and describe data by animal, place and time (Figure 4A). Six-month post training, trainees perceived that the most useful veterinary epidemiology skills gained were: preparing and following up plans to capture and describe data by animal-place [16/25 (64%)], and producing summary reports with recommendations for action [15/25 (60%)]. None of the trainees perceived that creating a standard outbreak histogram and interpreting the results were as useful as other skills (Figure 4B).

Furthermore, in terms of attitude, confidence, and commitments, 12 areas were evaluated, and the trainees gained marginal increases in some areas (p > 0.05) and only in the area of



FIGURE 1

Spatial spread of trained cohorts of in-service applied veterinary epidemiology training (ISAVET). Note that Cohort 1 is represented in (blue), Cohort 2 (green), and Cohort 3 (light brown).

Areas of Evaluation for Veterinary Epidemiology Skills	Mean value (Pre-training)	Mean value (Post-training)
Review the quality of a data set systematically	2.8	4.0
Provide feedback to improve data quality	2.8	4.2
Prepare and follow a plan to capture and describe data by animal-place-time	2.88	4.
Calculate measures of central tendency (mean, median, mode)	3.56	4.7
Calculate measures of disease occurrence and impact (rates, ratios, proportion)	2.84	4.4
Organize and display data by animal-place-time	2.84	4.5
Display the findings of an investigation using tables, graphs, and maps	2.84	4.5
Apply methods used for interpreting data to improve situational awareness	2.48	4.1
Produce a summary report with recommendations for action	2.88	4.3
Complete a reporting form used for animal disease surveillance	3.2	4.4
Coordinate with the laboratory to collect, manage and interpret test results	3.32	4.4
Use appropriate diagnostic methods for case detection and verify the diagnosis	2.96	4.3
Collect, label, package, and transport samples for laboratory diagnosis	3.24	4.4
Apply the steps of an outbreak investigation	2.76	4.4
Find cases and complete a questionnaire systematically	3.16	4.5
Create a line list of all potential cases	3.12	4.0
Create a standard outbreak histogram and interpret the results	2.64	4.4
Apply PowerPoint formatting principles for clear presentations	3.6	4.5
Identify important stakeholders in your district	3.96	4.7
Prepare a written report and oral presentation to technical and non-technical audiences	3.56	4.4
Apply the seven-step approach to ethical decision-making	2.32	4.5
Adopt the role assigned to you as a team member	3.76	4.7
Overall average of all scores	3.08	4.4
Ideal score	5.00	5.0

FIGURE 2

Mean scores for all areas of competencies and veterinary skills assessed before and after the 4 weeks didactic training. Only 65% of the trainees understood the key One Health concepts at the beginning of the didactic training but this increased to approximately 88% during the post-training practices survey.

contribution to post-incident assessments by validating and providing field level data were significant gain observed (p = 0.01) (Table 2).

4. Discussion

In this work, the implementation of ISAVET was explored in Kenya and showed how international development organization and national partners can collaborate and co-create to build the national workforce with resultant positive effects on country's epidemiosurveillance systems, with reflections on the One Health approach. The need for such trained workforce cannot be underestimated (13). Specifically, in the delivery of ISAVET Program in Kenya, only 78 trainees have completed the training in three cohorts, but the Program intends to generate additional 50 participants per annum, unless the scaling up is facilitated by other partners. It is acknowledged that the current numbers being trained per annum is inadequate in a country like Kenya, where skilled workforce demand is huge, and animal resources are enormous. While it is understood that this work is almost completely externally funded, it is acknowledged that there is a need to ramp up local and national resources to rapidly expand the pool of trainees and place them where they are most needed in order to meet the epidemio-surveillance needs of Kenya. Over-dependency on externally sourced funds have been identified as a limitation to scale up the implementation of best initiative in countries of Africa (14–17).

The spatial spread of trainees from counties and where they are working appeared balanced; this covers 85% of the geographical landscape; however, the number of trained personnel per county range from 1 to 5, figures that need to be up-scaled. Perhaps a training of trainer approach can be utilized to fast-track the trained personnel per county, through the extended training of officers at the county level by the ISAVET graduates. Future training can thereafter be prioritized through upskilling of these locally trained individuals. From the third cohorts, the focus of selecting trainees has been re-organized from having a national spread to prioritizing a region in each cohort. The change was occasioned by the different challenges and needs that exist in the different zones. For instance, the ASALs faces challenges of drought, with resultant loss of livestock resources due to lack of water and feed scarcity. Such special needs are therefore considered in packaging regional-level training and discussed alongside the training of the cohorts. Localizing animal and public health solutions have been considered beneficial than a generalized approach (18). This observation is important because it brings the veterinary services in direct contact with the people who need the services, and reduce the critical response time to public health and animal health events. The benefits of reducing critical response time have been emphasized previously (19). This also have implications on One Health at local level as animal health issues often result human health in the frontlines, e.g., anthrax, rabies, brucellosis and trypanosomiasis among others.

Criterion to measure attitude, confidence and commitment to epidemio-surveillance capacities	Pre-training average (<i>n</i> = 25)	Post-training average (n = 25)	Value of <i>p</i>	X ²
Map value chains with stakeholders during peace time	3.48	4.56	0.06	3.6
Contribute to post-incident assessments by validating and providing field level data	2.76	4.4	0.01	6.5
Based on the ISAVET curriculum I have been introduced to, ISAVET will help me gain skills in field epidemiology	4.76	4.92	0.52	0.4
Participating in ISAVET will be important for my professional development	4.92	5.00	0.53	0.4
I will use what I will learn from ISAVET in my job	4.96	4.88	0.66	0.2
I am only going to participate in ISAVET because my supervisor asked me to	1.44	1.12	0.61	0.3
I know what is expected of me after I complete the course	4.44	4.84	0.28	1.2
I believe that ISAVET will help me develop professionally	4.92	4.96	0.80	0.1
I am eager to apply the knowledge I will gain in ISAVET in my job	4.96	5	0.66	0.2
ISAVET will improve my field epidemiology skills	4.96	4.96	1.00	0.0
My expectation from the ISAVET training is to able to improve quality of data and reports	4.92	4.96	0.80	0.1
I am confident my supervisor/management will provide me with the necessary support to apply the skills I learnt through ISAVET in my daily work.	4.64	4.64	1.00	0.0

TABLE 2 Self-reported comparison of pre and post-training survey among ISAVET trainees.

The maximum score obtainable in the pre and post-training evaluation is 5.0.



Important observations were the attitudinal shift especially in the mean veterinary epidemiologic skills, which increased by 44.9% and the observed boost in confidence in field implementation, field

applications of epidemiologic skills and One Health approach. These is important for professionalism and effectiveness of the frontline officers. The training highlighted the weakest areas of skills of the



frontline officer and provided feedback to the training institutions (universities and higher colleges). The follow-up monitoring and evaluation was particularly useful because it tracked each training in real time and served as additional evaluative tool in service delivery and career progress of animal health workforce. Although the training exposed the trainees to a two-way (epidemiology-laboratory) and four-way (epidemiology-laboratory in public health and animal health) linkages, and the direct supervisors of the graduates understood the skills and knowledge gained by trainees, the CDVSs were somewhat disconnected from the program thus necessitating a need to introduce executive session of the program.

It is confirmed that the current ISAVET graduates have reached beyond the limited scope of epidemio-surveillance in animal health alone, but some have contributed to or have been utilized for support services where public health officials are in short supply, for instance, during the surge in COVID-19 epidemics, and during county-level unusual public health events or incidences needing One health approach. Data-driven approach in animal health and broad training in animal health for the benefit of public health have been emphasized (20, 21). It should be understood that most African states have inadequate capacity (number and quality) of animal and public health workforce to meet the immediate animal and public health challenges. In the recent COVID-19 challenges, countries like Ghana, Liberia, Senegal, Sierra Leone, Tanzania, and Nigeria utilized the veterinary laboratories and its workforce to increase diagnostic capacities and contribute to response to COVID-19 outbreak when the public health laboratories were over whelmed (22-24).

Basically, the ISAVET program has addressed some of the originally identified challenges mentioned in the introduction above:

(1) It is offering a structured and routine on-the-job training for animal health workers; (2) Although, it cannot even out the unequal distribution and inadequate in quantity of highly skilled workforce, it has shown capacity to improve the quality and effectiveness of this workforce through appropriate technical training and scientific skills to combat both animal health and public health challenges at the frontline; (3) The training also capacitated innovative thinking to resolve associated health challenges of climate change and drought; and (4) It has also contributed significantly to improving contingency, preparedness, and response planning for effective deployment of frontline rapid response team members.

Finally, the field interventions and follow-up reports have presented both the national and subnational governments with opportunities to prioritize locally significant disease situations, level of awareness, knowledge and practices, and skill levels with regards to zoonotic, emerging, re-emerging and transboundary diseases, as well as other issues including antimicrobial resistance and One Health.

In conclusion, valuable capacities already exist in the animal and public health systems in Africa. These capacities were built for specific fields in isolation, and hardly are made available for other purposes. This lack of integration is costly, though these costs are underappreciated most times. By implementing some minor adjustments and additional surge training that programs like FELTP and ISAVET are doing, such originally trained workforce can be upskilled to meet multifunctional needs including addressing emergencies, when they arise. Because, emergency does not allow much room for preparation when it occurs, these surge capacities must be prepared ahead, and can be rapidly adjusted to meet need when necessary.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

RS, KC, SO, CL, ON, and FF coordinated the research implementation. RS, MN, SO, HO, MA, JO, and TO conducted the training. CL, ON, CB, and FF played oversight roles. RS and FF did the original manuscript draft. ET, RS, and KC conducted the monitoring and evaluation. All authors contributed to the review and finalization of the draft.

Acknowledgments

We recognize the contributions of many organizations and individuals who supported this study. Our thanks go to the Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock, Fisheries and Cooperatives, Directorate of Veterinary Services and County Governments. We acknowledge Evans Tenge (FAO) and Rinah Wangila (FAO) for drafting the original report. The team received valuable input that improved the report from Fasina Folorunso (FAO), Sam Okuthe (FAO), and Khadija Chepkorir (DVS). We would also like to extend our appreciation to the Cohort 1 ISAVET alumni and County Directors of Veterinary

References

1. World Health Organization (2005). Core capacity requirements for surveillance and response. International health regulations (2005), Annex 1, 2nd ed. Available at: https://www.afro.who.int/sites/default/files/2017-06/international_health_regulations_2005. pdf (Accessed September 27, 2022).

2. One Health High-Level Expert Panel (OHHLEP)Adisasmito WB, Almuhairi S, Behravesh CB, Bilivogui P, Bukachi SA, et al. One health: a new definition for a sustainable and healthy future. *PLoS Pathog.* (2022) 18:e1010537. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1010537

3. World Health Organization. (2017). Joint external evaluation of IHR core capacities of the Republic of Kenya: mission report, 27 February to 3 march 2017. World Health Organization Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/258694 (Accessed 27 September 2022)

4. Griffith EF, Kipkemoi JR, Robbins AH, Abuom TOMariner JC, Kimani T, et al. A one health framework for integrated service delivery in Turkana County, Kenya. *Pastoralism.* (2020) 10:7. doi: 10.1186/s13570-020-00161-6,

 Seffren V, Lowther S, Guerra M, Kinzer MH, Turcios-Ruiz R, Henderson A, et al. Strengthening the global one health workforce: veterinarians in CDC-supported field epidemiology training programs. One Health. (2022) 14:100382. doi: 10.1016/j. onehlt.2022.100382

6. Cheruiyot SJ, Kimanthi M, Shabani JS, Nyamu NF, Gathu C, Agoi F, et al. Climate change poses a threat to nutrition and food security in Kilifi County, Kenya. *Afr J Prim Health Care Fam Med.* (2022) 14:e1–4. doi: 10.4102/phcfm.v14i1.3718

7. Lindvall K, Kinsman J, Abraha A, Dalmar A, Abdullahi MF, Godefay H, et al. Health status and health care needs of drought-related migrants in the horn of Africa-a qualitative investigation. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:5917. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph17165917

8. Ministry of Health, Kenya. (2021). Kenya public health emergency operations center (KPHEOC) handbook. Available at: http://guidelines.health.go.ke:8000/media/ Kenya_Public_Health_Emergency_Operations_Center_KPHEOC_Handbook_-_ March_2021.pdf (Accessed May 03, 2023).

9. World Health Organization and the World Bank (2022). Analysis of pandemic preparedness and response (PPR) architecture, financing needs, gaps and mechanisms: prepared for the G20 joint finance and health task force. Available at: https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/doc/5760109c4db174ff90a8dfa7d025644a-0290032022/original/G20-Gaps-in-PPR-Financing-Mechanisms-WHO-and-WB-pdf.pdf (Accessed May 03, 2023).

10. Onono JO. A validated report on animal health work force profiling for Kenya, 2023. Kenya: Internal report prepared for the Directorate of Veterinary Services, State Services (CDVSs) who participated as key respondents and supervisors to the trainees. Finally, we would like to express our appreciation to USAID for funding implementation of the ISAVET project in Kenya through OSRO/GLO/507/USA.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets.2023.1150557/ full#supplementary-material

Department of Livestock, Nairobi, Kenya and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2023).

11. Belot G, Caya F, Errecaborde KM, Traore T, Lafia B, Skrypnyk A, et al. IHR-PVS National Bridging Workshops, a tool to operationalize the collaboration between human and animal health while advancing sector-specific goals in countries. *PLoS One*. (2021) 16:e0245312. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0245312

12. Bruckner G, Woodford J, Cipriano F. (2019). PVS evaluation follow-up mission report: Kenya. Available at: https://rr-africa.woah.org/en/our-mission/promotion-of-veterinary-services-improving-the-legal-framework-and-resources-of-national-veterinary-services/performance-of-veterinary-services-pys-pathway-missions-status-of-implementation-in-africa/ (Accessed October 26, 2022).

13. FAO, AGRILIFE. Frontline ISAVET Curriculum Instructor Guide. Rome: Internal Document (2019).

14. Fasinae FO, Bett B, Dione M, Mutua F, Roesel K, Thomas L, et al. One health gains momentum in Africa but room exists for improvement. *One Health*. (2022) 15:100428. doi: 10.1016/j.onehlt.2022.100428

15. Fasina FO, Fasanmi OG, Makonnen YJ, Bebay C, Bett B, Roesel K. The one health landscape in sub-Saharan African countries. *One Health*. (2021) 13:100325. doi: 10.1016/j.onehlt.2021.100325

16. Kwemo AB (2017). Making Africa great again: Reducing aid dependency. Available at: https://www.brookings.edu/blog/africa-in-focus/2017/04/20/making-africa-great-again-reducing-aid-dependency/ (Accessed 07 October 2022)

17. OECD (2020). OECD policy responses to coronavirus (COVID-19) – COVID-19 and Africa: Socio-economic implications and policy responses. Available at: (https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/covid-19-and-africa-socio-economic-implications-and-policy-responses-96e1b282/).

18. Enticott G. The ecological paradox: social and natural consequences of the geographies of animal health promotion. *Trans Inst Br Geogr.* (2008) 33:433–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-5661.2008.00321.x

19. Rivas AL, Tennenbaum SE, Aparicio JP, Hoogesteijn AL, Mohammed HO, Castillo-Chavez C, et al. Critical response time (time available to implement effective measures for epidemic control): model building and evaluation. *Can J Vet Res.* (2003) 67:307–11.

20. Mazeri S, Burdon Bailey JL, Mayer D, Chikungwa P, Chulu J, Grossman PO, et al. Using data-driven approaches to improve delivery of animal health care interventions for public health. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* (2021) 118:e2003722118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2003722118

21. O'Brien MK, Wuebbolt Macy K, Pelican K, Perez AM, Errecaborde KM. Transforming the One Health workforce: lessons learned from initiatives in Africa, Asia, and Latin America. *Rev Sci Tech*. (2019) 38:239–50. doi: 10.20506/rst.38.1.2956

22. Anon (2020). ISAVET frontline training – Field epidemiology investigation to save lives. Available at: https://reliefweb.int/report/world/isavet-frontline-training-field-epidemiology-investigation-save-lives (Accessed October 18, 2022)

23. Makama S, Ijoma S, Meseko C. National Veterinary Research Institute: veterinary services in COVID-19 response. *Vetline*. (2020) 30:1–3.

24. Misinzo G, Matilu M. (2020). Preparing health workers for COVID-19: Laboratory testing. Available at: https://www.safe-care.org/events/laboratorytesting/ (Accessed September 07, 2022)

25. Campbell T, Campbell A. Emerging disease burdens and the poor in cities of the developing world. *J Urban Health*. (2007) 84:i54–64. doi: 10.1007/s11524-007-9181-7

26. Kyobutungi C, Ziraba AK, Ezeh A, Yé Y. The burden of disease profile of residents of Nairobi's slums: results from a demographic surveillance system. *Popul Health Metrics*. (2008) 6:1. doi: 10.1186/1478-7954-6-1

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ariel L. Rivas, University of New Mexico, United States

REVIEWED BY Ochieng Justus, AVRDC - The World Vegetable Center, Tanzania John Olwande, Egerton University, Kenya

*CORRESPONDENCE Xiaoli Yang ⊠ yangxiaoli@syau.edu.cn Endong Mu ⊠ 2021500007@syau.edu.cn

RECEIVED 09 April 2023 ACCEPTED 08 August 2023 PUBLISHED 21 August 2023

CITATION

Yu R, Yang X and Mu E (2023) A study on the impact of double external shocks on Chinese wholesale pork prices. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10:1202811. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1202811

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Yu, Yang and Mu. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A study on the impact of double external shocks on Chinese wholesale pork prices

Rui Yu, Xiaoli Yang* and Endong Mu*

College of Economics and Management, Shenyang Agricultural University, Shenyang, China

Introduction: Fluctuation in pork prices has always been a focus of academic attention. This paper examines the impact of double external shocks on pork prices, to provide reference for the impact of future outbreaks on the pork market.

Methods: This paper constructs a natural experiment based on the time and regional differences in the occurrence of the epidemics. Double difference models and triple difference models are used to identify the impacts of African swine fever and COVID-19 on Chinese pork prices.

Results: The results found that both African swine fever and COVID-19 positively affected pork prices, but African swine fever had a greater degree of impact; before the COVID-19 epidemic, African swine fever caused a more significant increase in pork prices; the impact of a single African swine fever shock was greater than the double shocks.

Discussion: The COVID-19 epidemic may have curbed the further increase in pork prices, due to the decreased market consumption demand caused by the epidemic.

KEYWORDS

African swine fever, COVID-19, pork prices, wholesale prices, natural experiment

1. Introduction

African swine fever (ASF, the same as below) first emerged in various regions of China in August 2018. Measures, including infection culling, disease-related mortality, and transprovincial embargoes, severely disrupted the pork market, creating a significant imbalance in supply and demand, and profoundly affected the swine industry (1). The continuous repercussions of ASF were not yet mitigated when COVID-19 (the same as below) emerged in December 2019, exacerbating the impact on pig production, consumption, and pricing (2). As an indicator of economic activity, prices best encapsulate the real-time status of market supply and demand. Agricultural product prices are among the first to be impacted when an epidemic strikes (3). The swine industry and the pork market find themselves in a challenging position, dealing with a complex and overlapping set of external factors. These "double external shocks" have caused instability in the Chinese hog market and further fluctuated pork prices.

Many previous studies have investigated how some epidemic outbreaks can affect the market. Some scholars point out that disease outbreaks can affect hog production (4, 5). Also, epidemics outbreaks can affect the pork trade (6) and lead to bias against the origin (7), while prolonged trade bans can reduce the pork supply (8). After the outbreak of ASF, some scholars have studied that ASF has led to an increase in pork prices and a decrease in demand (9). But currently, research on ASF mainly focuses on the impact of exports, and export losses are the main reason for the increase in the total cost of this epidemic (10). After the COVID-19

outbreak, some scholars pointed out that the COVID-19 epidemic has to some extent disrupted the pork supply chain (5).

Thus it can be seen, the dual external impacts of ASF and COVID-19 are bound to bring a series of serious impacts on the pork market, which will lead to the structural adjustment of the meat market, and the industrial development is full of uncertainty. China is the world's largest producer of live pigs and consumer of pork (11). The fluctuation of pork prices has always been highly concerned by all sectors of society, ensuring the stability of pork prices, which is related to the well-being of people and the stability of the market. In view of this, the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China and the State Council made an essential deployment in the No.1 central document of the Central Committee in 2020 to ensure the price and stable supply of agricultural products such as pigs, to promote industrial stability and market stability.

Based on previous literature and research findings, many scholars contend that factors influencing pork prices encompass policy regulations, production costs such as feed, transportation expenses, and exogenous shocks (12-15). According to the equilibrium price theory, the key factors affecting pork prices lie in supply and demand. From a supply perspective, production costs and circulation costs can be summarized as internal factors that affect supply, which determine the scale of pig farming. The impact of the epidemic (including disasters) can be summarized as external factors that affect supply, causing great uncertainty to the pig industry and the pork market. There is a wealth of literature on this aspect. For example, Wang Mingli and Xiao Hongbo believe that the impact of the epidemic on the pig market is bidirectional. On the one hand, the epidemic will directly trigger public panic, impact consumer demand, and cause drastic fluctuations in pork prices; On the other hand, the epidemic has led to a decrease in the stock of live pigs, resulting in a decrease in output and impacting market supply (16). Liang Xingqun and Xia Qingli analyzed the chain policy response caused by the epidemic and proposed that the ASF led to market segmentation caused by the government's implementation of the embargo policy, which restricted the transportation of products between production and sales areas, and subsequently led to drastic fluctuations in pork prices (17).

From the perspective of demand, with the development of the social economy and the increase in people's income, the demand for pork in the market has undergone profound changes. Drawing on the discussions of Li Binglong and He Qiuhong, from an economic perspective, pork is a normal good with a positive income elasticity of demand. As residents' incomes increase, so does their demand for pork consumption, leading to higher prices in society. But if, with the development of the economy, residents' income reaches a higher level, consumers' consumption habits and concepts are also changing, and the demand for a diversified diet and balanced nutrition increases. Therefore, pork becomes an inferior product, and the effect of income changes on pork prices is exactly opposite to the direction when pork is a normal product. In recent years, the growth in urban residents' consumption of pork in China has been sluggish, and the high-income group has exhibited a downward trend (18). In other words, an increase in public income is likely to result in a reduction in pork consumption.

In general, there are many studies on the supply and demand situation of the pork market and the impact of the epidemic, but there is still some research space. Previous literature on the impact of external shocks on pork prices has mostly focused on a single external shock perspective, with few discussions on the complex impact of multiple shocks on pork prices. In addition, ASF and COVID-19 in reality occur in a wide range and last for a long time, which provides a place for building Natural experiments, thus providing conditions for analyzing the impact of multiple external shocks on pork prices, which makes the paper supplement and contribute to the previous literature and research theories.

Based on the practical situation described above and the limitations of existing research, we propose the following scientific issues: Since the impact of dual external shocks on the pork market is complex and staggered, to what extent will ASF and COVID-19, respectively, affect the pork market? Is there any difference in ASF impact before and after COVID-19? Will COVID-19 aggravate the impact on the pork market, or will it not cause a new impact? To answer these questions in depth is conducive to sorting out the development and changes of China's pork market under the dual external impact, and can better explain the phenomenon, reveal the law, and put forward targeted suggestions. This is of great practical significance to ensure the smooth development of the pork market. Considering that price is an important indicator to reflect the stable development of the market, it is feasible and representative to analyze the impact of dual external shocks on the pork market from the perspective of the change in pork wholesale price, and analyzing from this perspective not only has certain practical theoretical significance but also serves as a supplement to relevant literature and theory.

Therefore, under the dual impact of ASF and COVID-19, in the reality of the rapid rise of pork prices, using the data of China's agricultural wholesale market (sourced from the wholesale market monitoring database of the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs of the People's Republic of China), according to the different time differences and regional differences of the two shocks in different regions, Chongqing, Sichuan Province, Zhejiang Province, and Hubei Province were selected to form natural experiments respectively, the difference-in-difference model is constructed to identify the impact of ASF and COVID-19 on the prices of pork wholesale market. On this basis, the triple difference model, replacement sample period, and placebo test are further used for the robustness test. The results showed that ASF and COVID-19 significantly increased the wholesale price of pork; Compared with COVID-19, ASF has a greater impact on the wholesale prices of pork; In addition, the impact of ASF on the wholesale prices of pork is different before and after COVID-19. COVID-19 leads to a decline in market consumption demand, which may inhibit the further increase of pork prices.

Possible contributions of this paper: under the realistic conditions of ASF and COVID-19 double shocks, analyze the changes in pork prices, and analyze the impact of external shocks on pork prices according to the special realistic conditions, which to a certain extent broadens the realistic boundary of factors affecting pork prices; In addition, it is a supplement to the existing literature to study the impact of dual external shocks on pork prices and analyze the impact intensity of different impacts and try to sort out the trend of pork prices changes in complex situations.

The writing structure is as follows: The second part is theoretical analysis; The third part is sample selection, data analysis, and scheme design; The fourth part is the empirical test; The fifth part is conclusions and suggestions.

2. Conceptual framework

According to previous studies, the key to the impact mechanism of external shocks on product prices lies in supply and demand. The same is true for ASF and COVID-19. Generally, when a catastrophic or public hazard event occurs, the consumer market is bound to suffer from short-term depression, which will gradually spread to the production end, and then the entire market will experience short-term huge fluctuations. Especially when the external impact directly affects the production end, the whole market will be subject to greater intervention, and the market price change is particularly unstable. To analyze the impact mechanism of ASF and COVID-19 on pork prices, the difficulty lies not only in sorting out the impact of the two on pork prices but also in the complex impact mechanism during the staggered period of the two (see Figure 1).

First of all, the impact mechanism of ASF on pork prices before the occurrence of COVID-19 was analyzed. From the perspective of supply, the sudden outbreak of swine fever has resulted in a significant number of live pigs being infected and many farm households being impacted or even withdrawing from the market, potentially leading to a decline in production (19, 20). At the same time, considering the safety and stability, the government has taken measures such as killing, burning, and burying to further reduce the number of live pigs in the plague area. In addition, pig transportation and other processes are subject to stronger supervision, which increases the difficulty of product supply. The supply of pork in the whole market showed a sharp decline. According to the equilibrium price theory, when supply falls, the supply curve shifts to the left. On the premise of constant demand, prices are bound to rise.

From the perspective of demand, ASF, as an animal disease, greatly affects food safety. Consumers are not aware of swine fever and have consumer panic psychology, which will urge them to change their consumption behavior and seek alternative consumption. In the short term, consumers will increase their demand for alternative products such as poultry and beef, and mutton, thereby driving up the overall price of livestock products (1, 21–23). Although governments at all levels actively publicized ASF-related knowledge, the panic mentality was difficult to eradicate in the short term, the consumer market fell in the short term, and the demand curve also moved to the

left. Considering the actual situation, the impact of pig hunting, policy adjustment, and other factors on the pork market is much higher than consumer panic psychological factors, and the degree of left shift of the supply curve may be much greater than the demand curve, so the pork price shows a relatively large upward trend.

Next, the impact of ASF on pork prices during the occurrence of COVID-19 was analyzed. First of all, after the outbreak of COVID-19 (including partial COVID-19 in the post-epidemic era), the local government took closed control measures, blocked transportation roads, and strengthened the supervision of trans-provincial transportation, resulting in traffic disruption. In this case, the transportation of live pigs is blocked, the farms are passively closed, and even some slaughterhouses are closed, affecting the short-term supply of pork. It is worth emphasizing that the supply of pigs is always in a tight state due to the extension of the pig feeding period, and the traffic jam may also further expand the impact of the supply shortage. Due to a series of closed control and transportation blocking measures, at this time, the infection of pig epidemics caused by ASF is reduced, and the government killing is reduced. In addition, considering the poor performance of the international external environment COVID-19, imported pork products are under strict control, further strengthening the uncertainty of pork market supply. That is, from the perspective of supply, under the closed control policy during COVID-19, the impact of ASF was significantly reduced.

In addition, under COVID-19, people are isolated at home, the canteen and restaurants are closed, the people's food consumption is transferred to their homes, and the catering industry is rapidly declining. Considering the widespread waste of food consumption, the food consumption shift is likely to cause a decline in the market demand for agricultural products. At the same time, the shrinking of the catering industry is bound to have an impact on the agricultural product consumption market. As a major consumer product in the catering industry in China, the demand for pork has declined significantly in the short term. That is, from the perspective of demand, the change in people's eating habits during COVID-19 has no impact on the pork consumption panic caused by ASF. Therefore, the impact of ASF on the pork demand side has not changed before and after COVID-19.



Finally, analyze the dual impact of ASF and COVID-19 on pork prices. In the COVID-19 state, the market on both sides of supply and demand has shrunk to varying degrees, and the degree of shrinkage is difficult to determine. At this time, there are ASF cases, and measures such as catching and killing are staged again, which will inevitably lead to a stronger impact on the supply side. Therefore, under the double impact of ASF + COVID-19, the degree of impact on pork prices is bound to be higher than that under the single impact of COVID-19. Although Mingli et al. (16) have demonstrated that the impact of epidemic diseases on pork price fluctuations is more severe than that of natural disasters, the severity of COVID-19's impact has yet to be verified. So, there is uncertainty in the direction of COVID-19 affecting pork prices. The impact of ASF and ASF + COVID-19 on pork prices can be assessed and compared post-COVID-19 to determine the extent and direction of COVID-19's influence on pork prices. Considering the actual situation, ASF and COVID-19 have a stronger impact on the wholesale price of pork on the supply side. Therefore, the change in supply volume is greater than the demand volume, which ultimately affects the wholesale price of pork and causes price changes. Figure 1 shows the theoretical framework of the impact of ASF and COVID-19 on pork prices.

Next, discuss the relationship between the two from an economic perspective. Draw a diagram of the impact of external shocks on pork prices on supply and demand (see Figure 2). First, analyze the impact of ASF on the pork market (as shown in Figure 2A). Both supply and demand declined. At the supply level, the pork supply decreased sharply, and the supply curve moved to the left, from S to S'. At the demand level, the pork demand decreased due to the substitution transfer of consumption structure, and the demand curve moved from D to D'. Considering that supply is more affected than demand, the supply curve moves farther to the left. Therefore, according to the equilibrium price theory, the equilibrium point E_0 will move to E_1 , and the equilibrium price will rise significantly from P_0 to P_1 .

Secondly, analyze the impact of ASF on pork prices during COVID-19 (as shown in Figure 2B). From the supply side, closed control, blocked roads, blocked pig transportation, the passive barrier of farms and the international external environment caused the tight supply of pork market. At this time, the impact of ASF under the background of COVID-19 was weakened by a series of COVID-19 policy measures. At this time, the left shift of the supply curve caused by ASF was smaller than (a); From the demand side, closed control, people are isolated at home, restaurants and canteens are closed, the catering industry shrinks, and the demand for pork market decreases. At this time, the changes in the demand side caused by COVID-19 can not affect people's panic about the impact of ASF. Therefore, the left shift of the demand curve caused by ASF is the same as that caused by (a). The result shows that in (b), the price of pork rose from P₀ to P₂, less than that in (a) (P₂ < P₁).

Finally, analyze the role of ASF + COVID-19 dual effects (as shown in Figure 2C). Under the complex influence of COVID-19, curve S is bound to move a large distance to the left by superposing the influence of ASF. At this time, P₃ is above P₂ (P₂ < P₃), while the influence of COVID-19 on pork price is uncertain, resulting in the single impact of ASF being stronger than the combined effect of the above two types of external impacts (P₃ < P₁).

To sum up, in the context of COVID-19, a series of closed prevention and control measures will weaken the impact of ASF from the supply side, so the impact of ASF on the wholesale price of pork before COVID-19 is the strongest, followed by the dual impact of ASF + COVID-19, and finally the impact of ASF on the price of pork during the occurrence of COVID-19, namely $P_2 < P_3 < P_1$.

3. Data and scheme design

3.1. Data sources

The data comes from the wholesale market monitoring database of the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs of the People's Republic of China, which covers the daily transaction wholesale prices and volume of various agricultural and sideline products. According to the research needs, the daily wholesale prices of pork in all wholesale markets in Chongqing, Zhejiang, Sichuan, and Hubei were selected as the research objects. The data type is daily data, and the period is from March 1, 2017, to March 23, 2020.

In addition, 0–1 dummy variables are used to reflect ASF and COVID-19. When ASF or COVID-19 occurs in the sample period, the indicator is equal to 1, otherwise, it is equal to 0. The deadline for the impact of ASF is based on the release of ASF in the region on the official website of the Ministry of Agriculture; The deadline for



Supply and demand diagram of the impact of external shocks on the wholesale price of pork. (A) Effect of ASF before COVID-19 on wholesale price of pork. (B) Effect of ASF wholesale price of pork during COVID-19. (C) The dual impact of ASF+COVID-19 on the wholesale price of pork.

COVID-19's impact is based on the reduction of the risk response level of the notification issued by the region to level 3 or below.

3.2. Experimental design

3.2.1. Experimental background

ASF and COVID-19 come one after another, affecting most of China. This realistic background provides a natural experimental ground for identifying the impact of dual external shocks on pork prices. First, there are samples of provinces that are impacted and samples of provinces that are not impacted in the same period. The experimental group and the control group can be set up to identify the processing effect of the impact by using the difference-in-difference model; Second, there are differences in the impact time. On the premise that the economic and social development rate of the sample in a single province is consistent year by year, using the method of Hanming (24) for reference, compare the external impact period of a single sample with that of the same period in previous years, and establish an interpreted experimental group and a control group to identify the impact treatment effect (24). Based on this, after sorting out the occurrence of ASF and COVID-19 in each province, three practical situations in line with the research purpose were summarized. See Figure 3 for details.

The first reality is to study the impact of ASF on pork prices before COVID-19. The observation sample area is Chongqing. Since Sichuan Province is a major pork production province (25), Chongqing is located next to Sichuan, which is a typical pork main selling area and has good representativeness. ASF occurred in Chongqing on November 4, 2018, and ended on January 31, 2019. Based on this situation, a single-province inter-temporal difference-in-difference model is constructed.

The second reality is used to study the impact of ASF on pork prices after the COVID-19 epidemic. The observation sample areas are Sichuan Province and Zhejiang Province. COVID-19 of the same level broke out in both places from January 24, 2020, to March 23, 2020. On this premise, the ASF epidemic occurred in Sichuan Province on March 12 of the same year (ended on March 25), but not in Zhejiang Province. Therefore, the daily data were used to construct a control experiment according to the differences between the two places.

The third reality is used to study the dual impact of COVID-19 and ASF on pork prices. The observation sample area is Hubei Province. The province had COVID-19 on December 29, 2019 (unsealed on April 8, 2020) and ASF on March 3, 2020 (ended on April 11), which means that during the period from March 3, 2020, to April 8, 2020, the two impacts caused overlapping impacts. From this, we can also build a single-province inter-temporal difference-indifference model.

3.2.2. Experimental construction

Based on the above social reality, three groups of control experiments were constructed to identify the impact of external shocks on pork prices in different contexts (see Table 1 for details). The first group of control experiments took Chongqing as the target sample. Referring to the method of Hanming (24), a natural experiment was constructed with the pork price in Chongqing from March 1, 2018, to January 31, 2019, as the experimental group and the pork price in Chongqing from March 1, 2017, to January 31, 2018, as the control group. Among them, during the action period of the experimental group, ASF broke out in Chongqing on November 4, 2018, and ended on January 31, 2019, which can be regarded as the impact action period of ASF, and before the impact action period from March 1 to November 3, 2018. Under the assumption that the social and economic development rate of Chongqing is consistent year by year and the price cyclical change is constrained, the difference between the average price from November 4, 2018, to January 31, 2019, minus the average price from November 4, 2017, to January 31, 2018, and the difference between the average price from March 1 to November 3, 2018, minus the average price from March 1 to November 3, 2017, can



5 1	experiments.					
Group	Research object	Time				
The first group: identified the ASF treatment effect before COVID-19						
Experimental group	tal group Chongqing March 1, 2018 – November 3, 2018 (before impact)					
		November 4, 2018 – January 31, 2019(after impact)				
Control group	Chongqing	March 1, 2017 - November 3, 2017 (before impact)				
		November 4, 2017 – January 31, 2018 (after impact)				
The second group: identified the ASF	treatment effect when COVID-19 occurred					
Experimental group	Sichuan	January 24, 2020 – March 11, 2020 (before impact)				
		March 12, 2020 - March 23, 2020 (after impact)				
Control group	Zhejiang	January 24, 2020 – March 11, 2020 (before impact)				
		March 12, 2020 – March 23, 2020 (after impact)				
The third group: identified the dual p	rocessing effects of COVID-19 and ASF					
Experimental group	Hubei	November 22, 2019 – December 29, 2019 (before impact)				
		March 3, 2020 – April 8, 2020 (after impact)				
Control group	Hubei	November 22, 2018 – December 29, 2018 (before impact)				
		March 3, 2019 – April 8, 2019 (after impact)				

TABLE 1 Three groups of control experiments.

be used as a subtraction method to preliminarily identify the effect of ASF on pork price treatment.

The second group of control experiments took Zhejiang Province and Sichuan Province as the target samples. A natural experiment was constructed with the pork price in Sichuan Province from January 24 to March 23, 2020, as the experimental group and the pork price in Zhejiang Province from January 24 to March 23, 2020, as the control group. The above period is in the background of the COVID-19 outbreak (the response levels of the two places are the same). Among them, ASF broke out again in Sichuan Province from March 12 to March 23, 2020, which can be regarded as the impact period of ASF under the background of COVID-19. January 24-March 11, 2020 can be regarded as before the impact period. Assuming that there is a fixed difference in the economy and society between the two places, that is, the difference does not change with time in the short term, and the price fluctuation difference in the short term is constrained, the difference between the average price of pork in Sichuan Province from March 12 to March 23, 2020, and the average price of pork in Zhejiang Province from March 12 to March 23, 2020, is deducted, Subtract the difference between the average price of pork in Sichuan Province from January 24 to March 11, 2020, minus the average price of pork in Zhejiang Province from January 24 to March 11, 2020, to identify the effect of ASF on pork price in the context of COVID-19.

The third group of control experiments took Hubei Province as the target sample. COVID-19 broke out in Hubei Province from January 23 to April 8, 2020, and the ASF epidemic occurred from March 3 to April 8 of the same year. To identify the dual treatment effect of two external shocks, the period of dual impact effect is selected from March 3 to April 8, 2020. Due to the particularity and typicality of the selected samples and the practical constraints, it is difficult to match other sample areas as the control group. We still use the method of Hanming (24) for reference to build a difference-indifference model based on the sample time difference of a single province. Considering the cleanliness before the policy action period, the pre-action period of the experimental group was from November 22 to December 29, 2019. Similarly, the pork prices of Hubei Province from November 22, 2018, to December 29, 2019, and March 3 to April 8, 2019, were taken as the control group. Under the assumption that the social and economic development rate of Hubei Province is consistent year by year, and the price cyclical change is constrained, the difference between the average price from March 3 to April 8, 2020, minus the average price from March 3 to April 8, 2019, and the difference between the average price from November 22 to December 29, 2019, minus the average price from November 22 to December 29, 2018, can be subtracted to preliminarily identify the treatment effect of ASF and COVID-19 double shocks on pork prices.

4. Empirical analysis

4.1. Identify treatment effect

According to the above three groups of control experimental design, the difference-in-difference model can be used for estimation. The general model is set as follows.

$$P_{it} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 time * treat + \theta_t + \mu_i + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(1)

Where, P_{it} refers to the price of pork on the date t of region i. To weaken the possible impact of the pig cycle, the price is logarithmic. *Time* reflects the dummy variable of external impact time, with values of 1 and 0 (1 represents the time of external impact, and 0 represents the time of no external impact). *treat* reflects the dummy variables of the external impact sample, and the values are 1 and 0 (1 represents the area affected by external impact, and 0 represents the area not affected by the external impact). θ_t represents fixed date effect, and we control for temporal factors influencing pork prices, which include macroeconomic shocks, monetary policy, cyclical changes, and prices of substitutes. μ_i represents regional fixed effect, and we control for static regional characteristics such as the level of regional economic

		OLS		FE		
	0	2	3	4	\$	
	ASF (Before COVID-19)	ASF (After COVID-19)	ASF and COVID-19	ASF (Before COVID-19)	ASF (After COVID-19)	ASF and COVID-19
Treatment effect	0.2463***	0.0478***	0.1316***	0.2463***	0.0300**	0.1316**
(Treat*Time)	(0.0117)	(0.0109)	(0.0339)	(0.0279)	(0.0132)	(0.0539)
Cons	2.9282***	3.8394***	2.8681***	2.9282***	3.8799***	2.8681***
	(0.0741)	(0.0079)	(0.0114)	(0.1980)	(0.0074)	(0.0140)
θ_t	NO	NO	NO	YES	YES	YES
μ	NO	YES	YES	NO	YES	NO
Obs	674	120	150	674	120	150
R ²	0.6941	0.7627	0.9873	0.6941	0.6292	0.9873

TABLE 2 Difference-in-difference estimation results.

Robust standard error in brackets.

***p < 0.01.

***p* < 0.05.

**p* < 0.1.

p < 0.1.

development, management expertise, and climatic conditions. ε_{it} is the random error term. The model focuses on the coefficient α_1 in front of *time* * *treat*, which reflects the effect of external shocks on pork prices.

In addition, the General Office of the Ministry of Ecology and Environment and the General Office of the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs jointly issued the Notice on Further Standardizing the Delineation and Management of Livestock and Poultry Farming Prohibited Areas to Promote the Development of Pig Production on September 3, 2019, which put forward requirements for pig environmental protection and breeding. This document has brought great intervention in environmental protection, the division into districts, supervision, and other aspects of pig production, and to a certain extent affected the level of pig supply. Therefore, to analyze the relationship between the dual external impact and the wholesale price of pork, we must eliminate the additional intervention brought by the environmental protection policy. In the three groups of control experiments designed, the first group of sample period occurred before the environmental protection policy and was not affected; the second sample period occurs after the policy. Assuming that the control group and the experimental group are affected by the environmental protection policy, the treatment effect in the estimation model (1) is consistent, and the error is negligible; the more complex is the third group of control experiments. The sample period of the experimental group is after the environmental protection policy, while the sample period of the control group is before the policy, which means that the calculated treatment effect may be the result of the triple effects of ASF, COVID-19, and environmental protection policy. Therefore, the difference between the experimental group and the control group in the sample period is controlled, and the impact of the policy is eliminated as far as possible, The effect of introducing the triple difference of annual difference is relatively better.

For the three groups of control experiments, using model (1), the *OLS* estimation without controlling the fixed effect of time and the *FE* estimation with controlling the fixed effect of time were successively used for regression processing. The results are shown in Table 2. Among them, ① and ④ columns reflect the regression results of the

first group of control experiments, ⁽²⁾ and ⁽³⁾ columns reflect the regression results of the second group of control experiments, and ⁽³⁾ and ⁽⁶⁾ columns reflect the regression results of the third group of control experiments. It can be seen from Table 2 that for the first group of control experiments (Chongqing), the effect of ASF on pork price treatment is significantly positive, regardless of *OLS* estimation or *FE* estimation, and through the 1% significance level, it preliminarily shows that the single external impact of ASF significantly promotes the increase of pork price. This conclusion is very close to reality. In particular, as a typical population gathering area, Chongqing has the largest price increase (columns ⁽¹⁾ and ⁽⁴⁾ in Table 2 α_1 values are significantly higher than other columns).

The second group of control experiments (Sichuan Province and Zhejiang Province) showed the same status as the first group of control experiments, indicating that ASF in the context of COVID-19 still had a significant positive impact on pork prices. Different from the first group, the columns @ and @ α_i values are far less than that of columns @ and @. There are two reasons for this situation: first, the regression objects are Sichuan Province and Zhejiang Province (Sichuan Province can be regarded as the main pork-producing province, and Zhejiang Province can be regarded as the main pork-selling province¹). According to the law of price transmission, ASF leads to a lower rise in the price of pork in the main producing areas than in the main selling areas. Sichuan Province, as an experimental group, was hit by ASF. The impact on its price is relatively small. Second, under the

¹ Sichuan Province, Henan Province, Hunan Province, Shandong Province and Hubei Province are the five provinces with the largest pig production in China. Among them, Sichuan Province has become the province with the largest number of pigs in China with an annual output of 65,791,000 pigs. See link for details https://baijiahao.baidu.com/s?id=1626175637776462025&wfr =spider&for=pc; Tianjin, Jiangsu, Zhejiang, Guangdong and Fujian are the main pork sales areas in the southeast coastal areas of China. See the link for details https://baike.baidu.com/item/ Three-year action plan for accelerating the recovery and development of pig production.

outbreak of COVID-19, social demand fell in the short term, people's expected income fell, and people tended to hoard durable agricultural products such as grain and edible oil. The closure of restaurants and canteens also led to a decline in demand for meat products. The decline in market consumption demand caused by COVID-19 may be one of the factors that inhibit the further rise of pork prices.

In the third control experiment (Hubei Province), the double impact of COVID-19 and ASF significantly promoted the increase of pork prices. ③ and ⑥ columns α_1 values are higher than that of columns 2 and 5, which shows that COVID-19 is likely to cause the rise in pork prices without considering regional and time differences; However, because of the particularity of Hubei Province in China's COVID-19 and the fact that its annual pork output is lower than that of Sichuan Province and far higher than the actual structure of the pork market in Zhejiang Province, the strength and direction of the effect of COVID-19 on pork prices cannot be accurately determined. Combined with columns \Im and $\textcircled{o} \alpha_1$ values are lower than the result in columns ① and ④. It can be speculated that after the occurrence of COVID-19, the impact of ASF on pork prices will decrease; However, COVID-19 has an uncertain impact on pork prices, which leads to the result that the single impact of ASF is stronger than the combined impact of the above two types of external shocks.

In general, ASF notably elevates pork prices and exhibits the most substantial effect. However, the impact of COVID-19 on pork prices remains undetermined. This conclusion is consistent with the view put forward by *Xiaohua Yu* in 2020 (26). After the outbreak of COVID-19, the impact of ASF on the wholesale price of pork weakened, and COVID-19 led to a decline in market consumption demand, which may inhibit the further rise of pork prices.

4.2. Dynamic effect analysis

The precondition for the coherence of the double-difference estimation results is the fulfillment of the parallel trend hypothesis by both the experimental and control groups (27). This postulates that, in the absence of ASF and COVID-19 impacts, the progression of the outcome variables would have been consistent across both groups. For this reason, this paper empirically tests the dynamic effects of ASF and COVID-19 regarding the *Event Study Approach* proposed by Jacobson et al. (28), and uses the dynamic effect model to estimate. The general model is set as follows:

$$P_{it} = \alpha_0 + \sum_{1}^{m} \alpha_t treat * \theta_t + \mu_i + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(2)

Where, *m* represents the number of days/months in the sample period of the three groups of experimental designs (based on the long sample period of individual natural experiments, it is difficult to present the results in a centralized manner, so the number of months reflects the change). In the first group of control experiments, *m* was 11 in some months of the sample period; In the second group of control experiments, the number of days in the sample period is 30; In the third group of control experiments, the number of days in the sample period is 75. *t* represents time, and the value is between 1 and *m*. In the control experiment of different groups, there are different series of specific estimates, and the definition of other

variables is the same as that of the regression model (1). Figure 4 shows the estimated results in three control experiments under a 95% confidence interval.

Figure 4A shows that the change is not obvious in the first 18 months (March 1, 2017, to January 31, 2018), which preliminarily shows that there is no significant difference between the experimental group and the control group before the occurrence of ASF. In addition, the estimated coefficient began to be significant and gradually increased after the occurrence of ASF. Figure 4B shows that before the outbreak of ASF in Sichuan Province on March 12, 2020, there was no significant difference in the wholesale price fluctuation of pork between the two places, and the estimated coefficient was basically below 0, indicating that the pork price in Sichuan Province was lower than that in Zhejiang Province for a long time; After the African pork epidemic, the price difference between the two provinces has changed significantly, with an estimated coefficient of more than 0, and gradually showing a trend that is significantly different from 0. The price of pork in Sichuan Province is significantly higher than that in Zhejiang Province. Figure 4C shows that under the impact of the double shocks, the price of pork rose significantly and remained at a high level for about 22 days, after which the price slowly fell back to the level before the shock.

To summarize, the three control experiments comply with the parallel trend test. Notably, the ASF outbreak preceding COVID-19 had the most significant impact on wholesale pork prices, resulting in short-term continuous increases. The combined impact of post-COVID-19 ASF and the two external shocks induced a relatively moderate effect on wholesale pork prices, which aligns with previous findings.

4.3. Triple difference

For the sake of preciseness, considering the possible interference of other unobservable factors (especially the year difference) that affect the wholesale price of pork overtime on the treatment effect, a cross-year triple difference model is constructed to eliminate the above effects. The specific method is to find another pair of "experimental group" and "control group" that is not affected by external shocks in the three control experiments. In the first group of control experiments, another pair of experimental groups and control groups were constructed by pushing forward 1 year. The difference only came from the year and other factors. The difference between the original experimental group and the control group (including the difference of ASF and year and other factors) was subtracted from the difference between the new experimental group and the control group, and the net effect of ASF on pork price was obtained. Similarly, the second group of control experiments (Sichuan Province and Zhejiang Province) and the third group of control experiments (Hubei Province) were both pushed forward by 1 year to construct new experimental and control groups, forming a triple difference, respectively, to obtain the net treatment effect of ASF after COVID-19 and the double impact on the wholesale price of pork. Therefore, the following model is constructed:

 $P_{it} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 time * treat * group_1 + \alpha_2 time * treat$ $+ \alpha_3 time * group_1 + \alpha_4 treat * group_1 + \theta_t + \mu_i + \varepsilon_{it}$ (3)



FIGURE 4

Dynamic effect of double difference. (A) ASF (before the COVID-19) dynamic effect. (B) ASF (after the COVID-19) dynamic effect. (C) ASF and the COVID-19 dynamic effect.

TABLE 3	Triple	difference	estimation	results.
---------	--------	------------	------------	----------

		OLS		FE		
	0	2	3	4	5	6
	ASF (Before COVID-19)	ASF (After COVID-19)	ASF and COVID-19	ASF (Before COVID-19)	ASF(After COVID-19)	ASF and COVID-19)
Treatment effect	0.2199***	0.0705***	0.0950***	0.2771***	0.0705***	0.0950***
(Treat*Time*Group ₁)	(0.0113)	(0.0000)	(0.0077)	(0.0638)	(0.0000)	(0.0118)
Cons	3.1364***	2.8994***	2.9782***	3.1937***	3.0118***	2.9817***
	(0.0044)	(0.0152)	(0.0038)	(0.0641)	(0.0215)	(0.0060)
θ_t	NO	NO	NO	YES	YES	YES
μ	NO	YES	NO	NO	YES	NO
obs	1,011	238	225	1,011	238	225
R ²	0.6925	0.9408	0.4623	0.7410	0.9174	0.4649

Robust standard error in brackets.

***p < 0.01

**p < 0.05.

**p* < 0.1.

Where, group₁ is the newly generated grouping variable. When the newly generated sample data is in the sample period of the original experimental group and the control group, group₁ is 1. When the sample data is in 1 year forward, group₁ is 0 (the first group of control experimental sample data is from March 1, 2017, to January 31, 2019, group₁ is 1, and the sample data is from March 1, 2016, to January 31, 2017, group₁ is 0; The sample data of the second group of the control experiment is 1 in 2020 and 0 in 2019; The data of the third group of control experiment samples is from November 22, 2018, to April 8, 2018, *group*₁ is 1, and the sample data is from November 22, 2017, to April 8, 2018, group₁ is 0). time * treat * group₁ is 1 indicates the period when the pork price in the region is subject to external shocks. The estimated coefficient α_1 is a triple difference estimator, representing the average treatment effect of external shocks on the regional pork price. The definition of other variables is the same as that of the regression model (1).

For the three groups of control experiments, using model (3), the OLS estimation without controlling the fixed effect of time and the FE estimation with controlling the fixed effect of time were successively used for regression processing, and the triple difference estimation results were obtained (see Table 3). For the regression results of the first group of control experiments (@@), the coefficient of OLS

estimation without controlling the fixed effect of time is 0.2199, which has a significant positive impact. Compared with the coefficient of difference-in-difference estimation, the coefficient of OLS estimation is slightly lower, which is about 2 percentage points lower. However, in the FE estimation with fixed effect of control time, the coefficient of triple difference estimation is slightly higher than the coefficient of difference-in-difference estimation by 0.03; The regression results of the second group of control experiments (25) showed that, like the difference-in-difference results, the treatment effect of external shocks on pork prices was significantly positive, and the degree of treatment effect was lower than that of the first group of control experiments, but the OLS and FE estimation coefficients of the triple difference were slightly higher than the difference-in-difference by 2-3 percentage points; The regression results of the third group of control experiments (36), that is, the treatment effect of double external shocks on pork prices is significantly positive, and the estimated coefficient of the triple difference is about 3% lower than the estimated coefficient of the difference-in-difference, which is slightly larger than the estimated coefficient of the second group of control experiments, and smaller than the estimated coefficient of the first group of control experiments.

To sum up, the three groups of control experiments, whether OLS estimation or FE estimation, are consistent with the

difference-in-difference results in the direction of action. The effect of external shocks on pork price treatment is significantly positive and passes the 1% significance level. In terms of activity intensity, when excluding the intervention caused by the year difference, the action intensity of ASF and double impact before COVID-19 is lower than that of the difference-in-difference result, the action intensity of ASF after COVID-19 is higher than that of the difference-in-difference result, and the action intensity of ASF after COVID-19 is slightly lower than that of the double impact effect.

The insights derived from this result are: on the one hand, before COVID-19, ASF had the strongest impact on the wholesale price of pork; After COVID-19, the impact of ASF on the wholesale price of pork was significantly reduced (consistent with the difference-indifference result), and COVID-19 may hinder the further increase of pork price. On the other hand, the impact of dual external shocks on the wholesale price of pork is slightly stronger than that of ASF after the epidemic, indicating that COVID-19 also promotes the increase of the wholesale price of pork, but the impact intensity is slightly smaller. This revelation provides a possible complement to the view of Xiaohua Yu et al. that "COVID-19 has an unknown impact on pork price" (26), and this conclusion is more robust than the double difference result.

4.4. Robustness check

4.4.1. Replace sample period

To further prove the reliability and robustness of the results, the method of replacing the sample period is used to test the robustness of the above results. The method is consistent with the construction of the triple difference model. The replacement sample period is to push forward the period of the control group of the three groups of control experiments by 2 years to form a replacement sample, which is tested by the triple difference model. The specific model is consistent with the model (3). The results are shown in Table 4.

For the first group of control experiments (Chongqing), the OLS estimation coefficient without controlling the time-fixed effect is slightly higher than the triple difference by 0.01 percentage points, and the FE estimation coefficient of controlling the time-fixed effect is slightly higher than the triple difference by 0.01, and the results after replacing the sample period are not significantly different; In the second group of control experiments (Zhejiang Province and Sichuan Province), the estimated results after replacing the samples are the same as the above triple difference results, the estimated coefficients are 0.0705, and the estimated results are completely consistent; In the third group of control experiment (Hubei Province), the OLS estimation result is slightly lower than the triple difference by 0.02, and the FE estimation result is only 1 percentage point higher than the triple difference, and the results are almost the same. There is almost no difference between the treatment effect coefficient of the three groups of control experiments and the triple-difference estimation results. The reason is that using the triple-difference model to replace the sample period to eliminate the interference results of uncertain factors such as year can enhance the reliability and explanatory power of the model, but the cross-year, environmental protection policies and the reality of regional development differences in the sample period still affect the results.

The enlightenment is that after the replacement sample period, as with the triple difference result, the action intensity of ASF and double shocks before COVID-19 is lower than that of the difference-indifference result, and the action intensity of ASF after COVID-19 is higher than that of the difference-in-difference result. After the replacement sample period, the action intensity of a single ASF is still the highest, and COVID-19 has a weak role in promoting the rise of pork prices. The robustness of the above conclusions is confirmed again.

4.4.2. Placebo test

To further test whether the above results are driven by unobservable factors at the year level, a placebo test was conducted by randomly allocating the period affected by external impact factors (29). Specifically, three groups of control experiments were randomly selected as the experimental group in the sample period, and the remaining sample period was used as the control group to construct

		OLS		FE		
	0	2	3	4	6	6
	ASF (Before COVID-19)	ASF (After COVID-19)	ASF and COVID-19	ASF (Before COVID-19)	ASF (After COVID-19)	ASF and COVID-19
Treatment effect	0.2200***	0.0705***	0.0679***	0.2882***	0.0705***	0.1054***
(Treat*Time*Group ₁)	(0.0151)	(0.0349)	(0.0119)	(0.0166)	(0.0346)	(0.0022)
Cons	3.0107***	3.0463***	3.0451***	3.3286***	3.0978***	3.1205***
	(0.0047)	(0.0162)	(0.0042)	(0.0071)	(0.0139)	(0.0044)
θ_t	NO	NO	NO	YES	YES	YES
μ	NO	YES	NO	NO	YES	NO
obs	1,011	238	225	1,011	238	225
R ²	0.2358	0.9708	0.9812	0.8009	0.9713	0.9904

Robust standard error in brackets.

TABLE 4 Robustness test.

^{***}p < 0.01

^{**}p < 0.05.

 $^{^{\}ast}p<0.1.$



a double difference model. Random sampling ensures that the constructed independent variable time*treat has no impact on the wholesale price of pork. In other words, any significant findings will indicate that the above regression results are biased. The three groups of control experiments were randomly selected for the length of the sample period with the external impact period (88 days for the first group of control experiment, 12 days for the second group of control experiment, and 36 days for the third group of control experiment), The duration of external impact was randomly selected from three groups of control experimental study sample periods (674 days in total for the first group, 60 days for the second group, and 150 days for the third group) as the experimental group, and the remaining period was the control group. Benchmark regression was performed, the above sampling was repeated 500 times, and the following coefficient distribution and relevant p values were drawn (see Figure 5).

The results show that the mean value of the estimated coefficients of all *time*treat* is almost zero. The distribution of 500 estimated coefficients and their related *p* value distribution are all concentrated near zero, and the p value of most estimated values is greater than 0.1 (not significant at the level of 10%). In addition, the true estimate (from Table 3) is an obvious outlier in the placebo test, which further proves the robustness of the results.

5. Conclusions and suggestions

Leveraging data from the wholesale market monitoring database of the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs of the People's Republic of China, this paper explores the impact of ASF and COVID-19 on pork prices. By utilizing difference-in-difference and triple difference models, alongside a series of robustness tests, we conduct an empirical analysis of the effects of standalone ASF, and the compound external shocks from ASF and COVID-19 on the wholesale price of pork, leading us to the following conclusions.

First of all, from the direction of action, no matter the single external impact or the ASF and COVID-19 double external impact have a significant positive effect on the pork price treatment, and through the 1% significance level, the external impact promotes the pork price significantly. Secondly, in terms of the impact intensity, before COVID-19, ASF had the highest impact on the wholesale price of pork; After COVID-19, the impact of ASF on the wholesale price of pork decreased significantly, and COVID-19 may hinder the further increase of pork price. Finally, the impact of dual external shocks on the wholesale price of pork is slightly stronger than that of ASF after the epidemic, indicating that COVID-19 also promotes the increase of the wholesale price of pork, but the impact intensity is slightly smaller. The economic implication behind it is that when a catastrophic or public hazard event occurs, the pork consumption market will inevitably suffer from short-term depression, the demand curve will shift to the left, the market will gradually spread to the production end, the supply shortage, the supply curve will shift to the left, and the entire market will experience short-term huge fluctuations. Especially when the external impact directly affects the production end, the whole pork market will be subject to greater intervention, and the market price fluctuation will be greater.

The above conclusions can prove that the external impact is an important factor in the fluctuation of pork wholesale prices, and ASF and COVID-19 have obvious sudden external impacts, resulting in the drastic fluctuation of pork wholesale prices. Therefore, to stabilize the wholesale price of pork and maintain the green and orderly development of the pork market, the following suggestions are put forward based on the current situation.

First, strengthen the early warning mechanism and establish a joint prevention and control system. Improve the prevention and control mechanism of ASF and COVID-19 to prevent the impact of sudden external shocks on the pork market. Improve the emergency response system for major epidemic situations, optimize the internal reporting system of the epidemic situation monitoring and warning mechanism, and ensure that the epidemic situation is grasped at the first time; Improve the joint prevention and control system of the regional epidemic situation and establish the epidemic information sharing mechanism; Build a training system for epidemic prevention and control. Second, we should properly publicize and report, avoid panic, and cultivate market confidence. Strengthen scientific guidance for ASF. Propagandize and guide the ways and means of transmission of ASF, let the public have a scientific understanding, not believe rumors, rationally consume pork and its products, and guide the public to buy pork through formal channels. Third, regulate market prices. External shocks such as ASF and COVID-19 are important influencing factors in pork price fluctuations. Therefore, the

government should strengthen the supervision and inspection of the wholesale price of pork and regulate the market price.

Data availability statement

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: the price data in this dataset is daily data with a short span. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to XY, yangxiaoli@syau.edu.cn.

Author contributions

RY and XY: conceptualization, software, and data curation. RY: methodology and writing – original draft preparation. XY: validation. XY and EM: resources and funding acquisition. RY, XY, and EM: writing – review and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This research was funded by Research on Countermeasures for the Development of Digital Countryside in Liaoning Province,

References

 Xiangdong H, Shijuan G. Influences of major epidemic on pig market Price-analysis of industrial shocks of African swine fever and the countermeasures. *Price Theory Pract.* (2018) 12:51–5. doi: 10.19851/j.cnki.cn11-1010/f.2018.12.011

2. Xicai Z, Lixiang Z. Study on the impact of emergencies on agricultural product prices and the regulation mechanism: taking the Chinese broiler industry as an example. *Economist*, 2011(1): 22–24, 26.

3. You H, Xin C, Chunjie Q. Impact of COVID-19 epidemic on Price volatility of agricultural products and policy effect. *J Agro-For Eco Manag.* (2021) 20:59–69. doi: 10.16195/j.cnki.cn36-1328/f.2021.01.07

4. Tian K, Yu X, Zhao T, Feng Y, Cao Z, Wang C, et al. Emergence of fatal PRRSV variants: unparalleled outbreaks of atypical PRRS in China and molecular dissection of the unique hallmark. *PLoS One.* (2007) 2:e526. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000526

5. Wang Y, Wang J, Wang X. COVID-19, supply chain disruption and China's hog market: a dynamic analysis. *Chin Agricul Econ Rev.* (2020) 12:427–43. doi: 10.1108/CAER-04-2020-0053

6. Niemi JK, Lehtonen H, Pietola K. Effects of an animal disease shock on meat markets and producer income. *Acta Agric Scand Sect C.* (2006) 3:138–50. doi: 10.1080/16507540601127789

7. Kawashima S, Puspito Sari DA. Time-varying Armington elasticity and countryof-origin bias: from the dynamic perspective of the Japanese demand for beef imports. *Aus J Agric Res Econ.* (2010) 54:27–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8489.2009.00477.x

8. Niemi JK, Lehtonen H. Modelling pig sector dynamic adjustment to livestock epidemics with stochastic-duration trade disruptions. *Eur Rev Agric Econ.* (2011) 38:529–51. doi: 10.1093/erae/jbq047

9. Mason-D'Croz D, Bogard JR, Herrero M, Robinson S, Sulser TB, Wiebe K, et al. Modelling the global economic consequences of a major African swine fever outbreak in China. *Nat Food*. (2020) 1:221–8. doi: 10.1038/s43016-020-0057-2

10. Halasa T, Bøtner A, Mortensen S, Christensen H, Toft N, Boklund A, et al. Control of African swine fever epidemics in industrialized swine populations. *Vet Microbiol.* (2016) 197:142–50. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2016.11.023

11. Zhanfeng ,Z., Jian S. Analysis of factors influencing the international competitiveness of China's pork products and countermeasures. *Rural Eco*, 2005,(10):43–44.

12. Jun W, Jianmin C. Research on the pork price fluctuation and its control strategy in the main producing regions in China. *Price Theory Pract.* (2016) 3:62–5. doi: 10.19851/j.cnki.cn11-1010/f.2016.03.013

13. Zengyong Z, Anping Z, Xiaodong W, Xuebiao Z, Chun Y. Comparative study on industrial competitiveness of major pork exporting countries in the world-analysis of the cost and price competitive advantage of pig breeding in the United States and Germany. *Price Theory Pract.* (2018) 5:63–6. doi: 10.19851/j.cnki.cn11-1010/f.2018.05.016

China (grant number: Z20210226) and Provincial government information system interfacing technical services (grant number: H2021234).

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the editors and reviewers for their constructive comments and suggestions.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

14. Ronghua R. Analysis of the reasons for the rise of pork prices and the income of pig slaughtering in China in 2007. *J Agrotech Eco.* (2008) 03:10–6.

15. Shanshan M. The impact of emergency information on pork Price volatility. *Manag Rev.* (2018) 30:246–55. doi: 10.14120/j.cnki.cn11-5057/f.2018.09.023

16. Mingli W, Hongbo X. Analysis of the causes of fluctuations in pig production in China. *Issues Agric Eco.* (2012) 33:28–32. doi: 10.13246/j.cnki.iae.2012.12.007

17. Xingqun L, Qingli X. The impact of the African swine fever epidemic on China's hog industry. *An Agric.* (2019) 06:58–63.

18. Binglong L, Qiuhong H. Analysis of the short-term fluctuations of pork prices and its reasons in China. *Issues Agric Eco.* (2007) 10:18–21.

19. Haiqi K, Haifeng X. The economic effects of rising pork prices in China against the background of African swine fever. *Res Agric Mod.* (2020) 3:493–501. doi: 10.13872/j.1000-0275.2020.0040

20. Ding YF, Wang YL. Big government: the fight against the African swine fever in China. J Biosafety Biosecurity. (2020) 2:44–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jobb.2020.04.001

21. Yunbin N, Juan Q. The impact of African swine fever on the development of China's pig industry. J Agric Sci Technol. (2019) 1:11–7. doi: 10.13304/j.nykjdb.2018.0601

22. Juan Q. Analysis of changes in the international competitiveness of China's major livestock meat products. *Chin Rural Eco.* (2001) 07:37–43.

23. Zengyong Z, Mengxi L, Xuebiao Z. Analysis of the impact of African swine fever on China's pig market and industrial development. *Trans Chin Soc Agric Eng.* (2019) 8:205–10.

24. Hanming F, Wang L, Yang Y. Human mobility restrictions and the spread of the novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in China. *J Public Econ.* (2020) 191:104272. doi: 10.1016/j.jpubeco.2020.104272

25. Youliang N, Zhengbing W, Zekui N. Production efficiency evaluation of scatter-feed live pig in households of Sichuan Province. *J Anhui*. (2008) 26:11354–6. doi: 10.13989/j. cnki.0517-6611.2008.26.168

26. Xiaohua Y, Chang L, Hanjie W, Feil J-H. The impact of COVID-19 on food prices in China: evidence of four major food products from Beijing, Shandong, and Hubei provinces. *China Agric Eco Rev.* (2020) 12:445–58. doi: 10.1108/CAER-04-2020-0054

27. Shenggang R, Jingjing Z, Donghua L, Xiaohong C. Does emissions trading system improve Firm's Total factor productivity-evidence from Chinese listed companies. *China Indust Eco.* (2019) 5:5–23. doi: 10.19581/j.cnki.ciejournal.2019.05.001

28. Jacobson LS, LaLonde RJ, Sullivan DG. Earnings losses of displaced workers. Am Econ Rev. (1993) 83:685–709.

29. Cai X, Lu Y, Wu M, Yu L. Does environmental regulation drive away inbound foreign direct investment? Evidence from a quasi-natural experiment in China. *J Dev Econ.* (2016) 123:73–85. doi: 10.1016/j.jdeveco.2016.08.003

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Heinzpeter Schwermer, Federal Food Safety and Veterinary Office (FSVO), Switzerland

REVIEWED BY Sangeeta Rao, Colorado State University, United States Andrea Valeria Scorza, Colorado State University, United States Maryam Dadar, Razi Vaccine and Serum Research Institute, Iran Andres M. Perez,

University of Minnesota Twin Cities, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Michael Kosoy ⊠ kosoymichael@gmail.com

These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

RECEIVED 31 July 2023 ACCEPTED 27 November 2023 PUBLISHED 20 December 2023

CITATION

Rivas AL, Smith SD, Basiladze V, Chaligava T, Malania L, Burjanadze I, Chichinadze T, Suknidze N, Bolashvili N, Hoogesteijn AL, Gilbertson K, Bertram JH, Fair JM, Webb CT, Imnadze P and Kosoy M (2023) Geo-temporal patterns to design cost-effective interventions for zoonotic diseases -the case of brucellosis in the country of Georgia. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10:1270505. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1270505

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Rivas, Smith, Basiladze, Chaligava, Malania, Burjanadze, Chichinadze, Suknidze, Bolashvili, Hoogesteijn, Gilbertson, Bertram, Fair, Webb, Imnadze and Kosoy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Geo-temporal patterns to design cost-effective interventions for zoonotic diseases -the case of brucellosis in the country of Georgia

Ariel L. Rivas^{1†}, Stephen D. Smith^{2†}, V. Basiladze³, Tengiz Chaligava³, Lile Malania⁴, Irma Burjanadze⁴, Tamar Chichinadze⁵, Nikoloz Suknidze⁵, Nana Bolashvili⁵, Almira L. Hoogesteijn⁶, Kendra Gilbertson⁷, Jonathan H. Bertram⁷, Jeanne Marie Fair⁸, Colleen T. Webb⁷, Paata Imnadze⁴ and Michael Kosoy⁹*

¹Center for Global Health, Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, United States, ²Geospatial Research Services, Ithaca, NY, United States, ³National Food Agency, Ministry of Environmental Protection and Agriculture of Georgia, Tbilisi, Georgia, ⁴National Center for Disease Control and Public Health, Tbilisi, Georgia, ⁵Vakhushti Bagrationi Institute of Geography, Ivane Javakhishvili Tbilisi State University, Tbilisi, Georgia, ⁶Department of Human Ecology, CINVESTAV, Merida, Yucatan, Mexico, ⁷Graduate Degree Program in Ecology, Department of Biology, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO, United States, ⁸Genomics and Bioanalytics, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, NM, United States, ⁹KB One Health LLC, Fort Collins, CO, United States

Introduction: Control of zoonosis can benefit from geo-referenced procedures. Focusing on brucellosis, here the ability of two methods to distinguish disease dissemination patterns and promote cost-effective interventions was compared.

Method: Geographical data on bovine, ovine and human brucellosis reported in the country of Georgia between 2014 and 2019 were investigated with (i) the Hot Spot (HS) analysis and (ii) a bio-geographical (BG) alternative.

Results: More than one fourth of all sites reported cases affecting two or more species. While ruminant cases displayed different patterns over time, most human cases described similar geo-temporal features, which were associated with the route used by migrant shepherds. Other human cases showed heterogeneous patterns. The BG approach identified small areas with a case density twice as high as the HS method. The BG method also identified, in 2018, a 2.6–2.99 higher case density in zoonotic (human and non-human) sites than in non-zoonotic sites (which only reported cases affecting a single species) –a finding that, if corroborated, could support cost-effective policy-making.

Discussion: Three dissemination hypotheses were supported by the data: (i) human cases induced by sheep-related contacts; (ii) human cases probably mediated by contaminated milk or meat; and (iii) cattle and sheep that infected one another. This proof-of-concept provided a preliminary validation for a method that may support cost-effective interventions oriented to control zoonoses. To expand these findings, additional studies on zoonosis-related decision-making are recommended.

KEYWORDS

brucellosis, zoonosis, geo-temporal analysis, Georgia (country), cost-benefit analysis

1 Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic brought many lessons and questions. One of them refers to whether epidemics should be countered with reactive or anticipatory approaches (1). To demonstrate why anticipatory approaches are necessary, cost–benefit oriented studies are needed.

How, when and *where* can implemented interventions lead to cost–benefit based results? To answer this composite question, the type of data analyzed is critical. The analysis of geo-referenced and temporal infectious disease-related data may determine whether intervening at specific geographical sites induce cost-effective policies (2).

Because numerous (if not infinite) geo-temporal patterns may be found in disseminating infectious diseases, geo-referenced and temporal data may also inform on covariates, such as soil, elevation, meteorology, seasonality, and sociology (3). Because they can – visually– reveal interactions, geo-referenced data can inform more than tabular data (4). Because the geographical context surrounding diseases may be unique and it may influence (promoting or preventing) their dissemination, geo-temporal analysis of diseases can capture relationships that reductionist approaches may omit or not anticipate (5, 6).

One specific question that decision-makers need to answer is where, exactly, interventions may lead to less costly, earlier and/or more beneficial results (7). To develop geo-referenced, decisionmaking oriented analyses, inter/transdisciplinary approaches have been recommended (8). Such approaches may consider bio-geographical and dynamical data that may feed models meant to interrupt disease transmission and/or be cost-effective (9).

While policy-making based on geo-referenced data has been promoted (10) and several studies have explored brucellosis (11– 13), the overall as well as the specific (construct, internal, external and/or statistical) validity of such procedures have not yet been emphasized (14, 15). For example, external validity (which refers to multiple variables, metrics, locations, populations, and/or outcomes) has been reported to be infrequently evaluated with empirical data (16).

Geographically explicit, high-resolution, grid-based maps offer an actionable alternative to explore many sources of validity. Such maps have been used to investigate (non-infectious) interactions involving human and non-human species (17). These maps also circumvent the limitations of maps based on aggregate data, which miss local interactions among geo-referenced variables (18). In contrast, grid-based maps can display a high level of granularity (19). Furthermore, bio-geographical methods do not assume space homogeneity –an assumption associated with classic spatial statistics, which considers that neighbors are epidemiologically similar (20, 21).

Brucellosis-related dissemination patterns can be explored in Georgia, the country located in the South Caucasus. With brucellosis being a substantial endemic problem (22), Georgia has a large geo-temporal dataset on cases affecting cattle, sheep, and humans.

Such a context is also adequate to explore *One Health* processes, in which the environment interacts with potential hosts and non-human and human species may infect one another (23, 24). While numerous educational programs now focus on *One Health*, inter-/trans-disciplinary educational gaps have been reported in this field (25).

To evaluate cost-benefit oriented approaches, new concepts may be investigated. For example, the detection of small geographical sites where infections induced by the same bacterium affect two or more species may be desirable.

Accordingly, this study pursued two objectives: (i) to distinguish geo-temporal patterns of zoonotic disease dissemination, and (ii) to identify sites where interventions may induce cost-effective results.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Data

Data on (ruminant) brucellosis were collected by the National Food Agency of the Ministry of Environmental Protection and Agriculture of Georgia between 2014 and 2019. Human data on brucellosis cases reported between 2015 and 2020 were provided by the Center for Disease Control and Public Health of Georgia. Because the purpose of this study was to generate a preliminary evaluation of a geo-referenced tool based on historical data, no inferences are here made on laboratory-related issues (such as the bacteriological tests used) or epidemiological-related issues (such as estimates of disease prevalence).

The data were filtered to extract geographically referenced and time-stamped records (records with latitude, longitude, and date) for cattle, sheep, and humans. This filtering resulted in the identification of 7,643 records for the 2014–2019 period (2,999 cattle and 4,644 sheep). Nine hundred and ninety-three human records were identified between 2015 and 2018. Due to space limitations of Brief Reports, human data from 2014 and 2019 are not reported but are available upon request.

2.2 Geo-referenced method

These tabular data were brought into a geographic information system (*ArcGIS Pro 3.1.3*, ESRI, Redlands, CA, USA) and a geodatabase point feature was generated. Starting with this initial point feature information, yearly species-specific point features were generated for mapping purposes.

To identify areas of case concentrations, a 5 km-by-5 km, countrywide grid (7,068 cells) was created, and scripts were developed to associate case data with the enclosing grid cell. Such size was selected as a compromise between larger areas (more likely to capture more cases but less precise in terms of specific case geo-location) and smaller areas (more precise in terms of specific case geo-location but more likely to exclude nearby cases).

Each yearly species-specific grid cell polygon feature was added to an *ArcGIS Pro* map and summarized by grid cell number. Each summarized table was exported to a text file for tabulation and analysis. Using the summarized data, a quantile (maximum of three) display of the grid cell's total cases was generated in *ArcGIS Pro*, and a map layout was created.

2.3 Construct, internal, external and statistical validity

The degree to which the concept of interest was actually investigated by the operation implemented (construct validity) was estimated by comparing the bio-geographical (BG) model with an alternative –the Getis-Ord Gi* or Hot Spot (HS) analysis, a method performed by *ArcGIS Pro* that assumes neighbors are bio-geographically similar. The method that yielded the highest case density (cases/square kilometer) was viewed as the most cost-effective.

Internal validity (lack of confounding) was assessed by testing several variables. Threats to internal validity were ruled out when two or more variables yielded similar results.

Statistical analysis was performed using *Minitab 22* (Minitab Inc., State College, PA, USA). Regression analysis explored relationships between the number of cases reported at sites where ruminants, humans, or both human and non-human species reported infections. By investigating two or more host species over two or more years, the external validity of the BG method was also explored.

3 Results

To investigate whether the bio-geographical tool could be used in different populations and/or different timeframes, cattle and sheep cases were plotted, side by side, annually (Figures 1–3). It was observed that cattle cases (Figures 1A, 2A, 3A) matched sheep cases (Figures 1B, 2B, 3C). However, time did not appear to be related with case location. For instance, earlier cases (Figures 1A,B) did not match later cases, even when a short temporal period (a year) was considered (Figures 2A,B).

While cattle and sheep cases displayed noticeable geo-referenced changes over time, most human cases did not. Over 4 years, most human cases were reported in the same area –the eastern region of Georgia (Figures 4A–D). Yet, a second pattern associated with human cases was also seen, which was heterogeneous and took place in the central municipalities of Georgia (Figures 4A–D).

Sites that reported cases affecting two species (cattle and sheep or ruminant sites) seemed to differ from the remaining sites. When the counts or percentages of cases and sites were considered, ruminant sites exhibited twice as many cases as uni-species sites (Supplementary Table 1).

Findings supported the differentiation of brucellosis cases into three geo-temporal patterns: (i) one only observed in the eastern region, which included human cases; (ii) one also affecting humans, which took place outside the eastern region; and (iii) non-human cases, reported outside the eastern region. Within the last variety, two presentations were distinguished: (a) sites where only one ruminant species was infected, and (b) sites where both cattle and sheep cases were reported (ruminant sites).

Findings also suggested an additional pattern of cattle and sheep cases, which was observed in the south-western region of the country, in 2015. Upon further investigation, it was found that the geographical location did not characterize cattle/sheep farms and/or summer pastures but the location of specialized laboratories (located close to ports) where animals exported to other countries are tested before they are embarked. This unexpected finding illustrates the usefulness of geo-referenced data analysis, which may shed light on procedures recorded but not always considered in routine epidemiological analyses.

While the historical nature of the data prevented inferences and predictions, possible educational applications included data-driven hypotheses on peak temporal patterns reaching in 2017 (Supplementary Figure 1). The number of cases observed in either ruminant species predicted the total number of cases found in multispecies (ruminant) sites (p < 0.01, Supplementary Figure 2). In one scenario under study, the bio-geographical procedure captured more cases than the HS analysis (583 vs. 521, respectively) in an area 28.4% smaller than the area occupied by the HS solution (Supplementary Figures 3A,B). Because each unit of area occupied 25 square kilometers, expressed as case density/square kilometer, the BG method captured 0.167 cases/sq km while the HS analysis detected 0.107 cases/sq km. Consequently, the case density of the BG approach was 56.2% higher than that of the HS. This difference in potential cost-effectiveness was explained by two factors: (i) the HS missed large areas that included numerous cases (Supplementary Figure 3C) and, (ii) in particular, the HS analysis did not detect nine mini-areas with very high case density (Supplementary Figure 3D). If cost effectiveness of interventions was measured as the ratio of benefits over costs (cases captured/area unit), then the ratio of the BG method would be 2.18 (156.2/71.6), i.e., the BG method exhibited a benefit/cost ratio twice as large as the one shown by the HS analysis.

To explore possible applications in decision-making, the BG method was further investigated according to the (zoonotic vs. non-zoonotic) content of the infected sites. Using the data reported in 2018, the case density of sites reporting zoonotic (human, cattle and/ or sheep) cases was at least 2.6 and up to three times higher than the number of sites where only one species was infected (Supplementary Figure 4). Accordingly, if a policy meant to be cost-effective was designed to be applied in this scenario, the first priority of interventions would focus on zoonotic sites (locations that reported a high case density where humans and non-humans were infected), non-zoonotic sites (where only one –human or non-human– species was infected) would be the second priority and, as the last priority, non-zoonotic sites reporting the lowest case density would be intervened.

4 Discussion

4.1 Caveats

Findings are prone to bias due to many factors, which include but are not limited to the varying frequency and magnitude of testing conducted over time and the threats to validity associated with the analysis of historical data (26). Accordingly, this study should not be construed to represent the current status of brucellosis-related conditions existing in Georgia but, instead, a realistic learning scenario that can support research and education in geo-epidemiology.

While zoonotic infections disseminate by only three (direct, indirect, or both direct and indirect) types of transmission, the expression of such transmissions may vary according to the local geography. Consequently, cost-effective interventions may be designed and selected according to specific geo-temporal expressions.



FIGURE 1

Brucellosis cases reported in cattle and sheep, in 2014–2015. (A) Cattle cases, 2014. (B) Sheep cases, 2014. (C) Cattle cases, 2015. (D) Sheep cases, 2015.

4.2 Geo-geographical patterns of zoonotic disease transmission

The hypothesis of direct contacts between non-human infected species and susceptible humans was supported by the pattern observed in the eastern region of Georgia (27). Disease transmission, in this modality, is thought to be facilitated when migrant shepherds move their sheep, twice a year, between the southern and the northern borders of the country, along a path flanked by mountains –a geographical feature that determines a rather constant geographical pattern, detected regardless of time (Figures 4A–D). In contrast, other human infections (reported outside the eastern region) are possibly facilitated by the consumption of contaminated milk and meat (26). The hypothesis of cattle-sheep contacts (apparent in several regions of Georgia) is facilitated by a common agricultural practice –also observed in many countries–, in which cattle and sheep share summer pastures (28).

This study emphasized high-resolution, geo-referenced and costeffective epidemic control measures. To avoid loss of resolution, this study was not centered on municipalities (which differ in area, population, connectivity and many other aspects) but on small areas of equal size (cells of 25 sq km). Such operation facilitated the detection of specific geographical sites where infections affecting two or more host species were found. While approaches that aggregate data and assume homogeneous data distributions over large spatial areas tend to result in large areas to be intervened (e.g., higher costs), the geo-biological method identified small areas with high case density which, if intervened, are likely to induce more beneficial interventions (more cases to be covered) at lower costs (in smaller areas to be intervened), and –due to their smaller areas– such interventions may be completed earlier. Furthermore, small areas with high case density can be mapped over other layers and, consequently, inform on connectivity and many other variables, as described before (29, 30).

Such a geographical approach can be complemented with a biological emphasis.

When the data are divided into classes (e.g., zoonotic or human and non-human, only ruminants, and only humans), the number of cases may be much higher in zoonotic sites and, consequently, interventions that prioritize such sites may be less costly and/or more beneficial (Supplementary Figure 4).



FIGURE 2

Brucellosis cases reported in cattle and sheep, in 2016–2017. (A) Cattle cases, 2016. (B) Sheep cases, 2016. (C) Cattle cases, 2017. (D) Sheep cases, 2017.

4.3 Validation

Several estimates of construct, internal, external and/or statistical validity were facilitated by the method under study. Although the historical nature of the data is prone to several threats to validity, the fact that three host species were investigated (and tested for several years) demonstrates that this tool may possess external validity. Because the analysis of five variables yielded similar patterns (and, therefore, confounding was ruled out) and revealed statistically significant associations, internal and statistical validities were supported (Supplementary Figure 1). Because the bio-geographical approach captured more cases per sq. km than the alternative method –a finding also observed when geographical locations reporting infections were classified according to their ability to generate or disseminate zoonotic cases–, construct validity was not ruled out (Supplementary Figure 3, 4).

However, the previous comparison did not consider all possible scenarios (which may include additional bio-geo-temporal variables). To better estimate cost-effective interventions, the benefits associated with interrupting disease transmission (especially, long-term interactions) need to be considered (9).

4.4 Potential applications and future studies

These geo-referenced findings facilitated the development of, at least, five new studies or projects. One refers to prioritizing interventions in locations that report human and non-human cases ('zoonotic disease' sites).

Because such sites can induce secondary infections along ruminant and non-ruminant hosts, they may be prioritized when cost-benefit oriented interventions are planned. Support for ranks that prioritize where interventions should be implemented may be facilitated by a cost-benefit oriented analysis. For example, when there is evidence that zoonotic mini-sites capture more cases than sites presenting infections in a single species (as shown in Supplementary Table 1; Supplementary Figure 4), zoonotic sites could be prioritized, followed by sites that do not show zoonotic cases, and, finally, sites that display the lowest case density and are not zoonotic. Such priority ranks could later be modified or expanded when additional information becomes available. For example, earlier cases could receive the first priority to be intervened when they also display the shortest inter-case distance along actual road networks (30).



FIGURE 3



The second potential intervention refers to migrant shepherds. Because their cases are consistently reported, every year, at the same places, it appears that some behaviors are repeated over time, which occur at specific places where interventions are likely to be beneficial. Because available information suggests there may be inadequate brucellosis-related, educational campaigns in the Tusheti and Kakheti regions (22), future investigations may focus on sociologicaleducational variables at specific geographical areas, such as associations between educational packages received on the role of uncooked meat and/or unpasteurized milk consumption and disease occurrence (31).

Third, findings may support new studies that seek to identify covariates associated with zoonotic sites. To that end, inverseproblem methods could be considered. Such approaches start with a known solution and then attempt to identify the predictors (32). Inverse-problem approaches have been proposed for epidemiological studies (33). In this case, the precise geo-referenced location of 'zoonotic sites' (a site that may be associated with a rather unique combination of factors) could be the starting point for such inquiries.

Furthermore, future studies based on these or similar geo-referenced procedures could explore alternative methods that may estimate the costs induced by bacterial zoonoses and the potential benefits of preventive campaigns. While similar studies have been conducted for viral zoonoses (1), no cost–benefit estimates on bacterial zoonoses-related decision-making have been emphasized. One exception in this area refers to Mongolia, where a 3.2 benefit/cost ratio has been reported (34). Future studies on cost effectiveness may also consider pastoralist practices (35).

Last, but not least, the development of new educational programs is recommended. It is suggested that, to generate and validate new tools that integrate three fields (epidemiology, geographical data analysis and decision-making), the academic creation of such an interdisciplinary field is required.

5 Conclusion

It is suggested that the geo-temporal analysis of brucellosis may be instrumental to investigate and teach how zoonoses emerge and disseminate. Methods similar to the one reported may be considered in the design of geographical site-specific, time-sensitive, costeffective interventions.



FIGURE 4

Brucellosis cases reported in humans, in 2015–2018. (A) Cases reported in 2015. (B) Cases reported in 2016. (C) Cases reported in 2017. (D) Cases reported in 2018.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

AR: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft. SS: Formal analysis, Visualization, Writing – review & editing. VB: Data curation, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. TCha: Data curation, Writing – review & editing. LM: Data curation, Project administration, Writing – review & editing. IB: Data curation, Writing – review & editing. TChi: Data curation, Writing – review & editing. NS: Data curation, Writing – review & editing. NB: Data curation, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. AH: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. KG: Data curation, Writing – review & editing. JB: Data curation, Writing – original draft. JF: Writing – review & editing. CW: Project administration, Writing – review & editing. PI: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. MK: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Writing – original draft.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The development of this study was made possible by the partial support and funding provided by the U.S. Defense Threat Reduction Agency (DTRA) through the Biological Threat Reduction Program in Georgia. The findings, opinions, and views expressed herein belong to the authors and do not reflect an official position of the DTRA or any other organization listed. The funder was not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article, or the decision to submit it for publication.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Rusudan Chlikadze and Mariam Broladze from, the epidemiologists from the National Center for Disease Control and Public Health for gathering data from EIDSS system; Zviadi Asanishvili, the head of the Animals Registration and Identification Division of National Food Agency for his contribution; and Zaza Gulashvili, the PhD student of the Vakhushti Bagrationi Institute of Geography of Tbilisi State University for help with filtering to extract georeferenced records (records with latitude, longitude, and date). We also appreciate the comments expressed by Folorunso O. Fasina from the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.

Conflict of interest

MK was employed by KB One Health LLC.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewers SR and AS declared a shared affiliation with the authors KG, JB, CW to the handling editor at the time of review.

References

1. Bernstein AS, Ando AW, Loch-Temzelides T, Vale MM, Li BV, Li H, et al. The costs and benefits of primary prevention of zoonotic pandemics. *Sci Adv.* (2022) 8:eabl4183. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.abl4183

2. Mtui-Malamsha N, Sallu R, Mahiti GR, Mohamed H, OleNeselle M, Rubegwa B, et al. Ecological and epidemiological findings associated with zoonotic rabies outbreaks and control in Moshi, Tanzania, 2017–2018. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health.* (2019) 16:2816. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16162816

3. Jung S, Moon J, Hwang E. Cluster-based analysis of infectious disease occurrences using tensor decomposition: a case study of South Korea. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:4872. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17134872

4. De Souza D. Evidence-based approach to decision making: the inclusion of GIS as part of Ghana's health information systems. *Ghana Med J.* (2009) 43:1–6.

5. Rivas AL, Leitner G, Jankowski MD, Hoogesteijn AL, Iandiorio MJ, Chatzipanagiotou S, et al. Nature and consequences of biological reductionism for the immunological study of infectious diseases. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:612. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00612

6. Hoogesteyn AL, Rivas AL, Smith SD, Fasina FO, Fair JM, Kosoy M. Assessing complexity and dynamics in epidemics: geographical barriers and facilitators of foot and-mouth disease dissemination. *Front. Vet. Sci.* (2023) 10:1149460. doi: 10.3389/ fvets.2023.1149460

7. Morgan O. How decision makers can use quantitative approaches to guide outbreak responses. *Philos Trans R Soc B*. (2019) 374:20180365. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2018.0365

 Rivas AL, van Regenmortel MHV. COVID-19 related interdisciplinary methods: preventing errors and detecting research opportunities. *Methods*. (2021) 195:3–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ymeth.2021.05.014

9. Drake TL, Devine A, Yeung S, Day NP, White LJ, Lubell Y. Dynamic transmission economic evaluation of infectious disease interventions in low-and middle-income countries: a systematic literature review. *Health Econ.* (2016) 25:124–39. doi: 10.1002/ hec.3303

10. Yasobant S, Vora KS, Upadhyay A. Geographic information system applications in public health: advancing health research In: P Manolitzas, E Grigoroudis, N Matsatsinis and D Yannacopoulos, editors. *Effective methods for modern healthcare service quality and evaluation*. USA: IGI Global (2019). 137–66.

11. Xu L, Deng Y. Spatiotemporal pattern evolution and driving factors of brucellosis in China, 2003-2019. *IJERPH*. (2022) 19:10082. doi: 10.3390/ijerph191610082

12. Yang H, Zhang S, Wang T, Zhao C, Zhang X, Hu J, et al. Epidemiological characteristics and spatiotemporal trend analysis of human brucellosis in China, 1950–2018. *IJERPH*. (2020) 17:2382. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17072382

13. Shirzadi MR, Mohammadi P, Moradi G, Goodarzi E, Khazaei S, Moayed L, et al. The incidence and geographical distribution of brucellosis in Iran using geographic information system and prediction of its incidence in 2021. *JPMH*. (2021) 62:E635–4. doi: 10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2021.62.3.1699

14. Cook TD, Campbell DT. Quasi-experimentation: Design and analysis issues for field settings. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin (1979).

15. Rivas AL, Hoogesteijn AL. Biologically grounded scientific methods: the challenges ahead for combating epidemics. *Methods*. (2021) 195:113–9. doi: 10.1016/j. ymeth.2021.09.001

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets.2023.1270505/ full#supplementary-material

16. Ramspek CL, Jager KJ, Dekker FW, Zoccali C, van Diepen M. External validation of prognostic models: what, why, how, when and where? *Clin Kidney J.* (2020) 14:49–58. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfaa188

17. Naha D, Sathyakumar S, Dash S, Chettri A, Rawat GS. Assessment and prediction of spatial patterns of human-elephant conflicts in changing land cover scenarios of a human dominated landscape in North Bengal. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0210580. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210580

18. Ortiz-Pelaez A, Pfeiffer DU, Soares-Magalhães RJ, Guitian FJ. Use of social network analysis to characterize the pattern of animal movements in the initial phases of the 2001 foot and mouth disease (FMD) epidemic in the UK. *Prev Vet Med.* (2006) 76:40–55. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2006.04.007

19. Du M, Wu F. Grid-based clustering using boundary detection. *Entropy*. (2022) 24:1606. doi: 10.3390/e24111606

20. Rossi F, Becker G. Creating Forest management units with hot spot analysis (Getis-Ord Gi*) over a forest affected by mixed-severity fires. *Aust For*. (2019) 82:166–75. doi: 10.1080/00049158.2019.1678714

21. Chowell G, Rivas AL, Hengartner NW, Hyman JM, Castillo-Chavez C. The role of spatial mixing in the spread of foot-and-mouth disease. *Prev Vet Med.* (2006) 73:297–314. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2005.10.002

22. Akhvlediani T, Bautista CT, Garuchava N, Sanodze L, Kokaia N, Malania L, et al. Epidemiological and clinical features of brucellosis in the country of Georgia. *PLoS One.* (2017) 12:e0170376. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170376

23. Zhou K, Wu B, Pan H, Paudyal N, Jiang J, Zhang L, et al. One health approach to address zoonotic brucellosis: a spatiotemporal associations study between animals and humans. *Front Vet Sci.* (2020) 7:521. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00521

24. Pereira CR, Cotrim de Almeida JVF, Cardoso de Oliveira IR, Faria de Oliveira I., Pereira LJ, Zangerônimo MG, et al. Occupational exposure to Brucella spp.: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2020) 14:e0008164. doi: 10.1371/journal. pntd.0008164

25. Chakraborty S, Andrade FCD, Smith RL. An interdisciplinary approach to one health: course design, development, and delivery. *J Vet Med Educ.* (2022) 49:e20210021–574. doi: 10.3138/jvme-2021-0021

26. Pearlstein KA, Basak R, Chen RC. Comparative effectiveness of prostate Cancer treatment options: limitations of retrospective analysis of Cancer registry data. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* (2019) 103:1053–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2018.08.001

27. Havas KA, Boone RB, Hill AE, Salman MD. A brucellosis disease control strategy for the Kakheti region of the country of Georgia: an agent-based model. *Zoonoses Public Health*. (2014) 61:260–70. doi: 10.1111/zph.12066

28. Mamisashvili E, Kracalik IT, Onashvili T, Kerdzevadze L, Goginashvili K, Tigilauri T, et al. Seroprevalence of brucellosis in livestock within three endemic regions of the country of Georgia. *Prev Vet Med.* (2013) 110:554–7. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2012.12.005

29. Rivas AL, Fasina FO, Hammond JM, Smith SD, Hoogesteijn AL, Febles JL, et al. Epidemic protection zones: centred on cases or based on connectivity? *Transb Emerg Dis.* (2012) 59:464–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1865-1682.2011.01301.x

30. Rivas AL, Fasina FO, Hoogesteyn AL, Konah SN, Febles JL, Perkins DJ, et al. Connecting network properties of rapidly disseminating epizoonotics. *PLoS One*. (2012) 7:e39778. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0039778

31. Fagnani R, Nero L, Rosolem C. Why knowledge is the best way to reduce the risks associated with raw milk and raw milk products. *J Dairy Res.* (2021) 88:238–43. doi: 10.1017/S002202992100039X

32. Van Regenmortel MHV. Development of a preventive HIV vaccine requires solving inverse problems which is unattainable by rational vaccine design. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 8:2009. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.02009

33. Coronel A, Friz L, Hess I, Zegarra M. On the existence and uniqueness of an inverse problem in epidemiology. *Appl Anal.* (2021) 100:513–26. doi: 10.1080/000 36811.2019.1608964

34. Narrod C, Zinsstag J, Tiongco M. A one health framework for estimating the economic costs of zoonotic diseases on society. *EcoHealth*. (2012) 9:150–62. doi: 10.1007/s10393-012-0747-9

35. Zinsstag J, Abakar MF, Ibrahim M, Tschopp R, Crump L, Bonfoh B, et al. Costeffective control strategies for animal and zoonotic diseases in pastoralist populations. *Rev Sci Tech*. (2016) 35:673–81. doi: 10.20506/rst.35.2.2548

Frontiers in **Veterinary Science**

Transforms how we investigate and improve animal health

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Contact us

frontiers

Frontiers in **Veterinary Science**



